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THE GOVERNMENT MINUTE IN RESPONSE TO
THE ANNUAL REPORT OF
THE OMBUDSMAN 2017

Introduction

The Chief Secretary for Administration presented the Annual
Report of The Ombudsman 2017 (the Annual Report) to the Legislative
Council at its sitting on 5 July 2017. This Government Minute sets out
the Government’s response to the Annual Report. It comprises three
parts — Part | responds generally to issues presented in the section The
Ombudsman’s Review of the Annual Report; Parts Il and Il respond
specifically to the recommendations made by The Ombudsman in respect
of the full investigation and direct investigation cases in the Annual
Report.



Part |
— Responses to Issues presented in the section
The Ombudsman’s Review of the Annual Report

The Government takes note of The Ombudsman’s remarks and
appreciates The Ombudsman’s continuous efforts in raising the quality of
service and standard of governance in the public sector. We welcome
the recommendations made by The Ombudsman for raising the efficiency
and quality of public services.

2. The Ombudsman summarised 11 direct investigation and 218
full investigation cases in the Annual Report. This Minute responds to
the 11 direct investigation and 95 full investigation cases in which
recommendations were made by The Ombudsman. The vast majority of
the 254 recommendations made by The Ombudsman were accepted by
the government departments and public bodies concerned, and they have
taken or are taking various measures to implement those
recommendations. The Government will continue to strive for quality
public services in a positive, professional and proactive manner.

3. In The Ombudsman’s Review of the Annual Report, The
Ombudsman referred to occasional queries raised by members of public
as to the effectiveness of her Office (the Office) in enhancing public
administration.  The power of the Office lies in investigation,
reporting against maladministration and making recommendations for
improvement. Government departments are receptive to the Office’s
advice, as evident from the acceptance rate of the recommendations
made by the Office over the years. The Government appreciates the
diligence and dedication of the Office in its role as an independent
watchdog of public administration, and will continue to collaborate
with the Office in tackling both persistent problems and new
challenges.

4. The Ombudsman also reiterated her concern about the
progress in implementing her Office’s recommendations on improving
the freedom of access to information and public records management
regime in Hong Kong. The Government has seen a significant
increase in the number of requests for access to information in recent
years. Reaffirming our commitment to complying with the Code on
Access to Information, the Government has taken measures to promote
public awareness and step up relevant training for public officers. The
Government also places great importance on the integrity of
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Government records. The Law Reform Commission has set up
sub-committees to study the issues of access to information and
archives law, including possible enactment of relevant legislation. The
Government  will carefully examine and follow up any
recommendations from the Commission.

5. As The Ombudsman has been pleased to note, the
Government has agreed to introduce an apology legislation. The
Apology Ordinance (Cap. 631) was passed by the Legislative Council
on 13 July 2017 and has entered into effect on 1 December 2017. This
encouraging development reflects the effectiveness of the Office as a
catalyst for change, as well as the receptiveness of the Government to
recommendations from the Office. Government departments will
continue to be forthcoming in extending apologies where due.



Part 11
— Responses to recommendations in full investigation cases

Architectural Services Department,
Government Secretariat — Chief Secretary for Administration’s
Office (Efficiency Unit)
and Leisure and Cultural Services Department

Case No. 2016/1771A(1) (Leisure and Cultural Services Department)
— Refusing to admit its fault of installing three removable bollards on
an emergency vehicular access and failing to comply with the
timeframe as set out in the Code on Access to Information in replying
to the complainant’s information requests and requests for review

Case No. 2016/1771B (Architectural Services Department) — Wrongly
installing three removable bollards on an emergency vehicular access

Case No. 2016/1771C(l) (Government Secretariat — Chief Secretary
for Administration’s Office (Efficiency Unit)) — Failing to comply
with the timeframe as set out in the Code on Access to Information
when replying to the complainant’s information requests

Background

6. The complainant was a user of a park (the Park) managed by
Leisure and Cultural Services Department (LCSD). He suspected that a
path near a new building in the Park (the Path) was part of an emergency
vehicular access (EVA) of the Park leading to the soccer pitch and was
worried that the removable bollards installed there would adversely affect
the provision of emergency services to users of the soccer pitch. The
complainant was dissatisfied with LCSD for —

(@) refusing to admit its fault of installing three removable bollards
on an emergency vehicular access in the Park;

(b) failing to comply with the response time frame set out in the
Code on Access to Information (the Code) when replying to his
information access requests; and



(c) delay in replying to his requests for review of his complaint
about non-compliance of the Code without reasonable ground.

7. With the consent of the complainant, the Office of The
Ombudsman (the Office) extended its investigation to include the
Architectural Services Department (ArchSD) under allegation (a) and
1823 Call Centre (1823) of the Efficiency Unit (EU) under allegation (c).

The Ombudsman’s observations
Allegation (a)

8. The Office appreciated that park management of LCSD had not
been informed of the change of the EVA and it was not unreasonable for
park management to rely on ArchSD for the technical propriety of the
proposed works. Nevertheless, as the need to install the bollards arose
from the users of the cultural facilities nearby, it would be desirable for
the park management to have first communicated with the LCSD Cultural
Services Branch before conducting the proposed works. The Ombudsman
considered allegation (a) against LCSD partially substantiated.

9. ArchSD, being the works and maintenance agent of the Park,
was responsible for updating the EVA layout signage of the Park when
alteration works to the Park affecting the existing EVAs were carried out.
The EVA signage erected at the Path was installed during the
construction of the new building, which was designed and supervised by
a consultant employed by ArchSD. However, a small section of the
EVA covering the Path was missed out on the EVA signage. Based on
the incomplete information shown on the EVA signage and without
checking the EVA layout plans approved by the Fire Services Department,
ArchSD confirmed to LCSD that the Path was not part of an EVA of the
Park and proceeded with the installation works.

10. The Office noted that ArchSD had acknowledged that the
installation of the three bollards at the location at issue was wrong.
ArchSD had clearly failed to ensure the accuracy of the EVA signage in
the Park and its staff failed to check proper records of the Park before
proceeding with the installation works. Therefore, The Ombudsman
considered allegation (a) against ArchSD substantiated.



Allegation (b)

11. The complainant wrote to LCSD via enquiries@lcsd.gov.hk
(managed by 1823) on 19 February 2016, expressing his concern over the
blockage of the Path and requesting LCSD to provide information about
the procedures of approving the installation of the three bollards and the
cost of the works (first information request). On 16 and 17 March, the
complainant wrote to LCSD again, alleging that LCSD failed to accede to
his first information request within the target response time set out in the
Code, and requested LCSD to review his case (first request for review).

12. On 17 March, LCSD replied to the complainant’s first
information request via 1823, explaining that it had consulted ArchSD on
the installation of the bollards and confirmed that the Path was not an
EVA of the Park. It also provided the cost of the works to the
complainant as requested. On 19 March, the complainant made
follow-up enquiries with LCSD about the bollards and requested it to
provide the EVA layout plan of the Park (second information request)

13. On 20 March, LCSD replied to the complainant’s first request for
review, explaining that it had adhered to the time frame specified in the
departmental guidelines and 1823’s guideline for handling complaints.
The complainant, however, considered that his case should be handled in
accordance with the Code as he had stated “request for access to
information” ( “ZESK/ANFHERL ) in the subject heading of his email
dated 19 February 2016. He reverted to LCSD on the same day
requesting that his case be reviewed by the Access to Information Officer
(Al officer) of the Department (second request for review).

14. On 18 April, LCSD replied to the complainant’s second
information request via 1823, informing the complainant that after further
verification with ArchSD, it now confirmed that the Path had been
designated as part of the EVA of the Park since the completion of the
New Wing and that ArchSD had removed the bollards and replaced the
obsolete EVA signage on the site. LCSD also provided the EVA layout
plan to the complainant as requested. In passing LCSD’s reply to the
complainant, 1823 forgot to attach the EVA layout plan, which was only
provided to the complainant on 19 April 2016. For this omission, 1823
apologised to the complainant.



15. The Office considered that LCSD staff were duty bound to
scrutinise cases received carefully and, if necessary, consult each other to
coordinate an appropriate and timely reply to the complainant. Allegation
(b) against LCSD was substantiated.

16. As for 1823, the Office was surprised to learn that 1823 did not
consider the complainant to have “invoked the Code” when he clearly
put “request for access to information” in the subject heading of his
email of February 2016. 1823 was wrong to refer the complainant’s
request it to LCSD as a normal complaint rather than a request for
information. In fact, the Guidelines on Interpretation and Application of
the Code provide that Code and non-Code requests for information
should be handled on the same basis. All cases requesting access to
information should be handled in accordance with the requirements set
out in the Code, irrespective of whether the Code is expressly cited.

17, In addition, 1823 forgot to attach the EVA layout plan of the Park
when relaying LCSD’s reply to the complainant, causing further delay in
fulfilling the complainant’s information request. The Ombudsman
considered allegation (b) against 1823 substantiated.

Allegation (c)

18. The Ombudsman considered allegation (c) against LCSD
substantiated as LCSD failed to process the complainant’s second request
for review in accordance with the Code due to oversight.

Conclusion and recommendation

19. The Ombudsman considered the complaint against LCSD,
ArchSD and 1823 substantiated, and recommended —

LCSD

(@) to conduct staff training to enhance its staff’s awareness and
understanding on the requirements of the Code in handling
information requests.  Particularly, for complaints/enquiries
which contain requests for information, LCSD should provide
clear guidance to its staff to ensure that such cases are processed
in accordance with the time frame stipulated in the Code;



(b) to remind frontline staff of the importance of internal
coordination and communication in handling matters and works
projects involving multi-divisions;

(c) to remind its staff to adopt a more positive attitude in tendering
apologies for mistakes made.

ArchSD

(@) to implement measures to ensure that works staff will check
proper records before proceeding with works projects, including
conducting staff training to share the experience learnt in this
case and issuing internal guidelines if necessary;

(b) to review and where appropriate enhance the internal guidelines
for monitoring the performance of the consultants employed by
the Department to ensure that all components of a works project
are fully and correctly completed.

1823

(@) to conduct staff training to enhance staff’s awareness and
understanding of the requirement of the Code; and

(b) to review the assignment rules with LCSD and other client
departments as appropriate on the referral arrangement relating
to Code and non-Code requests for access to information.

Government’s response

20. LCSD, ArchSD and EU accepted all of The Ombudsman’s
recommendations.

LCSD

21. For recommendation (a), LCSD has been organising briefing
sessions on the Code on a regular basis for all staff to enhance their
awareness and understanding of the requirement of the Code in handling
information requests. In addition, the new recruits have been given
briefing on the Code during the induction courses. The subject officer
has been instructed to be familiarised with the operation of the 1823 Case
Management System and to go through all relevant information of 1823
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when handling cases in order to promptly report to Access to Information
Officer. In parallel, LCSD continues to circulate on a half-yearly basis
the Circular on Code on Access to Information, including the procedures
for dealing with requests not made under the Code and to remind
colleagues of the requirements of the Code.

22, For recommendation (b), regular meetings between District
Leisure Services Office and the concerned management office of cultural
facilities would be held on a half-yearly basis to improve internal
coordination and communication to discuss common matters in relation
to the management of the park and cultural facilities.

23. For recommendation (c), LCSD has reminded staff to adopt a
positive attitude in tendering apologies for mistakes made. Letters of
apology were issued to the complainant on 17 May 2016 and 14
December 2016 respectively.

ArchSD

24, For recommendation (d), the lesson learnt from this case was
shared with staff of ArchSD and uploaded to the ArchSD’s Intranet and
Knowledge Management Website for reference by staff. Moreover, the
checking of EVA signage was included as one of the items under the
Guidance Notes for Site Supervision on Statutory Compliance in Relation
to Means of Escape, Means of Access and Fire Resisting Construction.

25. For recommendation (e), a warning letter was issued to the
consultant concerned and the irregularity had been reflected in the
consultant’s performance report. Moreover, an email was issued to all
professional staff in ArchSD, reminding them to learn from this case,
strengthen the monitoring of consultants’ performance and draw
consultants’ attention to requirements in relevant government circulars.

EU

26. For recommendation (f), 1823 has conducted training for all
serving staff to enhance their awareness and understanding of the
requirements of the Code. Similar training has also been provided to the
new recruits in the induction training. Regular refresher training has
been arranged every two months so as to enhance the staff’s familiarity
with the procedure of handling cases relating to the Code.



217, For recommendation (g), 1823 has reviewed the assignment rules
with LCSD and the other 21 participating departments about the handling
of requests for information. Under the revised assignment rules, a new
subject matter was created on 1 December 2016 with new keywords to
guide frontline staff to classify requests for access to information and
refer them directly to the departmental Access to Information Officers for
follow up. 1823 will continue to work closely with the participating
departments with a view to enhancing the relevant guidelines.

10



Buildings Department

Case No. 2016/0425 — Failing to take enforcement action against
unauthorised flat roof structures

Background

28. According to the Owners’ Corporation (the OC) of a building
(Building A), there were unauthorised building works (UBW) items on
the flat roof of a flat in Building A (the Structure). In July 2012, the
Buildings Department (BD) issued a statutory order (the Order), requiring
the owner of the Structure (Mr A) to remove the UBW items. However,
the Structure remained. BD issued a warning letter to Mr A in February
2013, urging him to comply with the Order or face prosecution.

29. In April 2013, BD issued a Building Inspection Notice (BIN) to
the OC, requiring that inspection and repairs to the common parts of the
building be completed before a specified date. However, the existence
of the UBW items made it difficult to replace the drainage pipes of the
building and carry out waterproofing works on the flat roof.

30. Mr A had expressed to BD that the five tenants living in the
Structure were either financially stricken or in poor health thus unable to
move out within a short time. He asked for extension of the deadline for
removal and requested social worker service. From November 2013, a
social worker contacted Mr A several times. Mr A promised that he
would demolish the Structure, but never took any real action. In
mid-March 2015, the social worker closed Mr A’s case.

31. BD twice prosecuted Mr A in May 2015 and April 2016. He
was convicted and fined by the court. In July 2016, the Structure was
removed.

32. The OC lodged a complaint with the Office of The Ombudsman
(the Office) in February 2016, alleging that BD was slow in taking
enforcement action against UBW items such that the OC was unable to
comply with the BIN.

11



The Ombudsman’s observations

33. BD explained that the removal deadline specified in the Order
was mid-August 2012. Since the Structure posed no obvious danger,
BD followed its order of priority and issued a warning letter only in
February 2013. Also, while the social worker was following up on the
case, BD would not institute prosecution against Mr A.

34, BD’s social worker had visited the tenants of the Structure in
order to understand their hardships and offer help. He recalled that the
tenants had been hostile and even threatened to call the police to report
being harassed. So, the social worker failed to persuade them to move
out. BD continuously reviewed case progress with the social worker.

35. The Office noted that BD issued a warning letter to Mr A more
than six months after the removal deadline specified in the 2012 Order
had expired and found such delay unreasonable and detrimental to BD’s
authority.

36. The Office considered the so-called follow-up action taken by
the social worker no more than endless contact with Mr A. Little
progress had been achieved on the case. If the tenants were hostile and
refused help, as the social worker so recalled, it would simply be asking
for the impossible to expect that the social worker could convince Mr A
to ask those tenants to move out.  Such efforts were destined to fail.

37. As BD had already issued an Order against the Structure, BD
should have taken vigorous enforcement action to facilitate the OC’s
early completion of the inspection and repairs works for Building A.
The Office considered that to be a legitimate expectation of the OC and
BD had failed to take decisive enforcement action, causing hindrance to
the OC’s compliance with the BIN. BD’s inaction was indeed improper.

38. The Ombudsman considered the OC’s complaint against BD
substantiated, and urged BD to —

(@) take reference from this case and take prompt and rigorous
prosecution action upon non-compliance with an order; and

(b) review the way its social workers follow up on cases such that
owners of unauthorised structures could find no excuse to delay
their removal.

12



Government’s response

39.

BD accepted The Ombudsman’s recommendations and has taken

the following actions —

(@)

(b)

the prosecution procedures with regard to non-compliance with
removal orders have been reviewed and streamlined to enable
more effective use of resources. In addition, the annual target
for instigating prosecution action against non-compliance with
removal orders has been updated based on the manpower and
resource situation. Such annual target has been increased from
3,000 in 2015 to 3,300 in 2016; and

BD has reminded its staff to maintain close liaison with the
social workers and to closely monitor the progress of cases, as
well as to regularly review the effectiveness of the social
workers with a view to directly engaging with owners in a timely
manner and taking enforcement actions as needed. If any sign
of deliberate delay in compliance with the removal order by the
concerned party is identified, prompt enforcement action will be
taken.

13



Buildings Department

Case No. 2016/1360 — Failing to register at the Land Registry a
removal order issued in 2009

Background

40. The complainant had in August 2015 purchased a residential flat
(the Flat). Before completing the transaction, the complainant’s
solicitors had searched the land registers of the Land Registry (LR) twice
and found no registered removal order issued by BD against unauthorised
building works (UBW) items at the Flat. However, after becoming the
new owner of the Flat, the complainant received an order from BD in
November 2015 (the 2015 Order) requiring her to demolish a UBW item
projecting from the external wall of the Flat (the UBW item). It was
stated in the 2015 Order that a removal order had already been issued to
the Flat’s former owner in March 2009 (the 2009 Order).

41. The complainant lodged a complaint with the Office of The
Ombudsman (the Office) against BD for failing to register the 2009 Order
at LR during the past six years, as a result of which she had purchased the
Flat without knowing the existence of the UBW item and the
responsibility for removing the UBW item had become hers.

The Ombudsman’s observations

42. BD explained that it had issued removal orders in 2009 to a
number of property owners of the building concerned, which had been
selected as a target building for the Department’s “Blitz UBW Clearance”
operation. According to BD’s enforcement guidelines at that time (the
Old Guidelines), removal orders issued under “Blitz UBW Clearance”
operations did not required immediate registration at LR, as experience
had shown that most property owners would comply with removal orders
before the deadline. In order to minimise inconvenience to property
owners and to save registration costs, BD would only register those
outstanding orders after several months of non-compliance.

14



43. Moreover, the former owner of the Flat had lodged an appeal
against the 2009 Order. Under the Buildings Ordinance (BO), BD
should not enforce a removal order when an appeal was under way. Thus
BD did not send the 2009 Order to LR for registration.

44, BD argued that it is prospective buyers’ responsibility to take
measures, such as inspecting the property by themselves or professionals,
to ascertain whether there is any UBW item in the property. BD would
provide prospective buyers with the information if they enquire of BD
about any outstanding orders, or whether there is any order pending issue.

45. BD amended its enforcement policy in April 2011, stipulating
that all removal orders issued under “Blitz UBW Clearance” operations
must be promptly sent to LR for registration.

46. The Office was of the view that BD’s practice of deferring
registration of removal orders defeated the original purpose of registering
an order, which is to impose an encumbrance on the property concerned,
urge the owner to demolish the UBW item voluntarily and protect the
interests of prospective buyers and mortgage institutions by notifying
them of any removal order (and any UBW item) when they conduct a
search of the land registers. The Office found it inconceivable that BD
should defer registration of removal orders for the sake of administrative
convenience and cost saving. It prejudiced the right to information of
prospective buyers and mortgage institutions, and indirectly favoured the
former owners who sold their properties despite the existence of UBW
items. In fact, any so-called “inconvenience” to the owners would
disappear once they had followed the removal orders.

47. Moreover, most people would not know that BD might follow
the Old Guidelines and defer the registration of some statutory orders.
The Office acknowledged that prospective buyers have a responsibility to
ascertain whether there is any UBW item in the property they intend to
purchase and that there was a reminder on BD’s website alerting the
public that they should search the records at LR or write to BD to enquire.
Nevertheless, the public would not know that making a land search was
actually insufficient to safeguard the interests of prospective buyers and
that they must at the same time make an enquiry of BD. The
Department’s practice of deferring registration of removal orders had
undermined the confidence of prospective buyers in LR as a source for
verifying the status of a property before completing a transaction.

15



48. Furthermore, the BO only stipulates that BD should not enforce a
statutory order until an appeal is disposed of. Registering a statutory
order is different from taking enforcement action. A statutory order
remains valid until the appeal is successful. BD should discharge its
duty owed to the public by promptly registering a statutory order. At the
end of the day, if an appeal proves to be successful, all BD has to do is to
cancel the registration. The Office found it extremely improper of BD
not to have registered the 2009 Order at LR.

49, The Ombudsman considered the complaint against BD
substantiated, and recommended BD to —

(a) amend its website information as soon as possible to alert the
public that some of the removal orders have not been registered
at LR, and to bring the amendments to the attention of the Law
Society of Hong Kong, the Estate Agents Authority and other
institutions or organisations engaging in property transactions;
and

(b) conscientiously implement the improvement measure by
registering the outstanding removal orders at LR when following
up on cases of non-compliance with the orders.

Government’s response

50. BD accepted The Ombudsman’s recommendations and has taken
the following actions —

(@) BD has amended its website information to remind the public
that some of the removal orders issued by BD have not been
registered at LR. The prospective purchasers should thus take
measures to ensure that there is no unauthorised building works
in the property they intend to purchase. BD also informed the
Law Society of Hong Kong and the Estate Agents Authority of
such amendment; and

(b) BD will arrange registration of the outstanding removal orders at

LR when following up on cases of non-compliant orders and has
updated the relevant internal instruction.

16



Buildings Department

Case No. 2016/3036 — Delay in taking enforcement action against
unauthorised building works at a building

Background

51. According to the complainant, the building in which she was
residing (Building A) was selected as a target building under the “Large
Scale Operations” against unauthorised building works (UBW) about
three to four years ago. Statutory orders were issued by Buildings
Department (BD) to the owners (including the complainant) of Building
A for removal of UBW in their flats. Except for the owner of a flat (Flat
A), the complainant and other owners had complied with the removal
orders. The complainant reported the outstanding UBW on the flat roof
of Flat A (the UBW item) to BD on 5 August 2016. BD responded that
prosecution against the owner of Flat A would be instigated. On 10
August 2016, the complainant lodged a complaint to the Office of The
Ombudsman (the Office) criticising BD for the delay in taking
enforcement action against the UBW item, which was unfair to owners
who had complied with the removal orders.

The Ombudsman’s observation

52. BD had duly taken enforcement actions against the UBW item
from April 2012 to March 2015. However, no further action was taken
by BD after summons served on the owner of Flat A were withdrawn in
March 2015 due to unsuccessful delivery of the summons. Only until
the complainant lodged a complaint against the UBW item to BD in
August 2016 did BD resumed follow-up actions. Prosecution against
the owner of Flat A was instigated again, and a letter was issued to the
owner of Flat A advising him that BD would have its contractor remove
the UBW item on his behalf and recover the costs from him afterwards on
4 November 2016. The Office considered BD’s progress in handling the
complaint slow as 17 months had elapsed.

53. The Office did not dispute the heavy workload and manpower
shortage of BD yet considered BD should to a certain extent bear the
responsibility for the delay.

17



54. The Ombudsman considered the complainant’s complaint
partially substantiated and urged BD to closely monitor the progress and
the decision of the court proceedings and to actively follow up the
enforcement action of the removal order.

Government’s response

55. BD accepted The Ombudsman’s recommendation and has
reminded relevant staff members accordingly. Prosecution action is in
active progress. BD would continue to closely monitor the progress of
the court proceedings and would in parallel arrange government
contractor to remove the UBW item as works in default and recover the
cost with surcharge from the owner concerned.

18



Buildings Department

Case No. 2016/3949 — Unreasonably stopping a prescribed registered
contractor from removing a signboard

Background

56. In August 2016, the Buildings Department (BD) posted a
removal notice at a conspicuous part of a building (Building A) requiring
the owner or the agent of a signboard found thereat (the Signboard) to
remove the Signboard within 14 days. In September 2016, the
complainant called BD staff indicating he was a relative of the deceased
signboard owner and was willing to remove the Signboard. BD staff
advised him to appoint a registered contractor under the Minor Works
Control System to carry out the removal works.

57. Subsequently, BD received a Notice of Commencement of Class
| Minor Works (Form MWO01) from the complainant’s appointed
registered contractor (Contractor A) advising that the signboard removal
works would commence in October 2016. BD acknowledged receipt of
the Form MWO01 on the same day.

58. Contractor A’s attempts to carry out advance signboard removal
works on 30 September and 1 October 2016 were stopped by the
complainant’s sister (Ms A). Between 30 September and 6 October 2016,
BD staff contacted the complainant and Ms A repeatedly.

59. On 12 October 2016, Ms A’s appointed registered contractor
(Contractor B) submitted Form MWO01 to BD and BD acknowledged
receipt of the Form on the same day. On the following day, BD wrote to
both Contractor A and Contractor B requesting a declaration from them
on the responsibility of the removal of the Signboard. While awaiting
their reply, the Signboard had been removed.

60. On 24 October 2016, Contractor B submitted a certificate of
completion of minor works certifying removal of the Signboard.

61. The complainant lodged a complaint with the Office of The
Ombudsman (the Office), accusing BD of thwarting his appointed
contractor from removing the Signboard.

19



The Ombudsman’s observations

62. BD staff attempted to mediate between Ms A and the
complainant as they were siblings and both wanted to remove the
Signboard. The Office considered BD’s good intention to be no cause
for criticism. Moreover, BD staff had repeatedly told the complainant
that BD did not intend to deter the complainant from removing the
signboard. The Office believed that BD staff had no intention to stop
the complainant from removing the Signboard.

63. The Ombudsman considered the complaint against BD
unsubstantiated and advised BD to learn from this case and formulate
guidelines for staff’s reference when handling similar cases.

Government’s response

64. BD accepted The Ombudsman’s recommendation and has
formulated internal instructions accordingly. In general, staff should
consult their supervisors if they are in doubt or encounter difficulties in
handling a case. Supervisors should regularly monitor case progress.
Depending on the complexity and sensitivity of a case, supervisors may
bring the case to the attention of senior management.

65. In addition, BD provides training to staff, including conducting
regular experience sharing sessions. Summaries of lessons learnt from
relevant cases are also uploaded to BD’s Knowledge Hub for reference
when dealing with similar cases.
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Buildings Department
and Food and Environmental Hygiene Department

Case No. 2016/1578A (Food and Environmental Hygiene Department)
— Delay in handling a seepage complaint

Case No. 2016/1578B (Buildings Department) — (1) Delay in handling
a seepage complaint; and (2) inappropriately allowing consultants to
leave the flat suspected to be the source of seepage during inspection

Background

66. In November 2015, the complainant reported water seepage at
the bathroom ceiling of his flat (Flat A) to the Joint Offices for
Investigation of Water Seepage Complaints (JO) set up by the Food and
Environmental Hygiene Department and Buildings Department (BD).

67. After several attempts, staff of JO finally managed to arrange its
consultant to conduct stage Il investigation (i.e. colour water test) at the
drainage outlets of the flat above Flat A (Flat B) on 18 January 2016 and
stage 11l investigation, including colour water ponding test on the floor of
the bathroom and colour water spray test on the wall in vicinity of the
shower, on 25 March 2016. At the request of the occupant of Flat B, the
consultant temporarily left Flat B during the test.

68. On 30 April, the consultant conducted another inspection and
found no test colour water at the seepage area. Further reversible
pressure test on a water supply pipe was considered unnecessary as no
water dripping was envisaged during repeated inspections.

69. JO could not ascertain the source of the water seepage and
temporarily ceased to follow up the case on 27 May 2016.

70. The complainant lodged a complaint with the Office of The
Ombudsman (the Office) accusing JO of —

(@) not taking follow-up actions according to the procedures,
causing delay to the investigation; and

(b) allowing the staff of the consultant to leave Flat B during the
ponding test which might have affected the investigation result.
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The Ombudsman’s observations

71. The Office opined that JO had generally followed the procedures
in handling the complainant’s case. After inspecting Flat A on 28
November 2015, JO tried to contact the occupant of Flat B and left a
“Notice of Appointment” and a “Notice of Intended Entry” with the
occupant of Flat B on 5 and 13 January 2016 respectively. Although the
process was not expeditious, no obvious delay was noted. The
Ombudsman considered allegation (a) unsubstantiated.

72. The Office considered that, in principle, JO and the consultant
were carrying out their statutory duties to investigate suspected water
seepage arising from the subject premises and should stay at the premises
to monitor and ensure the test would not be tampered with. No one
should hinder or obstruct their discharging of duties.

73. The result of the investigation and the test would be used to
ascertain whether a flat has caused water seepage nuisance and to allow
JO to issue the statutory “Nuisance Notice”. If staff of the consultant
left the premises during the test, the test could be tampered with.
Besides, if staff of the consultant did not record the testing conditions
before and after leaving the premises, the test result might be called into
question if it were to be used as evidence for taking enforcement action.

74, Nevertheless, the Office noted that staff of the consultant had
stayed at Flat B for 30 minutes to complete the test after their return.
The Office opined that it was not unreasonable for JO to accept the
investigation result of the consultant in this regard. The Ombudsman
considered that allegation (b) was partially substantiated.

75. The Ombudsman considered the complaint against JO partially
substantiated, and urged JO to remind its officers and the consultant —

(a) toavoid leaving the scene during the test as far as possible; and
(b) in case that it is necessary to leave the scene temporarily, the
conditions before and after leaving should be recorded in detail

by writing or photos in order to provide evidence that the testing
conditions have not been tampered.
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Government’s response

76. Since this is a case on stage 3 investigation of water seepage and
falls squarely under BD’s purview, BD accepted the recommendations
made by The Ombudsman. JO has reminded its officers and issued a
reminder letter dated 27 January 2017 to the consultant, urging them to
avoid leaving the scene during the tests. In case that it is necessary to
leave the scene temporarily, the testing conditions before and after
leaving should be recorded in detail by writing and/or photos in order to
provide evidence to show that the testing conditions have not been
tampered. Also, JO will remind its officers and the consultant of the
above issue during their working meetings.
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Buildings Department
and Food and Environmental Hygiene Department

Case No. 2016/3823A&B - Failing to properly follow up the problems
of water seepage and defective drainage pipe of a flat, and providing
investigation results that contradicted with those from other
departments

Background

77. The complainant’s flat (Flat A) was in a housing estate developed
by the Hong Kong Housing Authority under the Home Ownership
Scheme. The complainant first reported water seepage at the ceiling of
Flat A to the Joint Offices for Investigation of Water Seepage Complaints
(JO) set up by the Food and Environmental Hygiene Department (FEHD)
and the Buildings Department (BD) via the Estate Management Office
(EMO) in December 2012. Staff of JO and its consultant conducted
investigations at Flat A and a number of flats above Flat A but could not
identify the source of water seepage. JO then replied to the complainant
in June 2014 that JO would not take any further action for the time being
per established procedures. Nevertheless, JO had identified after
conducting the reversible pressure test that the common flush water
supply pipe of the building was defective and the case was referred to the
Water Supplies Department (WSD) for follow-up action. However,
WSD subsequently advised that the water seepage was “insignificant”.

78. As water seepage persisted at Flat A, the complainant reported
the case to JO via EMO again in June 2015. After investigations were
conducted by staff of JO and its consultant, JO replied to the complainant
in July 2016 that the floor of the balcony of the flat above Flat A (Flat B)
was found defective and JO would consider issuing a “Nuisance Notice”
(NN) to the owner requiring repair works. In September 2016, JO
advised the complainant in writing that during investigations of other
water seepage reports, the common drainage pipe between the premises
adjacent to Flat A and Flat B was suspected to be defective and the case
was referred to the Independent Checking Unit (ICU) under the Transport
and Housing Bureau for follow-up action. However, ICU subsequently
replied to JO that no defective drainage pipe was observed.
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79. The complainant lodged a complaint with the Office of The
Ombudsman (the Office) against JO, WSD and ICU for not properly
following up the water seepage at Flat A and the problem of defective
common drainage pipe. The complainant also alleged that the
investigation findings of different departments were contradictory.

The Ombudsman’s observations

80. JO had followed up on the water seepage report according to the
established procedures, including conducting all necessary investigations
and tests, and had issued a NN to the owner of the concerned premises.

81. The cause of water seepage is complicated and in order not to
damage private properties, only non-destructive tests (i.e. colour water
test at drainage outlets and on the floor) can be carried out. Given the
limitations of such tests, JO has to take a long time for the investigation
and the source may not be identified ultimately in spite of that.

82. Regarding the suspected defective common drainage pipe,
although there was discrepancy between the testing result of ICU and
JO’s observation, both ICU and JO were exercising their professional
judgement. The Office should not intervene.

83. The Office accepted the explanation of WSD that there was no
evidence showing that the common flush water supply pipe was defective
to an extent that wastage of water supply was involved.

84. The Ombudsman considered this complaint unsubstantiated, but
urged JO to closely follow up the water seepage report of the complainant,
take prompt enforcement action if the source of water seepage is
identified, and advise her of the investigation result as soon as possible.

Government’s response

8b. BD and FEHD accepted The Ombudsman’s recommendation.
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86. JO followed up the seepage complaints lodged by complainants
in accordance with established procedures and guidelines. Having
examined investigation reports submitted by its consultant, JO found that
Flat B had already complied with the NN but the seepage persisted. The
source of water seepage could not be identified after performing various
“non-destructive” tests; JO ceased to follow up on this case. JO notified
the complainant of the investigation result in writing on 26 July 2017.
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Buildings Department and Lands Department

Case No. 2016/1033A (Buildings Department) — Ineffective control
against the unauthorised building works of an industrial building

Case No. 2016/1033B (Lands Department) — Ineffective control
against breach of lease conditions of some units of an industrial
building

Background

87. The complainant had complained to the Buildings Department
(BD) and the Lands Department (LandsD) about irregularities at four
units (the Units) in an industrial building, including removal of fire
resisting walls, unauthorised installation on the external wall of a cooling
tower of an air-conditioning system, and leasing out of the Units for retail
business in violation of the lease conditions. However, BD and LandsD
merely issued removal orders and warning letters to the owners of the
Units to urge for rectification respectively.

88. The complainant lodged a complaint with the Office of The
Ombudsman (the Office) against BD and LandsD for not taking
follow-up actions, thus allowing the irregularities to persist.

Powers and Responsibilities of BD and LandsD

89. BD is empowered, pursuant to the Buildings Ordinance, to take
enforcement actions against unauthorised building works (UBW) items
that pose obvious hazard or imminent danger to life and property. Such
items are categorised as “actionable with high priority”. Enforcement
actions include issuing removal orders and instituting prosecutions.
Lands D is responsible for control actions relating to land lease. It
issues warning letters to those who violate lease conditions. In case of
non-compliance, Lands D will take further actions, which include
registration of its warning letters with the Land Registry (LR), and
re-entry upon the land if the breach of lease condition persists.
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BD

90. BD stated that the industrial building in this case was the target
of a large-scale operation against UBW items. One of the Units
involved unauthorised removal of fire resisting walls, which fell within
the “actionable with high priority” category. Hence, BD issued a
removal order to the owner concerned. When the 60-day timeframe for
rectification specified in the order expired, BD did not take any follow-up
action because further inspections of the whole building by a consultancy
firm had been scheduled for later months. The owner concerned later
submitted a proposal for rectification works, but the information he
provided was insufficient. BD thus issued a warning letter to the owner,
indicating that it would consider prosecution. Finally, BD accepted the
revised proposal for rectification works and issued a consent letter. It
also undertook to closely monitor the progress of the works.

91. Two of the other units were involved in opening up fire resisting
walls and adding protected lobbies. BD confirmed that those works
were carried out pursuant to the simplified requirements under the Minor
Works Control System and were not UBW items. As regards the bracket
installed on the external wall of a unit for supporting a cooling tower, BD
noted that the bracket fell within the “actionable with high priority”
category. BD had issued an advisory letter, a warning letter, and
eventually a removal order to the owner concerned, and subsequently
Initiated prosecution procedures.

92. Although BD had followed its established enforcement policy
and issued removal orders against those UBW items which belonged to
the “actionable with high priority” category, it had failed to follow up in a
timely manner on the removal orders after the expiry of such orders.
That not only took away the meaning of the timeframe for rectification
specified in the orders, but also undermined BD’s authority. The Office
considered that even if BD could not immediately compel the owners to
make rectification, it should have conducted regular inspections to
monitor the situation.

LandsD

93. LandsD stated that Short Term Waivers had been granted to the

Units for changing their use of “Factory” as originally set out in the lease

to “Showroom” or “Canteen”. LandsD had separately received reports

about unauthorized retail activities being carried out in two of the Units

whose permitted uses were “Showroom”. During site inspections,
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LandsD confirmed that there were irregularities at one of those units and
so issued warning letters to the owner concerned, urging for rectification.
In subsequent inspections, LandsD did not find any irregularity. Hence,
LandsD took no further action. As regards the other unit, no irregularity
was found during Lands D’s inspections.

94, After the Office’s intervention, LandsD found irregularities at
those two units during inspections and issued warning letters.  Since the
owners concerned still did not make rectification, LandsD proceeded to
register the warning letters with LR. LandsD admitted that it could have
Issued a warning letter much earlier to the owner of one of those units.

95. Unauthorised retail activities had also been found at another unit
whose permitted use had been allowed to change to “Showroom”.
However, the owner concerned moved out soon after LandsD had issued
a warning letter. Hence, LandsD ceased its enforcement action. As
regards the unit whose permitted use was allowed to change to “Canteen”,
LandsD conducted a site inspection on receipt of a report and found retail
activities there. However, as subsequent inspections confirmed that the
unit had ceased operation, LandsD saw no need for further action.

96. LandsD admitted that it had not taken timely enforcement action
against the irregularities in one of the Units. The Office also found
impropriety in the Department’s inspections of another unit. Had its
inspections been more thorough, LandsD would have noticed
irregularities in that unit and taken enforcement action expeditiously.

97. The Ombudsman considered the complaint against both BD and
LandsD partially substantiated, and recommended that —

BD

(a) conduct a comprehensive review on the procedures for following
up on the UBW items found during large scale operations (LSO)
and actively follow up on those items that fall within the
“actionable with high priority” category;

(b) continue to closely monitor the compliance of the removal orders

issued in this case, and institute prosecutions promptly if the
owners concerned still fail to comply with the orders;
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District Lands Office (DLO) of LandsD

(a) enhance inspections of the Units; if the breaches of permitted
uses persist or aggravate, consideration should be given to further
enforcement actions including re-entry of the Units; and

(b) draw lessons from this case. For future follow-up actions on
cases of alleged lease breaches in industrial building units, in
addition to investigating the Units, attention should be paid to
find out whether the adjacent units are also in breach of the lease
conditions and, if so, early enforcement actions should be taken.

Government’s response

98. BD and LandsD accepted The Ombudsman’s recommendations.

Recommendation (a)

99. BD has completed its review and considered that certain
arrangements contained in the existing procedures should be reinforced —

(i)

(if)

having regard to its manpower situation, BD has set annual
targets for clearance of outstanding removal orders and
uploaded the indicators onto its website. In April 2014, a
review was completed and internal guidelines for clearance
of outstanding removal orders (including orders issued in
LSO) were issued. In this connection, the number of
UBWs removed and irregularities rectified increased from
15,000 in 2013 to 23,000 in 2014 and 24,000 in 2015; and

BD has engaged outsourced consultants to assist in LSO.
The consultancy agreements stipulated the duties of the
consultants in the investigation stage, order serving stage,
compliance inspection stage and final stage, as well as the
reports and information required to be submitted and the
time limits for completion of different stages. For instance,
as the target building in this particular case covered by The
Ombudsman report involved numerous individual units, BD
agreed with the consultant’s recommendation that the units
were to be investigated and served with orders in stages.
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Recommendation (b)

100. As the UBWs concerned have been rectified, the removal orders
have been withdrawn by BD.

Recommendation (c)

101.  One of the Units was found vacant according to the inspection
conducted by DLO on 21 July 2017. No further lease enforcement is
required for now. DLO would arrange further inspection in due course.
As for the other two units, DLO could not detect any retail activity or
breach of the user clause of the waiver letter during inspections
conducted on 9 January 2017, 7 February 2017 and 21 July 2017
respectively. No further lease enforcement is required for now.

Recommendation (d)
102.  An email was issued on 15 November 2016 reminding all
relevant staff in DLO to take note of and follow relevant

recommendations.  Arrangements would be made to re-circulate the
reminder in due course.
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Buildings Department,
Food and Environmental Hygiene Department
and Lands Department

Case No. 2016/3944A (Lands Department) — Failing to properly
follow up the problem of illegal occupation of Government land by a
shop

Case No. 2016/3944B (Food and Environmental Hygiene Department)
— Failing to properly follow up the problem of street obstruction
caused by a shop

Case No. 2016/3944C (Buildings Department) — Failing to take
proper follow-up action against unauthorised building works of a
shop

Background

103.  The complainant had previously lodged a complaint with 1823 in
2015 that a shop (the Shop) unlawfully occupied a back alley (the Alley)
which caused obstruction to the pedestrians. 1823 referred the case to
the Lands Department (LandsD), the Buildings Department (BD) and the
Food and Environmental Hygiene Department (FEHD) respectively for
follow-up actions. During the follow-up by the departments concerned,
it was found that the Alley was situated in part on government land and in
part on private land, and that unauthorised building works (UBWSs) were
built on that land.

104.  The complainant lodged a complaint with the Office of The
Ombudsman (the Office) on 11 October 2016, alleging that LandsD, BD
and FEHD shifted responsibilities to one another such that the problem
remained unresolved.

The Ombudsman’s observations

LandsD

105.  Lands D indicated that its District Lands Office (DLO) received

the complaint referred by 1823 in November 2015. At a site inspection

in the same month, DLO found out that the Alley straddle across
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government land and private land; UBWSs (including cantilevered
canopies) and an extension of business area for trading activities were
also identified. In its reply to 1823 in December 2015, DLO requested
1823 to refer the case to BD and FEHD for follow-up actions, and said it
would assist in joint operation where necessary.

106.  In September 2016, 1823 requested DLO to follow up on the
complaint again. DLO staff conducted another site inspection and found
the Alley in more or less the same condition as previously observed.
DLO conducted another site inspection of the Alley in mid-November
2016. In addition to the problem of UBWSs observed during earlier
inspections, a platform (the Platform) was installed in the Alley;
constituting unlawful occupation of government land. In December
2016, DLO affixed a statutory notice on the Platform requiring the
occupant to cease occupying the land before a specified deadline.

107.  The Office found the irregularities of the Shop extremely serious
and persistent.  The situation remained roughly the same during various
inspections conducted by the departments. As occupation of the
government land had been a long-standing issue, DLO should have taken
land control actions at an earlier stage. DLO failed to take any proactive
actions at the initial stage, but instead repeatedly urged 1823 to refer the
case to BD and FEHD for follow up. Only after the intervention of The
Ombudsman, more than a year after the complainant lodged the
complaint with 1823, did DLO start to take enforcement actions.

108.  The Office considered that DLO failed to handle the complaint
under its purview in a proper and timely manner, allowing the
irregularities in the Alley to persist.

FEHD

109. FEHD stated that during its inspection and investigation
conducted in December 2015 and September 2016, no goods were placed
in the public area on the pavement in front of the Shop and the pedestrian
access was unobstructed; the Alley was allegedly fenced off with illegal
structures so as to form part of the shop. FEHD was not able to gain
entry for enforcement actions.

110.  The Office found no maladministration on the part of FEHD as
its staff was unable to enter the Alley to perform their duties due to the
obstruction caused by the illegal structure.
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BD

111. BD is responsible for handling UBWs on private buildings and
lands. BD inspected and investigated the Alley in October 2015,
January 2016 and November 2016 and issued removal orders against
UBWSs in March 2016 and December 2016. Prosecution was also
instigated for non-compliance with the removal order.

112.  The Office considered it not unreasonable for BD to selectively
take enforcement actions against UBWs according to the existing
enforcement policy and its purview, and had no adverse comments on
BD’s enforcement policy on UBWs, namely that enforcement action
would be prioritized against new UBWs or UBWSs constituting obvious
hazard or imminent danger to life or property.

Conclusion and recommendation

113. The Ombudsman considered the complaint against LandsD
substantiated, and that against BD and FEHD unsubstantiated.

114.  Although the Platform in the Alley had been removed when
LandsD inspected the Alley again in March 2017, the Alley remained
enclosed and government land was still being occupied. The Ombudsman
urged LandsD, BD and FEHD to continue actively following up the case
according to their respective jurisdictions, with a view to resolving the
problem completely.

Government’s response

115. BD, FEHD and LandsD accepted The Ombudsman’s
recommendation and have taken the following follow-up actions.

116.  DLO carried out follow-up site inspections in the Alley on 6
March 2017 and 17 March 2017, which revealed that the Platform had
been removed and access to the Alley was not blocked or fenced off.
However, there were still some movable goods in the Alley, and
overhanging canopies and metal racks were installed on the external walls
of the adjacent building. On 10 March 2017, DLO informed FEHD and
BD of the latest position of the Alley and requested appropriate follow-up
actions on the movable goods, the canopies and the metal racks under
their respective purviews. As the Platform had been removed, DLO also
requested the Highways Department (HyD) to carry out reinstatement
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works of the ground where necessary. HyD advised that reinstatement
works had been completed on 29 September 2017.

117. On 5 May 2017, BD advised DLO that prosecution action had
been initiated due to non-compliance of the relevant Order issued by BD
for removal of the concerned UBWSs. BD will continue to closely follow
up this case by maintaining close liaison with relevant departments.

118.  On 17 May 2017, FEHD informed DLO that a metal mesh had
been found in the Alley, blocking access to the rear part of the shop,
during their site inspection on 11 May 2017. As such, a joint site
inspection was carried out by FEHD and DLO on 8 June 2017. The
inspection revealed that the movable metal mesh had been removed by
the occupier but other movable objects belonging to the Shop, including
storage shelves, goods, miscellaneous articles, etc. were still found in the
Alley.

119.  DLO will continue to closely monitor the situation and will take
appropriate land control action if unauthorised structures are found
erected on government land. If movable goods or articles and UBWSs
are detected at the Alley in future inspections, DLO will refer the issue to
FEHD and BD for their appropriate follow-up actions and will offer
assistance in any joint operation, if required, to facilitate enforcement.

120.  On the other hand, FEHD has arranged biweekly inspections of
the Shop to inspect the removal of illegal structure in the Alley. FEHD
would keep watch of the situation of the Alley and take appropriate
actions under its purview when circumstances permit in order to maintain
the environmental hygiene of the Alley.
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Consumer Council

Case No. 2016/1489 — (1) Applying different standards in granting
legal assistance under the Consumer Legal Action Fund; and (2)
unreasonably declining an application for Consumer Legal Action
Fund assistance

Background

121.  The Consumer Council (CC) is the trustee of the Consumer
Legal Action Fund (CLAF) and is advised by a Management Committee
(MC) on the eligibility and merits of cases seeking CLAF assistance. In
considering CLAF applications, the MC takes into account a number of
factors (the Factors), which include the chance of success of the matter,
the bargaining power of the aggrieved consumer(s) and whether court
action is the most effective means of resolution in the circumstances.

122. The complainant’s sister (Ms A) had purchased from a beauty
salon (Company X) in 2010 some beauty treatment packages that cost
around $95,000 in total. A large portion of the packages was left
unutilised when Ms A passed away in May 2012.

123. Ms A’s father lodged a complaint with CC against Company X
for its refusal to transfer the cost of the unutilised treatments to the estate
of Ms A in May 2013, and CC failed to settle the dispute. In October
2014, Ms A’s father applied to CLAF for assistance to take legal action
for seeking refund from Company X for the unutilised treatments (the
Application). The MC refused the Application. CC informed Ms A’s
father of the decision by letter (the Refusal Letter) in May 2015.

124.  Noting that CC had granted legal assistance to applicants in two
other cases of a similar nature, the complainant complained to The Office
of The Ombudsman (the Office) that CC had applied different standards
in granting legal assistance under CLAF and unreasonably declined the
Application.

The Ombudsman’s observations

125.  The Office found that the MC had duly considered the relevant
facts and merits of the Application before reaching its decision, which
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was not unreasonable. The Office also accepted that each case might
involve unique circumstances that the MC has to consider.

126.  However, the public nowadays expects public bodies to account
properly for their decisions. In this light, the Office found the Refusal
Letter unsatisfactory as it just listed all Factors, without specific
reference to the facts pertinent to the Application and explanation on why
the Application was refused. That was poor administrative practice.
Besides, the Trust Deed establishing CLAF, which CC relied on for not
giving an explanation in the Refusal Letter, while stating that an
applicant has no right to an explanation for refusal of his application,
does not in fact prohibit CC from voluntarily giving such reasons. In this
case, giving reasons would be a much better course to take.

127.  Overall, The Ombudsman considered this complaint
unsubstantiated, but found other inadequacy on the part of CC. The
Ombudsman recommended that CC review its practice of not giving
CLAF applicants exact reasons for refusal of applications.

Government’s response

128.  CC accepted The Ombudsman’s recommendation. CC
acknowledges the need to meet the public expectation that administrative
practice should be more transparent, and thus the transparency regarding
the decision on rejecting application should be enhanced, notwithstanding
that it had all along explained in the rejection letters that a holistic
approach in considering the applications had been adopted. In order to
enhance transparency, CC has started giving brief reason(s) for the
decision in the rejection letter with reference to the key facts of the case
as well as the salient factors to which it has attached more weight in the
consideration.
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Department of Health

Case No. 2016/2161 — (1) Failure to provide the complainant with the
date of assessment for his daughter; and (2) prolonged waiting time
for the assessment

Background

129.  In April 2016, the complainant registered with a CAC under DH
for an assessment for his daughter. He was dissatisfied that no specific
date could be provided for the assessment. The CAC staff simply told
him that the waiting time was about nine months to one year and that he
would be notified by telephone. Besides, he considered that such a long
waiting time might delay the treatment for his daughter.

The Ombudsman’s observations

130. A Child Assessment Centre (CAC) under the Department of
Health (DH) provides services for children under 12 years of age referred
by registered doctors or psychologists for suspected developmental
problems. Within three weeks after parents have made a registration,
CACs will arrange a preliminary interview of the child. Afterwards,
CAC’s Assessment Team will hold a pre-assessment case conference,
during which information collected via the preliminary interview will be
considered. The Assessment Team will then assess the child’s
development needs and make a professional judgement on the time for the
child to receive detailed assessments. The CAC will then, subject to
availability of the professionals concerned, fix a date for the detailed
assessment. Urgent and serious cases will be given higher priority.

131.  Since CACs only ask the parents to wait for notification without
providing any further information as to how long they need to walit,
parents will naturally feel anxious. Therefore, the Office of the
Ombudsman (the Office) recommended that CACs provide a tentative
assessment date for the parents after the pre-assessment case conference
Is conducted. This could help make the whole process more transparent
and let parents better understand their children’s condition so that they
could decide whether they should wait for CAC’s assessment or take
their children to private organisations for assessment/treatment.
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132.  On the waiting time required, CACs already have a triage system
in place to ensure that children with more serious problems would be
accorded higher priority to receive assessment. In this case, the actual
waiting time for the complainant’s daughter was just three months.

133. The Ombudsman considered this complaint partially
substantiated, and recommended DH to inform parents of the estimated
assessment date within a reasonable time after the CAC has decided the
assessment priority of the child at the Team Intake Conference (TIC).

Government’s response

134. DH accepted The Ombudsman’s recommendation. DH has
decided that the estimated month and year when the child may be
expected to receive assessment service (i.e. the estimated waiting time for
assessment) should be specified in the existing guidance note for parents,
which will be distributed to parents after the first appointment of nurse
interview. If the assessment team considers that a higher priority should
be accorded to the child for professional assessment at the TIC, the
parents would be notified as soon as possible (normally within three
months after the first appointment).

135.  The guidance note would also include the advice that if the
parents notice any changes in their child’s condition while waiting for
assessment, they can contact the CAC and provide related information for
the assessment team’s consideration and follow-up actions. The CAC
would confirm the scheduled date and time of assessment with the
parents by phone about three weeks before the assessment. The updated
guidance note has been distributed to parents since October 2016.
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Department of Health

Case No. 2016/2400 — (1) Failure to inform the complainant of the
date of assessment for her son; (2) Charging an unreasonable
registration fee; and (3) Failing to address her complaint properly.

Background

136.  According to the complainant, her husband visited a Child
Assessment Centre (CAC) on 13 June 2016, bringing along with him a
referral letter issued by a doctor at Queen Elizabeth Hospital, to register
their son, who displayed delayed development of language skills for
assessment and follow-up services. CAC staff said that their son had to
wait for about a year for assessment, and would be referred to the Speech
Therapy Department of a public hospital only after assessment was made
by professionals.

137.  The complainant was dissatisfied that the CAC could not provide
an exact assessment date.  Since the CAC only made referrals and would
not provide treatment services, she considered that the arrangement
would delay the appropriate treatment of her son.  She made a complaint
to the Department of Health (DH), but her complaint was passed to the
CAC for follow-up and the CAC staff did not address her concerns. As
such, she lodged a complaint with the Office of The Ombudsman (the
Office) against DH, alleging that —

(1) the CAC had unreasonably charged her $100 for the first
appointment, during which the nurse only recorded
developmental information of her son without providing any
medical services;

(2) upon receipt of the referral letter issued by a doctor from a
public hospital, CAC did not refer her son to receive suitable
services or treatments, instead only asked her to wait for
assessment. The arrangement was inappropriate;

(3) the CAC did not provide an exact assessment date and asked the

parents to wait for an indefinite period. The arrangement was
unreasonable; and

40



(4) the CAC did not handle her complaint properly or address her
needs, only providing her with bureaucratic response.

The Ombudsman’s observations

138. A CAC under DH provides services for children under 12 years
of age referred by registered doctors or psychologists for suspected
developmental problems. Within three weeks after parents have made a
registration, CACs will arrange a preliminary interview of the child.
Afterwards, CAC’s Assessment Team will hold a pre-assessment case
conference, during which information collected via the preliminary
interview will be considered. The Assessment Team will then assess the
child’s development needs and make a professional judgement on the
time for the child to receive detailed assessments. The CAC will then,
subject to availability of the professionals concerned, fix a date for the
detailed assessment. Urgent and serious cases will be given higher
priority.

Allegation (a)

139.  DH responded that although no treatment would be provided to
the child during the first appointment, the nurse would ask the parents for
details of the child’s condition for further arrangement of comprehensive
assessment. That was a service provided by the CAC. The Office
considered it appropriate for DH to charge for its services.

Allegation (b)

140.  DH had explained the reasons why the CAC could only make
appropriate referrals for the child after a comprehensive assessment was
made, instead of depending solely on the initial analysis mentioned in the
referral letter. That was a professional medical judgment, on which the
Office was not in a position to comment.

Allegation (c)

141.  The Office understood that the CAC would generally discuss and
confirm the assessment date with the parents about one to three weeks
before the assessment. However, the Office considered that parents
would certainly feel uneasy if they were asked to wait indefinitely for the
CAC’s notification and were not told the estimated waiting time after the
first appointment.
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Allegation (d)

142. It was not inappropriate for DH to pass the complaint to the
responsible service unit for follow-up; it was an established practice.
The CAC staff responded to the complainant’s concerns over the
language development of her son and provided relevant information for
her reference.  As such, the Office considered that DH had addressed her
complaint appropriately.

143. The Ombudsman considered this complaint partially
substantiated, and recommended DH to inform parents of the estimated
assessment date within a reasonable time, after the CAC has decided the
assessment priority of the child at the Team Intake Conference (TIC).

Government’s response

144,  DH accepted The Ombudsman’s recommendation. DH has
decided that the estimated month and year when the child may be
expected to receive assessment service (i.e. the estimated waiting time for
assessment) should be specified in the existing guidance note for parents,
which will be distributed to parents after the first appointment of nurse
interview. If the assessment team considers that a higher priority should
be accorded to the child for professional assessment at the TIC, the
parents would be notified as soon as possible (normally within three
months after the first appointment).

145.  The guidance note would also include the advice that if the
parents notice any changes in their child’s condition while waiting for
assessment, they can contact the CAC and provide related information for
the assessment team’s consideration and follow-up actions. The CAC
would confirm the scheduled date and time of assessment with the
parents by phone about three weeks before the assessment. The updated
guidance note has been distributed to parents since October 2016.
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Department of Health and Labour Department

Case No. 2016/2746A&B — Mishandling a private dentist’s demand
note for payment regarding his provision of dental treatment to an
injured employee in accordance with the Employees’ Compensation
Ordinance

Background

146.  The complainant was a registered dentist in private practice.
He submitted a quotation for dental treatment (amounted to around
$50,000) for an employed person injured at work to the Prostheses and
Surgical Appliances Board (the Board). Subsequently, the Board
accepted the said quotation and issued an “Acceptance of Quotation for
Denture” (the Certificate). After treating the injured employee, the
complainant submitted a demand note to the Department of Health (DH)
according to the instructions specified on the Certificate.

147.  However, DH informed the complainant in a letter dated 13 July
2016 that he had to recover the consultation and treatment fees from the
injured employee directly, since the injured employee had reached a
private settlement agreement with his employer on compensation arising
from work injury. DH also wrote to the injured employee, requesting
him to settle the consultation and treatment fees with the complainant
direct. However, the complainant could no longer get in touch with the
injured employee at that time.

148.  The complainant lodges a complaint with the Office of The
Ombudsman (the Office) against DH and the Labour Department (LD),
alleging mishandling of his case as follows —

(@) in handling similar cases, DH’s established practice was to settle
consultation and treatment fees in full upon receipt of a demand
note from the dentist. DH, however, failed to honour its
undertaking to settle consultation and treatment fees, and
unreasonably requested the complainant to recover such fees
from the injured employee direct in this case; and

(b) LD knew perfectly well that the complainant had been approved
by the Board to provide treatment for the injured employee and
would receive the consultation and treatment fees through the
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DH. However, LD still allowed the employee to reach a
settlement agreement with his employer. As a result, the
complainant was not paid by DH.

149.  The complainant provided supplementary information to The
Ombudsman on 24 August 2016, that the injured employee had settled the
consultation and treatment fees by cheque on 15 August 2016. He
confirmed that the cheque had been cleared on 23 August 2016.

The Ombudsman’s observations

150.  The Office considered that there was obvious inadequacy in the
existing mechanism of LD and DH for handling such cases. According
to the “Instruction to I/P (injured person) after dental PSAB (Prostheses
and Surgical Appliances Board) for fitting of denture” provided to the
injured employee and the dentist by LD, the injured employee should sign
the Certificate but needed not settle the consultation and treatment fees
with the dentist after completing the dental treatment. Meanwhile, the
dentist had to, as instructed under the “Important Notice to Dentist”,
submit the original copy of the Certificate and a demand note to the
Finance Division (FD) of DH in order to recover consultation and
treatment fees. The complainant had reasonable expectation that FD of
DH would reimburse him with the consultation and treatment fees.

Department of Health

151.  Under the existing mechanism, DH asks LD whether a settlement
agreement has been reached between the employer and employee only
after a dentist has completed the dental treatment and submitted a demand
note. If such an agreement has been reached, DH would then advise the
dentist to recover consultation and treatment fees from the injured
employee. The Office considered this approach unreasonable and very
unfair to the dentist involved. If the injured employee refuses to settle
his fees or has left Hong Kong, the responsibility for recovery of fees
would be shifted to the dentist contrary to his expectation. Fortunately,
the injured employee in this case settled the consultation and treatment
fees with the complainant eventually, or else the complainant or the
Government might have to seek legal remedies.

152.  The Office is pleased to note that DH has confirmed, after
seeking legal advice, that a settlement agreement reached between

employer and employee will not absolve the employer from the
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responsibility to settle the relevant costs. DH also undertook to revise
the existing mechanism so that its FD would first settle the consultation
and treatment fees owed to the dentist and then recover the relevant costs
from the employer, regardless of whether a settlement agreement has
been reached. DH would also discuss with LD the measures to improve
the existing mechanism and explain to employers their legal obligations
under the Employees’ Compensation Ordinance as early as practicable.

153. The Ombudsman considered the complaint lodged by the
complainant against DH substantiated, and recommended that DH should
revise the processing procedures as soon as practicable so that its FD
would first settle the consultation and treatment fees owed to the dentist
and then recover the relevant costs from the employer, regardless of
whether a settlement agreement has been reached as long as —

(a) aquotation has been approved by the Board;

(b) a prosthesis or surgical appliance has been supplied and fitted to
the injured employee; and

(c) asigned Certificate and a demand note from the dentist has been
received.

Labour Department

154, LD clarified that it has no authority to interfere with negotiations
between employers and employees regarding work injury compensation
or the contents of the settlement agreement. However, allegation (b)
revealed the problem where an injured employee might have on the one
hand settled the case with the employer, and on the other hand obtained
the services of prostheses and surgical appliances under quotation offered
by dentists or other professionals and approved by the Board; the
employee concerned may obtain double compensation in such cases.
The Government may also have greater difficulty recovering relevant fees
from the employer.

155.  The Office thus considered that LD should improve the existing
processing procedures by checking with employee, employer or other
stakeholders whether a settlement has been reached and, if so, the
contents of the settlement agreement, before deciding whether it is
necessary to submit the dentist’s quotation for the Board’s approval.
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156.

The Ombudsman considered the complaint against LD

unsubstantiated, but found other inadequacies on the part of LD. The
Ombudsman recommended that LD —

(@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

advise the employer of his obligations under the Employees’
Compensation Ordinance (ECO) as early as possible in the
course of processing such cases;

notify individual employers involved in cases of fitting
prostheses or surgical appliances and the insurer concerned as
early as possible. While publicising the liabilities of employers
under ECO, LD should also inform stakeholders such as
employer associations;

introduce appropriate procedures by instructing front-line staff to
proactively remind employers and employees of their respective
rights and obligations under ECO upon receipt of quotations
relating to the fitting of prostheses or surgical appliances. If the
parties have already reached an agreement on compensation,
including the cost of fitting prostheses or surgical appliances,
then it is not necessary to submit a quotation for the Board’s
approval; and

explain to injured employees their rights and benefits as soon as
possible, especially the fact that in reaching a settlement
agreement with employers, depending on the contents of the
settlement agreement, the injured employee may give up the cost
of maintenance and replacement of the prostheses or surgical
appliance for the next 10 years.

Government’s response

Department of Health

157.

DH accepted The Ombudsman’s recommendation. In October

2016, the FD of DH revised the processing procedures which were later
implemented. After a quotation has been approved by the Board and a
prosthesis or surgical appliance has been supplied and fitted to the injured
employee, the FD will first settle the consultation and treatment fees
owed to the dentist and then recover the relevant costs from the employer
upon receipt of a signed Certificate and a demand note from the dentist,
regardless of whether a settlement agreement has been reached.
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Labour Department
158. LD accepted The Ombudsman’s recommendations.

159. LD has reviewed its existing mechanism. In processing similar
cases from 1 January 2017 onwards, LD has implemented the following
procedures to explain to employers their liabilities and injured employees
their rights and benefits under ECO as early as possible.

160.  Starting from 1 January 2017, the Employees’ Compensation
Division (ECD) proactively reminds employers of their rights and
obligations in respect of prostheses or surgical appliances under ECO in
writing upon receipt of notification by the Occupational Medicine Unit
(OMU) of a possible case of the fitting of prostheses or surgical
appliances. Furthermore, when the fitting of a prosthesis or surgical
appliance to the injured employee is confirmed and he has been arranged
to attend the Board, ECD will liaise with the employer in writing to notify
him of the assessment date and request him to notify OMU promptly of
any settlement agreement reached with the injured employee before the
assessment date so that the appointment to attend the Board can be
cancelled accordingly.

161. In addition, when OMU arranges an assessment at the Board for
an injured employee, OMU will first confirm with the injured employee
that there is no settlement agreement with the employer on fitting of
prostheses or surgical appliances. OMU will issue a notice to the
injured employee to remind him that if a settlement agreement has been
reached with the employer on fitting of prostheses or surgical appliances,
the Board assessment will be cancelled and the injured employee will be
responsible for the cost of fitting, maintenance and renewal of prostheses
or surgical appliances.

162.  ECD has also earmarked resources for publicity of employers’

obligations (including the supply of prostheses or surgical appliances)
under ECO among employers in 2017/18.
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Department of Justice and Fire Services Department

Case No. 2016/1392(1) (Department of Justice) — Failing to provide
the complainant with the medical records of the injured persons as
requested

Case No. 2016/1198A (Department of Justice) — (1) Delay in claiming
compensation from the complainant; and (2) depriving him of the
right of appeal

Case No. 2016/1198B (Fire Services Department) — (1) Delay in
claiming compensation from the complainant; and (2) unreasonable
repair charge for the ambulance

Background

163.  On 19 August 2010, the complainant met with a traffic accident
while driving (the Accident), causing damage to an ambulance and
injuries to two ambulance officers (the Officers). He was subsequently
convicted of “Careless Driving” by the Magistrate.

164.  On 18 February 2015, the complainant received a claim notice
from the Department of Justice (DoJ) acting on behalf of the Fire
Services Department (FSD), demanding him to pay a sum of $65,775.26
for the repair costs of the vehicle and the employees’ compensation paid
by the Government to the Officers (the Claim Notice). The complainant
alleged that his insurance company had deleted records of his claim in
relation to the Accident in 2012, since no claim notice was issued long
past the Accident. The complainant requested the insurance company to
re-open his claim file, but was denied. The claim notice was dated
17 December 2010; the complainant believes that the insurance company
would have settled the claim on his behalf if the claim was initiated
against him at that time.

165.  The complainant was sceptical of the extent of injuries sustained
by and amount of compensation paid to the Officers. He noted from the
Officers’ Certificate of Assessment that, in case of dissatisfaction with the
assessment, an appeal could be made to the Commissioner for Labour or
the District Court. However, the window for appeal had expired by the
time he received the Claim Notice. The complainant alleged that DoJ had
delayed in taking recovery action against him, depriving him of the right
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to appeal against the assessment (allegation (a)).

166.  On 8 December 2015, the complainant requested DoJ to provide
him with the medical records of the Officers and photographs of the
ambulance after the Accident for evidence in support of his objection to
the damages claimed. However, DoJ did not reply until the complainant
wrote again on 4 January 2016. DoJ rejected the complainant and only
sent him the photos on 8 April, after the complainant had settled the claim
in full and called DoJ on 18 March to again request the photos. The
complainant was dissatisfied that DoJ failed to provide the medical
records as requested (allegation (b)).

167.  On the other hand, the complainant criticised FSD for its delay in
taking recovery action against him, and questioned the substance of
FSD’s claims as regards the assessment of injuries and amount of
compensation claimed. Furthermore, the complainant discovered that
FSD only submitted three photographs for the loss adjustors to assess the
repair costs for the vehicle. In his view, FSD did not handle the matter
seriously, resulting in an unreasonable assessment of the repair costs for
the vehicle. The complainant was dissatisfied with FSD’s delay and
handling of the recovery claim (allegation (c)).

The Ombudsman’s observations
Cases should be handled as soon as possible

168. It is reflected from DoJ and FSD’s replies to the complainant,
that departments consider it sufficient for claims to be made before the
limitation period expires, and that they have no responsibility to
commence recovery action as soon as possible. The Office of The
Ombudsman (the Office) disagrees. While the Government has the right
to commence a recovery action any time before the limitation period
expires, citizens have a reasonable expectation of the Government to be
open and responsible, and acts of inordinate delay or inefficiency are
considered to be maladministration. Especially in a case involving
public funds, recovery action should be taken as soon as possible. The
Office is of the view that departments should, as far as practicable, inform
subjects of oncoming recovery action against them and commence the
recovery procedures within reasonable time.
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Allegation (a)

169.  DoJ explained that the assessment of injury was conducted in
accordance with relevant statutory provisions, and that the right to raise
objection to the assessment was confined to FSD and the Officers, who
were the subjects of the assessment. The complainant could raise his
objection to the court in legal proceedings. The Ombudsman found the
explanation reasonable, and allegation (a) unsubstantiated.

Allegation (b)

170.  The Ombudsman considered Dol’s view, that the complainant’s
request for information did not constitute a request under the Code on
Access to Information (the Code) and needed not be handled in strict
accordance with the requirements of the Code (e.g., time for reply,
procedures), to be reasonable. Since the complainant has settled the claim
in full, and only asked for the photographs in his phone call on 18 March,
it was understandable for DoJ to believe that he no longer required the
medical records and cease to follow up on the request.

171.  Nonetheless, once the complainant clarified that he would still
like to obtain the medical records of the Officers, DoJ should have
followed up on his request as appropriate.

Allegation (c)

172.  Four months after the accident, FSD issued a letter to the
complainant, informing him that he might need to compensate FSD.
However, the address (as provided by the Police) was incorrect and the
message did not reach the complainant. The Office considered that
instead of setting the case aside, FSD should have confirmed the accuracy
of the complainant’s address, and obtained vehicle owner’s information
through the Transport Department upon non-delivery of the letter.

173.  The Office noted that according to the Government’s internal
guidelines, the Police would inform departments concerned of the result
of prosecution within 30 days from the date of a court hearing.
Departments should check with the Police if such notification was not
received. In this case, FSD was aware in early February 2011 that the
hearing for the Accident would be held later that month, but did not check
with the Police for the verdict of the case until April in the following year.
There was an apparent delay.
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174. Having noted the verdict of the court in June 2012, FSD still
took more than a year to prepare claim documents and calculate damages
before referring the case to DoJ. The Office noted that meanwhile, the
notary public and the Committee on Employees’ Compensation had
already confirmed the repair cost for the ambulance and completed the
assessment of injuries in September and December 2010 respectively.

175. FSD also failed to procure a properly completed notice of
intention to claim compensation (Notice of Intention) for over a year after
referring the case to DoJ. DoJ and FSD claimed that they discussed the
matter on the phone, but no written record was kept. The Office
considered it a simple task for FSD to arrange for the Officers to
complete and sign the Notice of Intention. FSD’s inability to resolve the
matter showed a lax attitude in handling this case, resulting in further
delay in the claim procedure.

Insurance claim

176.  Regarding the complainant’s loss of opportunity to make an
insurance claim, it was the complainant’s own choice and decision to
have his insurance company delete records of the Accident. The Office
considered that the complainant’s inability to make a claim with his
insurance company should not be entirely attributed to the departments’
delay.

Conclusion and recommendations

177.  Having examined the sequence of events and information
relevant to the case, the Office considered that DoJ had no obvious delay,
but FSD had multiple delays in handling this case. However, there was
no evidence that FSD’s inadequacy in handling this case prejudiced the
interests of the complainant. The Office was pleased to note that FSD
had made arrangement to redeploy staff to expedite the handling of claim
cases.

178.  The Ombudsman is of the view that the complainant’s complaint
against DoJ is not substantiated, and that against FSD is partially
substantiated. The Ombudsman recommended that the parties—

DoJ
(@) follow up on and reply to the complainant’s request for relevant

medical documents as soon as possible;
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FSD

(b) draw up clear guidelines and a flow chart for handling claim
cases (including timely issuance of Notices of Intention and
follow-up with the Police for court verdicts on traffic offences)
to expedite recovery actions and referrals to DoJ;

(c) investigate the reason behind any undelivered letters issued to a
member of the public to ensure that the recipient is aware of the
message contained therein; and

DoJ and FSD

(d) properly maintain written records of the follow-up actions on
claim cases (including records of telephone conversations).

Government’s response

179. Dol accepted The Ombudsman’s recommendation (a) and (d).
DoJ sought instructions from FSD regarding the complainant’s request
for medical reports, medical treatment record and medical history of the
Officers. However, the Officers refused to authorize DoJ to release copies
of the medical certificates relevant to the Accident, and FSD does not
have in its possession the relevant medical documents. DoJ informed
the complainant and The Ombudsman of the above situation on
11 October 2016. The Ombudsman replied on 28 March 2017,
notifying DoJ that the case as relates to the Code was closed.

180.  Moreover, DoJ officers handling recovery cases have been
reminded to keep proper records regarding follow-up actions taken on the
cases (including records of telephone conversations).

181.  FSD accepted The Ombudsman’s recommendations (b), (c) and
(d). FSD has already drawn up and put into use a set of guidelines and a
flow chart for handling claim cases arising from traffic accidents,
including the procedure for handling undelivered letters and requiring the
staff to properly maintain written records of follow-up actions on claim
cases arising from traffic accidents.
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Department of Justice
and Working Family and Student Financial Assistance Agency

Case No. 2015/5309A&B —Delay in searching for the complainant’s
valid address to deliver the Court Order regarding a claim against
the complainant for outstanding student loan

Background

182.  The complainant undertook to act as indemnifier when her
former husband (Mr A) applied for student loans from the Student
Financial Assistance Agency (now the Student Finance Office of the
Working Family and Student Financial Assistance Agency) (WFSFAA)
in 2000 and 2002. In 2003, she divorced Mr A and moved out of the
address stated on the deed of indemnity (the Old Address). However,
WEFSFAA was not notified of her change of residence.

183.  In July 2009, the Department of Justice (DoJ) instituted legal
proceedings in the Small Claims Tribunal against Mr A and the
complainant to recover the defaulted student loans; the claim was allowed.
It was not until a bailiff went to the Old Address to seize property in
March 2012 that DoJ learned Mr A and the complainant had moved out.
DoJ then issued a memo to WFSFAA to report case status and seek
further instruction, but did not receive any reply from WFSFAA. In
September 2015, DoJ searched the land register and found that the
complainant owned another property (the New Address).

184.  In September 2015, the complainant received a letter from DoJ
posted to the New Address, requesting her to repay, on behalf of Mr A,
the defaulted student loans together with interest and administration fees,
according to a court order issued in October 2009. The total amount
was over $60,000, of which some $20,000 was interest. The
complainant was dissatisfied that DoJ had delayed searching the land
register for her New Address until 2015. She considered it unfair for her
to bear the extra interest accrued due to the delay.
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The Ombudsman’s Observation

185.  Since the complainant did not take the initiative to notify
WEFSFAA of her change of address, the Office of The Ombudsman (the
Office) was of the view that she was partly responsible for the incident.

186.  Despite both DoJ and WFSFAA reiterating that a collaboration
mechanism with well-defined division of responsibilities was in place
between them, communication was evidently inadequate. This case had
remained inactive for over three years, during which DoJ had failed to
actively search for the complainant’s latest address, and to make any
enquiry with WFSFAA. Moreover, WFSFAA did not clarify with DoJ
after it noticed inaccurate information in DoJ’s memo (the disputed
memo). The Office did not see “close communication” between the two
departments as they claimed.

187.  The Office understood that DoJ had to prioritise its tasks because
of resource constraints and the large number of default cases, however,
idling cases only builds up to a greater backlog problem. After putting
in the effort to institute legal proceedings, DoJ should follow through by
ensuring the efficacy of follow-up procedures, so as to avoid unnecessary
wastage of resources. The Office considered DoJ’s existing internal
guidelines inadequate, in that the importance and urgency of tracing the
whereabouts of defaulters was not clearly communicated to frontline staff.
It is essential for DoJ and WFSFAA to draw up more specific guidelines
and timetables on procedures for handling cases.

188.  The Ombudsman considered the complaint against DoJ and
WEFSFAA partially substantiated, and recommended that DoJ and
WFSFAA —

(@) jointly evaluate implementation of their collaboration
mechanism to ensure timely follow-up actions taken by their
frontline staff;

(b) strengthen their communication and arrange regular and joint
review of the progress of cases involving missing defaulters;

(c) review internal guidelines and procedures for handling cases

involving missing defaulters and set out a concrete timeframe,
with emphasis on the importance of following deadlines ; and
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(d) complete reviewing the content of the disputed memo as soon as
possible.

Government’s response

189. DoJ and WFSFAA accept The Ombudsman’s recommendations,
and have taken the following actions.

Recommendation (a)

190.  DoJ and WFSFAA will continue to closely monitor the overall
progress of student loan recovery cases handled by DoJ, by providing
each other with progress reports on a regular basis. WFSFAA has also
improved the presentation of these progress reports, highlighting cases
that require special attention or expedited action, so as to facilitate DoJ in
taking appropriate follow-up actions.

191.  Regular meetings between DoJ and WFSFAA management will
continue to be held to review overall case progress and strengthen the
collaboration mechanism between the two bodies. To enhance
communication and collaboration, DoJ and WFSFAA will also meet
regularly at the working level, in order to step up monitoring of case
progress and implementation of the collaboration mechanism, and to
discuss issues arising from individual cases.

Recommendation (b)

192. The Student Finance Office (SFO) of WFSFAA prepares
half-yearly progress reports that help identify cases of higher priority or
difficulty. In addition to the communication arrangements mentioned
above, DoJ will make use of these half-yearly reports to find cases of
missing defaulters (in particular, those cases where a valid address cannot
be obtained after two successive address searches have been conducted
with different Government departments, as required by existing internal
guidelines) and review whether further follow-up actions are necessary.

Recommendation (c)

193. DoJ has examined its internal guidelines for handling cases

involving missing defaulters, and the revised version of the internal

guidelines was issued on 29 July 2016. Once DoJ is notified that the

last known address of a defaulter is no longer valid, DoJ should inform
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and seek the updated address from SFO within four weeks. If SFO
advises that it cannot provide an updated address, DoJ will conduct an
address search with relevant Government department(s) within four
weeks. In the event that the address obtained from other Government
department(s) is the same as the invalid address already in hand, or
proves also to be invalid, another round of address search would be
conducted within six months from the date on which the address obtained
from the address search is confirmed to be invalid.

Recommendation (d)

194.  DoJ and WFSFAA have reviewed and revised the standard memo
in question, mainly by simplifying its contents and refining its wording.
The revised memo is more to the point, concise and readable, so as to
avoid any misunderstandings. DoJ has instructed the Law Clerks who
are responsible for student loan recovery cases to indicate clearly in the
revised standard memo the instruction to be sought from and information
to be provided to WFSFAA. Correspondingly, WFSFAA has also
reminded the staff concerned to seek clarification of the contents of the
standard memo with DoJ if in doubt.
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Drainage Services Department,
Environmental Protection Department
and Home Affairs Department

Case No. 2016/1152A&B (Drainage Services Department and
Environmental Protection Department) — (1) Failing to explain the
details of rural drainage works to the affected villagers and consult
them; and (2) failing to deposit the plans and the scheme of drainage
works at a designated place for public inspection, as stated in a
gazette notice

Case No. 2016/1152C (Home Affairs Department) — Failing to deposit
the plans and the scheme of drainage works at a designated place for
public inspection, as stated in a gazette notice

Background

195.  The complainant is an indigenous inhabitant of a village. A few
years ago, the Drainage Services Department (DSD) carried out sewerage
improvement works in the village, during which DSD discovered that
there were uncharted underground utilities and obstructions. In addition,
the villagers objected to the land resumption proposal. The works were
eventually not completed as planned. The Indigenous Inhabitant
Representative of the village mentioned in the villager forum held in
April 2015 that DSD had promised to explore other engineering scheme
and would consult the villagers about the new scheme.

196. InJanuary 2016, the Environmental Protection Department (EPD)
gazetted the proposed village sewerage improvement works in the village
(the Works) which requires resumption of a portion of a piece of private
land. The notice (the Notice) stated that relevant plans and scheme (the
Plans and Scheme) would be deposited at a number of designated
locations, including a public enquiry service centre (the Service Centre)
of the Home Affairs Department (HAD), for public inspection.

197.  The complainant complained against EPD and DSD to the Office
of The Ombudsman (the Office) on 5 April 2016, alleging that —
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(a) EPD and DSD did not consult the villagers on the Works and the
associated land resumption proposal prior to the gazette. EPD
and DSD also did not explain to the villagers the purpose and
details of the Works, and ignored their opinions and rights; and

(b) EPD, DSD and HAD did not deposit the Plans and Scheme at
the Service Centre in accordance with the Notice. As a result,
there were villagers who were unable to inspect the documents
when visiting the Service Centre on 4 March 2016.

198.  After examining the information provided by EPD and DSD and
obtaining the complainant’s consent, The Ombudsman considered it
necessary to extend the investigation to HAD.

The Ombudsman’s observations

Allegation (a) — Failure to hold consultation on the Works and land
resumption

199.  DSD (instead of EPD) was responsbile for the consultation of the
Works before its gazette. Records indicated that DSD had appropriately
explained to the villagers details of the Works (including the proposed
land resumption area) and consulted their views through the two village
representatives. DSD also revised the alignment and plans of the Works
in response to the villagers’ comments. As such, DSD did not ignore the
residents’ opinions and rights.  Therefore, the Office did not consider the
arrangement by DSD improper. The Ombudsman considered allegation
(a) against EPD and DSD unsubstantiated.

Allegation (b) — Failure to deposit the Plans and Scheme at the Service
Centre

200.  The Office considered that EPD had arranged the gazette of the
Works in accordance with the usual procedures and arrangements, which
had worked effectively in the past. However, the Plans and Scheme
were not deposited in the Service Centre throughout the entire
consultation period for public inspection mainly because of a
misunderstanding by the staff of the Service Centre; EPD should not be
blamed for not stating the deposition period at the designated places in its
covering memo for the Plans and Scheme. The Ombudsman considered
allegation (b) against EPD unsubstantiated.
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201.  Besides, the Office was glad to note that EPD had learnt from the
incident and required that all future covering memos should clearly state
the deposition period required for public inspection in order to prevent
the recurrence of similar incidents.

202.  As for DSD, records revealed that DSD had delivered the
relevant gazette documents (including the Plans and Scheme) to the
designated locations according to EPD’s instruction. It was through no
fault of DSD that the Plans and Scheme were not deposited at the Service
Centre throughout the entire consultation period. The Ombudsman
considered allegation (b) against DSD unsubstantiated.

203.  Nevertheless, the Office considered that when DSD staff noticed
that members of the public were not able to inspect the Plans and Scheme
at one of the designated locations, they should investigate into whether
there was any problem on the deposition of the documents. However,
DSD only provided assistance to the villager who sought help but did not
contact EPD and all the designated locations to thoroughly understand
and solve the problem. There were inadequacies on the part of DSD.

204.  The Ombudsman remarked that the failure to deposit the Plans
and Scheme at the Service Centre was mainly due to misunderstanding of
the staff at the District Office (DO) concerned, who might lack the
experience in handling such gazettal documents and misinterpreted that
they only had to keep the Plans and Scheme in the DO and its three
Service Centres for public inspection between the two gazette dates.
Allegation (b) against HAD was substantiated.

Conclusion and recommendation

205. The Ombudsman considered the complaint against HAD
substantiated, while the complaint against EPD was unsubstantiated; the
complaint against DSD was unsubstantiated but other inadequacies were
found. The Ombudsman recommended that —

(@) EPD and DSD should step up communication with the
concerned departments of the locations where the gazette
documents are deposited in the future to ensure that they are
clearly aware of the period of depositing the documents for
public inspection. Prompt follow-up and rectification should
be carried out when problem is encountered; and
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(b) HAD should advise all DOs to remind their staff to be fully
acquainted with the duration for depositing gazette documents
for public inspection, as well as clarifying with the concerned
departments as appropriate, in handling these documents.

Government’s response

206. DSD, EPD and HAD accepted The Ombudsman’s
recommendations.

207.  DSD will step up training and remind staff to pay more attention
to the gazette procedures. If similar public enquiry is encountered again,
DSD would contact EPD immediately and follow up with the responsible
department of the designated locations promptly to resolve the problem.

208.  To prevent recurrence of similar incidents, EPD has already
implemented an enhancement measure requiring that all future covering
memos should clearly state the deposition period required for public
inspection.

209.  The DO concerned had reminded the staff concerned of the need
to immediately clarify and confirm the depositing period of documents
with the concerned departments if their memos do not set out the exact
period. Moreover, HAD advised all DOs on 27 January 2017 of the
need to be fully acquainted with the duration for depositing gazette
documents for public inspection, and to clarify with the concerned
departments as appropriate in handling these documents.
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Electrical and Mechanical Services Department

Case No. 2016/1749(1) — Failing to properly handle the complainant’s
request for the investigation report on an escalator incident

Background

210.  The complainant alleged that an escalator in a shopping centre
abruptly stopped on 20 July 2015, causing the complainant’s father to fall
and become injured.

211.  After on site investigation, the registered escalator contractor’
(the Contractor) submitted on the next day an investigation report to the
Electrical and Mechanical Services Department (EMSD). EMSD then
carried out its own investigation, conducting a site visit, interviewing the
victim, taking statements from witnesses, and asking the Contractor for
supplementary information. Meanwhile, the complainant, who had been
provided with the Contractor’s incident investigation report, sent email to
EMSD several times to query the findings.

212.  Through an email dated 11 February 2016, EMSD informed the
complainant of its own investigation findings. The complainant
considered the email vague and requested a copy of EMSD’s
investigation report on 17 April 2016. On 6 June 2016, EMSD sent an
email to the complainant to reiterate its findings without providing any
investigation report or other documents containing its investigation
findings.

213.  The complainant lodged a complaint with the Office of The
Ombudsman (the Office) against EMSD for failing to properly handle her
request for its investigation report on an escalator incident.

The Ombudsman’s observations
214.  According to EMSD, there are thousands of escalator incidents

every year and only those which result in fatality, severe injury or which
involve critical safety issues that draw the public’s concern call for

! The Ombudsman’s original wordings in her investigation report “lift maintenance contractor” should
read “registered escalator contractor” as advised by Electrical and Mechanical Services Department.
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investigation reports. No investigation report was prepared in this case.
Thus the information requested by the complainant was non-existent.

215.  Nevertheless, there were various file records containing the
investigation findings and EMSD had replied to the complainant with
information compiled from these records. It was evident from EMSD’s
reply to the complainant that EMSD believed that in the absence of an
investigation report, those records were what the complainant sought. If
in doubt, EMSD would have provided clarification to the complainant.

216.  The Office noted that although the complainant did not cite the
Code on Access to Information (the Code) while making her request for
information, a non-Code request should be considered on the same basis
as requests made under the Code.

217.  In its reply of 6 June 2016, EMSD reiterated the findings of its
investigation into the incident. However, as laid down in relevant
Guidelines, the preferred arrangement was for EMSD to provide a copy
of the file records containing the findings or parts of the findings; or
refuse to provide such records or such records in parts with reasons.
Reiteration of the investigation findings did not equate provision of
relevant records. EMSD had de facto refused the request without
providing any reasons for refusal and information about the avenue of
internal review and the right to complain to The Ombudsman, as required
by the Code.

218. It took EMSD 50 days to reply to the request. In the interim, no
explanation was given. The response time stipulated in the Code was
therefore not met.

219.  The Office considered that EMSD had failed to make reference
to the Code in handling the complainant’s request for information; this
failure stemmed from EMSD staff’s lack of awareness of the
requirements under the Code.

220.  The Ombudsman considered this complaint against EMSD
substantiated, and recommended that EMSD —

(@) reconsider with reference to the Code the complainant’s request;
and

(b) provide training to its staff to enhance their awareness of the
Code.
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Government’s response

221. EMSD accepted recommendation (a). A reply letter was sent to
the complainant on 1 December 2016 explaining that the complainant’s
requested investigation report for the escalator incident did not exist and
the summary of EMSD’s findings given in EMSD’s reply on 6 June 2016
was compiled based on the collected information and evidence. A copy of
“Assessment Form for Incident Investigation”, which contained EMSD’s
investigation findings for the escalator incident, was provided to the
complainant. In addition, EMSD apologised for the delay in replying to
the complainant’s request on 17 April 2016.

222. EMSD accepted recommendation (b). A seminar on the Code
was delivered by a representative from the Constitutional and Mainland
Affairs Bureau on 10 February 2017 for EMSD staff to enhance their
awareness and knowledge of the Code.
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Environmental Protection Department

Case No. 2016/1048 - Failing to properly follow up complaints
about suspected illegal landfilling or fly-tipping at a site

Background

223.  According to the complainant, there were activities of illegal
dumping of soil and construction waste (landfilling activities) for many
years on a piece of private land (subject site) in Yuen Long. Since 2003,
he has lodged a number of relevant complaints to the Planning
Department (PlanD) and the Environmental Protection Department (EPD),
and requested these two departments to take enforcement actions to
restore the subject site to its original condition.

224.  The complainant was of the view that PlanD and EPD did not
effectively tackle the problem and consequently a massive landfilling
area was formed in early 2016.

225.  EPD is responsible for the enforcement of the Waste Disposal
Ordinance (WDO), according to which it is an offence to deposit waste
on private land without the permission of the owner(s) or lawful
occupier(s). In addition, EPD should take enforcement actions against
environmental pollution problems arising from construction works and
landfill activities in accordance with the relevant environmental laws,
including construction dust arising from landfilling works under the Air
Pollution Control (Construction Dust) Regulation (CDR). Persons in
charge of the works should take effective control measures in accordance
with the CDR to prevent dust emission, or else EPD could initiate
prosecution action.

226. EPD received complaints from the complainant directly or
through referral from other government departments in May 2004,
February 2006, March 2007, May and December 2008, alleging that there
was fly-tipping of soil or construction waste at the subject site. In
response, EPD had conducted investigations under its jurisdiction and
replied to the complainant afterwards. In summary, investigation of
EPD revealed that the occupier of the land had been storing soil and mud
at the subject site for many years. As the activity was carried out under
the permission of the land occupier, it did not contravene WDO.
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227.  In addition, the subject site has been used for the operation of
outdoor sand depots since the 1980s, thus that continues to be its
“existing use” under the Town Planning Ordinance. EPD has inspected
the site and considered that the current state of land use did not violate
any environmental legislation. Moreover, the person in charge also
responded positively to EPD’s reminders, and implemented dust
suppression measures including installation of water hose at the site
entrance for washing vehicles and planting trees on slopes and at both
sides of the access road, etc. in 2008.

228.  EPD inspected the site from time to time but did not find any
violation. The subject site was later gradually covered by vegetation.

The Ombudsman’s observations

229.  According to records, EPD's investigation revealed that soil
storage activity at the subject site was carried out under the permission of
the lawful occupier and hence there was no violation of the WDO. As
there was no environmental pollution, there was neither breach of other
environmental control ordinances, thus no basis for the EPD to take law
enforcement action. Nevertheless, EPD reminded the person-in-charge
of the sand depot to take measures to avoid excessive dust emission.
The Office of the Ombudsman (the Office) considered that the EPD had
taken action under their remit in response to the complaints lodged by the
complainant between the year 2003 and 2010, and the follow-up actions
were generally appropriate.

230.  Although the Office found no administrative malpractice, the
concerned departments were requested to report the latest development of
the case, as the media had widely reported the incident in early 2016.
The Office noted that the concerned departments had conducted
investigations and most of the vegetation on the concerned land and
extension area was removed, thereby exposing large quantities of sand
and rock. The concerned departments have taken enforcement actions
under their respective remit, including EPD initiating prosecution actions
against the concerned persons at the subject site for illegal depositing of
construction materials hence violating the WDO and not observing the
dust prevention requirements under the CDR.
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231.  The Ombudsman considered the complaint against EPD
unsubstantiated, but recommended that EPD follow up the matter, and
take enforcement actions against the offender if there is sufficient
evidence.

Government’s response
232.  EPD accepted The Ombudsman’s recommendation. Investigation

has been completed and the EPD successfully prosecuted concerned
offenders.
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Equal Opportunities Commission

Case No. 2015/4044 — Selective disclosure of the content of the
minutes of a meeting of the Commission

Background

233.  According to the complainant, the minutes of the 104™ meeting
(104™ minutes) of the Equal Opportunities Commission (EOC) on
19 December 2013 recorded the gist of the EOC Chairperson’s remarks at
the meeting as follows, “...the EOC was acting within its power in the
Discrimination Law Review and the study. This view was also agreed by
the Constitutional and Mainland Affairs Bureau (CMAB), the EOC’s
housekeeping Bureau.”

234.  In April 2015, CMAB clarified to the complainant that CMAB
had never expressed the opinion recorded in the 104™ minutes. The
complainant enquired with CMAB about their follow-up. Subsequently,
CMAB referred the complainant’s enquiry to EOC.

235.  On 4 September 2015, EOC replied to the complainant in writing
that the EOC Chairperson had made the necessary clarification at the
110™ meeting (the Chairperson’s clarification), and the minutes of the
meeting (110th minutes), which would be uploaded onto EOC’s website
after confirmation by EOC members, would reflect the gist of the
discussion. However, the complainant later read the 110™ minutes on
EOC’s website and was unable to find the said content. The complainant
criticized EOC for providing incorrect information to mislead the public
(allegation (a)).

236.  In fact, the complainant believed that EOC did discuss and
clarify the matter at the 110" meeting, nonetheless the content was not
disclosed to the public. The complainant criticized EOC for selective
disclosure, an act that lacked transparency and deprived the public of the
knowledge of the details of the discussion concerned (allegation (b)).

The Ombudsman’s observations

237.  Initially, EOC confirmed the 104™ minutes at its 105" meeting
on 20 March 2014. The 104™ minutes, in which the last sentence of
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paragraph 32 indeed read “This view was also agreed by CMAB, EOC’s
housekeeping Bureau”, was subsequently uploaded onto EOC’s website.

238.  In April 2015, EOC became aware of CMAB’s clarification in
respect of the 104™ minutes, i.e. CMAB had never expressed the opinion
recorded in the 104" minutes. On 18 June 2015, EOC discussed at its
110" meeting how they should understand the remarks made by the
Chairperson recorded in the 104™ minutes; the Chairperson made his
clarification at the meeting.

239. At its 111" meeting on 17 September 2015, EOC confirmed the
110" minutes and decided to delete the sentence “This view was also
agreed by CMAB, EOC’s housekeeping Bureau” from the publicised
104th minutes. EOC considered the content sensitive, and not
appropriate for disclosure to the public. Therefore, the record of relevant
discussion at the 110" meeting was not uploaded onto EOC’s website.

240.  After deleting said sentence, EOC re-uploaded the 104th minutes
onto EOC’s website on 18 September 2015. The original version was
removed from the website.

Allegation (a)

241. EOC explained that minutes of its meetings would normally be
uploaded onto their website for public viewing. Accordingly, EOC
informed the complainant on 4 September 2015 of such practice.
However, at a subsequent meeting, EOC decided not to make public the
discussion on the Chairperson’s clarification. EOC expressed that the
staff member involved did not intend to mislead the complainant. They,
however, admitted that they had failed to inform the complainant in time
of the change, and apologized for it.

242.  As EOC did state in their reply letter to the complainant dated
4 September 2015 that “At the meeting, the Chairperson of the EOC had
made the necessary clarification. The minutes of the 110" EOC
Meeting will reflect the gist of the matter discussed and will be available
on the EOC’s website after confirmation of the minutes by Members at
the 111" Meeting scheduled for 17 September 2015.”, the Office of The
Ombudsman (the Office) considered it reasonable for the complainant to
expect to see the main points of the discussion concerned on EOC’s
website. The decision not to make public the minutes of the relevant
discussion was not in line with how EOC had informed the complainant.
Therefore, The Ombudsman considered allegation (a) substantiated.
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Allegation (b)

243.  EOC'’s explanation for not uploading the minutes in its entirety is
that all minutes of its meetings have to first be confirmed by EOC
members, if members consider any information confidential or sensitive,
it will not be made public.

244.  The Office raised no objection in principle to EOC’s practice of
not making public parts of their minutes of meetings where there is
confidential or sensitive information. However, the Office did not agree
that EOC could rely on this to completely withhold the Chairperson’s
clarification.

245.  The Office has reviewed the full text of the 110" minutes. In
fact, key points of the Chairperson’s clarification was essentially the same
In meaning as those in a letter issued by EOC to the complainant on
11 March 2015: the Chairperson’s understanding of the CMAB’s view as
recorded in the 104™ minutes was based on the meetings held in July and
December 2013, at which officials did not express objection to EOC’s
study. EOC, being an independent body, had the autonomy to decide on
relevant work. As such, even if EOC considered the rest of the discussion
confidential or sensitive, they had no justification for not making public
the gist of the Chairperson’s clarification. The Ombudsman considered
allegation (b) substantiated.

246.  Furthermore, the Office noted that after the Chairperson’s
clarification was made, EOC actually went so far as to delete the sentence,
which had been confirmed by EOC members and uploaded onto EOC’s
website. The Office considered it inappropriate for EOC to do so,
because the minutes had truthfully recorded the discussion at that meeting;
EOC could have clarified its meaning at subsequent meetings, but it
should not have deleted part of the minutes, as that would be detrimental
to the completeness and accuracy of the records.

247.  The Ombudsman considered the complaint against EOC
substantiated, and urges EOC to —

(@) suitably make public the key points of the clarification made by
the Chairperson at the 110" meeting (and to explain, in particular:
that the Chairperson’s understanding of the CMAB’s view was
based on the meetings held in July and December 2013 at which
officials did not express objection to the EOC’s study); and
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(b) upload again the original version of the minutes of the 104"
meeting (the EOC may consider adding note(s) as appropriate to
remind readers to read the gist of the clarification in the minutes
of the 110" meeting).

Government’s response

248.  The EOC accepted and fully implemented The Ombudsman’s
recommendations (a) and (b).

249.  The Ombudsman accepted that EOC has fully implemented its

recommendations. Follow-up action on this case was discontinued on
12 October 2016.
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Fire Services Department

Case No. 2016/1205B - Failing to follow up on the problem of
potential fire hazard caused by a suspected unlicensed restaurant

Background

250.  According to the complainant, an organisation (the Organisation)
held fee-charging basin and snake feasts (the Activities) at its clubhouse
in a public housing estate (the Premises) on multiple evenings in January
2016. Members of the public were admitted by purchased tickets.
Some of the food was cooked on-site over an open fire. However, the
Premises had no restaurant licence and its fire service installations fell
short of the fire safety requirements of a restaurant licence. Open-fire
cooking at the Premises would constitute fire hazards, endangering the
safety of the occupiers upstairs.

251.  The complainant complained to FSD and was given the
following reply, “FEHD is the licensing authority for restaurant licences.
Upon receipt of an application for a restaurant licence referred by FEHD,
FSD will conduct an on-site inspection at the Premises to ascertain
whether the relevant fire safety requirements are met. In the meantime,
FSD will not conduct any inspections of or take any enforcement actions
against the Premises.” The complainant then filed a complaint to FEHD
and was given the following reply, “Our staff have conducted an on-site
inspection and found that no activities concerned were held by the
Organisation.”

252.  Afterwards, the Organisation held basin and snake feasts again
on multiple evenings in March 2016, the complainant filed complaints
again to FEHD and also to the Housing Department (HD). FEHD’s
reply to the complainant went as follows, “No restaurant licence is
required if the Organisation serves members only.” The complainant
considered the reply from FEHD unreasonable as it was clearly shown in
the posters of the Activities that non-members were also welcomed.

253.  As for HD’s reply, it went as follows, “As it is not provided in
the tenancy agreement that cooking and fee-charging activities are
prohibited at the Premises, the Activities have not constituted a breach of
the tenancy agreement.”
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254.  The complainant criticised HD, FEHD and FSD for shirking
responsibilities and failing to follow up on the issues relating to the
operation of a suspected unlicensed restaurant by the Organisation and
the potential fire hazards arising from such operation.

The Ombudsman’s observations

255.  Having reviewed the relevant tenancy agreement and records, the
Office of The Ombudsman (the Office) was satisfied that there was no
basis for HD to take any tenancy control actions against the Activities,
and that there was no evidence of impropriety on the part of FEHD in this
case’. The Ombudsman considered the complainant’s complaint against
HD and FEHD unsubstantiated.

256.  As regards FSD, the Office understood that FSD could not take
any enforcement and regulatory actions against the Premises under its
licensing and regulatory regimes as the Premises was neither a licensed
premises nor an applicant for a restaurant licence.

257.  The Office, however, noted that the complainant mentioned in
his letter of 30 December 2015 that he had previously written to HD to
complain against the Organisation for blatantly using several large stoves
for open-fire cooking on the estate’s walkway outside the building in
which the Premises were located. Relevant records also showed that the
complainant filed a complaint to HD earlier in November, describing the
same situation, where dishes were served to more than a hundred tables in
a large-scale event held by the Organisation. The letter was copied to
various government departments including FSD. In response to the
complainant’s complaint in November, FSD conducted three inspections
that month, and a surprise inspection on 13 January 2016, during which
neither obstructions to the means of escape or emergency vehicular
access, nor cooking activities, were found. In fact, none of the aforesaid
inspections by FSD were coincident with the Activities held by the
Organisation.

2 FEHD staff conducted inspection of the Premise on the date of the Activities in
January, and found that all participants were members with membership cards. As for
the Activities held in March, the relevant poster had specified that the Activities were
or members only.
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258.  The Office considered that FSD’s follow-up actions on the
complainant’s complaint lodged in December 2015 only focused on
whether the Premises had a restaurant licence or was applying for one,
having no regard to the fact that the Activities would have caused
obstruction to the means of escape for participants and constituted other
fire hazards. The actions taken by FSD were not sufficiently thorough,
and FSD should have conducted inspections on the dates on which the
Activities were held so as to ascertain whether such activities would
constitute any threat to public safety.

259.  The Ombudsman considered complainant’s complaint against
FSD partially substantiated, and recommended that FSD should learn
from this case and remind its staff to handle future complaints with
thorough consideration and take appropriate follow-up actions.

Government’s response
260. FSD accepts The Ombudsman’s recommendation, and has
already learnt from the experience of this case and reminded its staff to

conduct inspections as appropriate on future complaints to ascertain
whether matters of fire safety are involved.
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Food and Environmental Hygiene Department

Case No. 2015/4138 — Delay in taking follow-up action against water
dripping from air-conditioners

Background

261.  On 12 September 2015, the complainant lodged a complaint with
the Food and Environmental Hygiene Department (FEHD) via 1823
about nuisance caused by water dripping from an upper floor
air-conditioner (the water dripping problem). Although FEHD’s local
District Environmental Hygiene Office (DEHO) followed up on his
complaint, the water dripping problem remained unresolved as at
mid-October 2016. The complainant lodged a complaint with the Office
of The Ombudsman (the Office) against FEHD, alleging delay in
handling the water dripping problem.

262. According to the operational guidelines of FEHD, if no one
answers the door on a first visit for inspection of a suspected dripping
air-conditioner, DEHO officers should issue a Notice of Appointment to
ask the occupants to contact DEHO. In case of no response from the
occupants, the officers should visit the premises again within seven
working days after issuance of the Notice of Appointment. If the officers
still cannot enter the premises on the second visit, they should issue a
Notice of Intended Entry to the occupants. The guidelines also stipulate
that the officers should as far as possible conduct inspections at the time
of water dripping alleged by the person making the complaint.

263. On 17 September 2015, a DEHO officer contacted the
complainant and the property management agent of his housing estate
(the PMA), and learnt that the dripping problem mainly occurred
between 7 pm and 12 midnight and that an upper floor flat (Flat X) was
probably the source of the problem. On 23 September, DEHO issued an
advisory letter to Flat X, reminding the occupants to check the
air-conditioner. Between 17 September and 6 November, DEHO officers
went to Flat X many times but no one was at home The officers did not
find water dripping during those visits. DEHO then issued a total of three
Notices of Appointment to the occupants of Flat X. In late November, the
occupants of Flat X contacted DEHO, undertaking to check their
air-conditioner and have the problem fixed before using it again.
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The Ombudsman’s observations

264.  FEHD explained to the Office that DEHO officers actively
followed up on the water dripping problem, but they encountered
difficulties in their investigation, namely that the suspected source of
dripping was somewhere in the building’s light well, lights were too dim
for inspection at night, lines of sight were obstructed, and the occupants
of Flat X were seldom at home. Since neither DEHO officers nor PMA
staff had witnessed any water dripping from the air-conditioner of Flat X
or nuisance caused to the lower floors, there was insufficient evidence for
taking further enforcement action, such as issuing a statutory Nuisance
Notice to Flat X. However, FEHD admitted that the progress of
investigation was affected by the failure of DEHO officers in issuing a
Notice of Intended Entry in a timely manner in accordance with the
guidelines.

265.  The Office found clear inadequacies on the part of DEHO
officers in handling the water dripping complaint, including their failure
to issue a Notice of Intended Entry in a timely manner. Furthermore,
while DEHO officers had already learnt from the complainant that the
water dripping problem mainly occurred between evening and midnight,
they conducted investigation repeatedly in the morning or afternoon
nonetheless. Consequently, they were unable to ascertain the source of
water dripping despite time and efforts spent. The way DEHO conducted
investigation was far from satisfactory.

266. The Ombudsman considered this complaint partially
substantiated and recommended that FEHD —

(@) step up staff training and remind officers from time to time that
they should adhere strictly to operational guidelines when
handling complaints about water dripping from air-conditioners;
and

(b) be on the lookout for water dripping from the air-conditioner of

Flat X next summer and take decisive enforcement action to
prevent further nuisance to the complainant.
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Government’s response

267.  FEHD accepted The Ombudsman’s recommendations and has
taken the following follow-up actions.

268.  Regarding recommendation (a), the Training Section of FEHD
enhanced training for newly-recruited law enforcement officers in
handling investigation of water dripping from air-conditioners. Officers
shared experience gained from investigation of different cases, and
reminded new recruits to adhere to the departmental operational
guidelines when handling such cases. In addition, FEHD reminded
supervising officers concerned to strengthen the monitoring of frontline
staff’s performance and give appropriate guidance to ensure strict
adherence to relevant guidelines. Frontline staff was also encouraged to
take the initiative to discuss with their supervisors any difficulties or
problematic cases, in order to work out a proper solution and avoid delay
in handling complaints.

269.  Regarding recommendation (b), FHED learnt in early 2016 from
the PMA that Flat X had changed hands and the new owner had been
informed of the water dripping complaint. FEHD was later informed
that the renovation works at Flat X were completed in early May 2016.
On 6 May 2016, FEHD contacted the new owner and was told that a new
air-conditioner had been installed in the living/dining room of Flat X,
After conducting site inspection and testing, FEHD confirmed that there
was no water dripping from the new air-conditioner. On 17 May 2016,
FEHD informed the complainant of its follow-up action and the testing
result. According to the complainant, there was no water dripping from
air-conditioner as at 24 June 2016. The complainant was advised to
inform FEHD immediately for follow up if the water dripping problem
resumed.
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Food and Environmental Hygiene Department

Case No. 2015/4490 — Ineffective enforcement action against the
retractable canopies of two hawker food stalls

Background

270.  The complainant had lodged an earlier complaint with the Office
of The Ombudsman (the Office) against the Food and Environmental
Hygiene Department (FEHD) in August 2013, alleging that two
fixed-pitch cooked food stalls (the Stalls) next to the complainant’s shop
had erected a row of canopies that impeded the dispersion of cooking
fume. FEHD failed to take appropriate action against the problem (the
Canopy Problem). On 24 February 2014, the Office completed
investigation and pointed out that according to the advice of the
Department of Justice, FEHD could take enforcement action against the
canopies of the Stalls by invoking section 48 of the Hawker Regulation
(the Regulation). At that time, the Office urged FEHD to take
enforcement action against the Canopy Problem as soon as possible.

271.  The complainant lodged this complaint with the Office in
November 2015, alleging that the canopies had not been removed. The
workers at the Stalls simply folded up the canopies upon inspection by
FEHD staff, and extended them again after FEHD staff left. The
Canopy Problem remained unsolved. On 19 August 2015, the
complainant complained to FEHD about this problem again, but no
substantive reply was received, and the canopies were not removed.
The complainant was dissatisfied with FEHD’s failure to follow up the
Canopy Problem properly.

The Ombudsman’s observations

272.  According to records, FEHD had been following up the Canopy
Problem, including taking follow-up and enforcement actions in response
to the complaint, and informing the complainant of the results. That
said, the Canopy Problem persisted, showing that FEHD’s enforcement
lacked deterrence and that operators of the Stalls blatantly disregarded the
law.
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273.  The Office took the view that even though FEHD could not
remove the canopies due to limitations of the legislation, as the licensing
authority, it has the duty to exercise statutory power to regulate
malpractices of licensees. In response to the persistent breaches by the
Stalls, FEHD should be able to invoke section 125 of the Public Health
and Municipal Services Ordinance (the Ordinance) to suspend or even
revoke the licences of the Stalls to solve the Canopy Problem completely.
However, FEHD refused to exercise that statutory power on the ground
that the case in question was not covered by the current Demerit Points
System. The decision of FEHD was deemed inflexible. The Office
opined that FEHD should not allow serious malpractices to continue
without making its best efforts to rectify the situation.

274.  The Ombudsman considered the complaint against FEHD
partially substantiated, and recommended that FEHD should continue to
monitor the situation closely. If the breaches by the Stalls persisted,
FEHD should actively consider invoking section 125 of the Ordinance to
suspend or even revoke their licences, and amend the Demerit Points
System as appropriate if circumstances so warrant.

Government’s response
275.  FEHD accepted The Ombudsman’s recommendation.

276.  FEHD has all along been following up the complainant’s case
and taking appropriate enforcement actions against the breaches by the
Stalls, including inspection and prosecution. In response to The
Ombudsman’s recommendation, FEHD stepped up efforts in gathering
evidence and submitted malpractice records of the Stalls for the court’s
consideration of imposing heavier penalty. Application had also been
made to the court for imposing a daily fine under section 56 of the
Regulation.

277.  After stepping up the enforcement actions, FEHD found no
further use of the canopies by the Stalls between July 2016 and July 2017.
FEHD would continue to monitor the situation of the Stalls and take
action as appropriate. If the situation does not improve, FEHD would
consider exercising the statutory power conferred by relevant ordinances
to strengthen enforcement and reinforce the deterrent effect.
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Food and Environmental Hygiene Department

Case No. 2015/5330(1) — (1) Failing to provide the complainant with
complete information about relocation of a refuse collection point; (2)
failing to contact the complainant to clarify the scope of his
information request; (3) delay in responding to the complainant’s
subsequent request for information; (4) failing to provide the
complainant with the list of individuals/organisations consulted and
consultation result when providing him with the consultation paper;
(5) including information not requested by the complainant; and (6)
advising the complainant to approach the Lands Department for
information which was in fact also held by the Food and
Environmental Hygiene Department.

Background

278.  According to the complainant, he applied to the Food and
Environmental Hygiene Department (FEHD) in writing on 3 November
2015 for information about relocation of a refuse collection point (the
RCP) (e.g. documents on the application, consultation, notices, land grant,
boundary coordinates, environmental assessment, justifications for site
selection, relevant emails, etc.) according to the Code on Access to
Information (the Code). On the same day, he called the Access to
Information Officer (AlO) of FEHD, clearly indicating that he wished to
obtain all information relevant to the relocation of the RCP. The AIO
said that an FEHD officer would contact him to clarify the scope of
information requested. However, no officer contacted him subsequently.

279.  On 12 November, FEHD replied to the complainant in writing
that it would provide him with a copy of the consultation paper for the
consultation on relocation of the RCP conducted by the District Office
(DO) upon FEHD’s request in 2013 (the 2013 Consultation). Upon
receipt of the relevant fee, FEHD provided the complainant with the said
document on 16 November.

280.  The next day, the complainant wrote to the AlIO to express his
dissatisfaction over the fact that no FEHD officer contacted him and that
only the consultation paper was provided to him. He requested the AlIO
to urge FEHD officer to provide him with all the information he
requested as soon as possible. However, the complainant did not receive
FEHD’s reply dated 24 December until 29 December.
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281. FEHD stated in its reply letter dated 24 December that in
response to his further request for information relating to the relocation of
the RCP, FEHD, after consideration, would provide him with copies of
the consultation list and result of the 2013 Consultation, as well as copies
of the consultation paper, consultation list and result of another
consultation conducted by DO upon request by the Lands Department
(LandsD) in 2014 (the 2014 Consultation).

282.  As for the documents on boundary coordinates and land grant of
the RCP, since such information was under the possession of LandsD,
FEHD advised the complainant to raise a separate request to LandsD.

283.  With respect to FEHD’s emails relating to relocation of the RCP,
FEHD was of the view that the emails could not be provided to the
complainant on the grounds that the information involved internal
discussions of the Government, disclosure of which would compromise
candid exchange of views within the Government and with stakeholders.
For reasons stated in paragraph 2.10 of the Code, FEHD refused to
provide the complainant with such information.

284.  The complainant lodged a complaint with the Office of the
Ombudsman (the Office) against FEHD, alleging that —

(@) the information provided by FEHD about relocation of the RCP
was incomplete; in particular, the documents on the land grant,
boundary coordinates, environmental assessment, justifications
for site selection and relevant emails were not included;

(b) FEHD officers failed to contact him to clarify the scope of
information requested as promised by the AlO;

(c) FEHD delayed replying to him after receiving his letter of
17 November 2015;

(d) FEHD failed to provide him with copies of the consultation list
and result of the 2013 Consultation when providing him with
information in the first instance, thus wasting his time to go to
FEHD’s office again to collect the information;

(e) FEHD later provided him with copies of the consultation paper,
consultation list and result of the 2014 Consultation, but the
consultation was only concerned with the re-tendering of a
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carpark rather than relocation of the RCP. As FEHD had not
clearly explained to him what the information was, he had to pay
an additional fee for the information he had not requested; and

(f) FEHD was able to provide information on the 2014 Consultation,
which obviously belonged to LandsD rather than FEHD. It was
unreasonable for FEHD to advise him to approach LandsD for
documents on the boundary coordinates and land grant of the
RCP to be relocated when FEHD had the same documents.

The Ombudsman’s observations
Allegations (a) and (f)
Documents on land grant and boundary coordinates

285.  FEHD did not deny the possession of documents on land grant
and boundary coordinates of the RCP to be relocated. It did not appear
to the Office that FEHD needed to possess “expertise” to provide the
complainant with such information. FEHD was also unable to explain
why it was concerned that the information it held might be incomplete.
FEHD’s advice to approach LandsD for those documents would leave the
complainant sceptical, even if the advice was given in good faith. The
Office considered that FEHD should have provided the complainant with
the documents on land grant and boundary coordinates it held, and advise
him to further enquire with LandsD if in doubt.

Document on environmental assessment

286.  The Office recognised that it was not possible for FEHD to
provide any document on environmental assessment, since such
document does not exist.

Justifications for site selection and relevant emails

287.  The Office accepted FEHD’s explanation that providing
documents on justifications for site selection and relevant emails, which
set out internal discussion among relevant Government departments,
might compromise candid exchange of views within the Government and
between the Government and various stakeholders in the community,
since participating officers would not have anticipated that their views
would be made public later on. As such, the Office agreed that
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paragraph 2.10 of the Code was applicable to the said documents and
emails.

288. FEHD further explained that while it was inappropriate for
FEHD to disclose to the complainant the documents on the justifications
for site selection, FEHD did inform the complainant of the reasons for
and the process of selecting the site in a letter to him on 18 January 2016.
The Office considered that FEHD had given the complainant an account
of the justifications for the site selection in the spirit of the Code.

Other Issues

289.  According to paragraph 2.1 of the Code, a government
department must give an account of the reason(s) set out in the Code on
which a refusal to disclose information is based. The Office noted that in
its initial reply to the complainant’s request, FEHD did not explain its
reason(s) for not providing some of the information requested. This was
contrary to the requirement of the Code.

290.  The Ombudsman considered both allegations (a) and (f) partially
substantiated.

Allegation (b)

291. FEHD staff failed to contact the complainant as promised to
clarify the scope of information requested at the initial stage. It was not
until the complainant requested other relevant information that FEHD
finally re-processed his request, causing inconvenience to the
complainant. The Ombudsman considered allegation (b) substantiated.

Allegation (c)

292.  Apart from paragraph 1.16 of the Code invoked by FEHD,
paragraph 1.18 of the Code states that the maximum time frame for
government departments in response to an information request is 51 days.
That was the exact interval between 3 November 2015 and 24 December
2015 when the complainant made an information request to and received
a final reply from FEHD respectively in this case.

293.  However, according to paragraph 1.18 of the Code and

paragraph 1.18.1 of the Guidelines on Interpretation and Application of

the Code, a response to an information request may be deferred beyond

21 days only in exceptional circumstances (such as the need to seek legal
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advice or search extensively for files) and the reason for taking a longer
time to respond should be given to the complainant. In this case, after
receiving the complainant’s letter on 17 November 2015, FEHD did not
enquire of DO and the District Land Office (DLO) as to whether the
information could be disclosed to the complainant until 26 November and
9 December respectively. An obvious delay was involved. The Office
considered that there was no reasonable excuse for FEHD to take 51 days
to address an information request. Worse still, FEHD, during the
process, failed to explain to the complainant in accordance with the Code
why such a long time was required.

294.  The Ombudsman considered allegation (c) substantiated.
Allegation (d)

295.  The complainant did not clearly express in his Application for
Access to Information his desire for access to the consultation list and
consultation result.  So it was not unreasonable for FEHD not to provide
him with the consultation list and result along with the consultation paper.
The Ombudsman considered allegation (d) unsubstantiated.

296.  However, if FEHD had contacted the complainant as soon as
possible after receiving his application to clarify the scope of information
requested, the regrettable situation of having to re-process the
complainant’s request and wasting the complaintant’s time on obtaining
additional information from FEHD could have been avoided.

Allegation (e)

297.  The 2014 Consultation paper showed that LandsD had conducted
the consultation on retendering the short-term tenancy of a carpark in
response to FEHD’s proposal to relocate the RCP into that carpark. As
such, the 2014 Consultation documents were actually information
relevant to the relocation of the RCP, thus falling within the scope of the
complainant’s initial request in his Application for Access to Information.
The Office observed no malpractice on the part of FEHD in providing
such information to the complainant. The Ombudsman considered
allegation (e) unsubstantiated.

298.  That said, there was room for improvement in FEHD’s handling

of the case. If FEHD had explained the relevance of the 2014

Consultation documents to the complainant, rather than simply referring

to the 2014 Consultation as “the consultation conducted by DO as
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requested by DLO in 2014”, the complainant would be able to decide
whether he would like to obtain a copy of the documents and the outcome
of him receiving unwanted documents could be avoided.

299. The Ombudsman considered this complaint partially
substantiated, and recommended that FEHD —

(@) provide the complainant with the relevant documents on land
grant and boundary coordinates if he still requires them;

(b) remind staff to clearly state the reason(s) set out in the Code on
which a refusal to disclose information is based in future;

(c) contact applicants as soon as possible in case it is necessary to
clarify the scope of information requested;

(d) instruct staff to comply with the procedures and requirements set
out in the Code and handle public requests for information as
soon as possible, which includes, during the process, explaining
to the public the reason(s) behind the long lead time for
processing the request; and

(e) learn from the incident and make it clear to applicants the nature
and content of the document(s) to be provided in future, so that
applicants can decide whether to accept the document(s) or not.

Government’s response

300.  FEHD accepted The Ombudsman’s recommendations.
Recommendation (a)

301. FEHD wrote to the complainant on 1 August 2016 and provided
him with the documents on land grant and boundary coordinates.

According to records, the complainant collected the relevant documents
on 16 August 2016.
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Recommendations (b), (c), (d) and (e)

302. FEHD has informed its staff of the contents and
recommendations of the Office’s Report and reminded them to adhere to
the procedures and requirements laid down in the Code, as well as The
Ombudsman’s recommendations.

303.  FEHD had all along provided the reference materials relating to
the Code including the Guidelines on Interpretation and Application,
procedures in handling information requests and precedent cases etc. for
staff reference and compliance. Apart from that, FEHD would enhance
staff' training in handling information requests.
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Food and Environmental Hygiene Department

Case No. 2015/5345 — (1) Failing to take effective measures to tackle
the noise problem at the loading area of a market; (2) failing to reply
to the complainant; and (3) impropriety in setting an email auto reply
when officers were on leave

Background

304.  There was a market managed by the Food and Environmental
Hygiene Department (the Market) in the complainant’s residing estate.
In late 2013, the Architecture Services Department (ArchSD) carried out
renovation works for the loading and unloading platform (the Platform) in
the Market, including laying of metal plates. Subsequently, these metal
plates produced noise when market stall operators used the Platform to
transfer goods. The noise was particularly loud around 4:00 a.m.,
causing a serious nuisance to the complainant (the noise problem).

305.  In early 2014, through the property management office of his
housing estate (the PMO), the complainant lodged a complaint with
FEHD about the noise problem. On 21 January 2015, ArchSD
conducted improvement works for noise abatement.

306.  The complainant lodged his initial complaint with the Office of
The Ombudsman (the Office) against FEHD and ArchSD in January 2015,
claiming that FEHD had delayed handling the noise problem and ArchSD
had been negligent in designing and testing the Platform, thus failing to
avoid or solve the noise problem in a timely manner.

307.  After completing the investigation, the Office wrote to inform
the complainant of the findings on 20 April 2015, reporting that —

(@) the relevant District Environmental Hygiene Office (DEHO)
under FEHD and ArchSD had followed up the noise problem by
carpeting the Platform, studying ways to reduce noise, meeting
with market stall operators, putting up notices to remind users of
the Platform to avoid causing noise and moving the carpets as
far as possible. The case had also been referred to the
Environmental Protection Department (EPD);
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(b)

(©)

(d)

308.

in January 2015, EPD measured the noise level at the flat below
the complainant’s. The result showed that the noise level did
not exceed the statutory standard,;

the Platform was built in 2005, but the noise problem did not
arise until early 2014. There was no sign that the noise
problem was caused by the faulty design of the Platform; and

the Office had urged DEHO to closely monitor the noise
problem and take necessary action, so that nearby residents
would no longer be subject to noise nuisance caused by the
Platform.

Between 30 November 2015 and 3 January 2016, the

complainant wrote to the Office again to complain against FEHD about
the noise problem, alleging that —

(@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

(€)

FEHD had not permanently “covered the entire unloading
platform” with floor mats as promised, and ignored his request
for taking “immediate remedial measures against the noise
problem” by the department;

the “noise insulation materials” (i.e. the floor mats) purchased by
FEHD failed to solve the noise problem effectively;

FEHD failed to monitor the Platform and allowed users of the
Platform to move the floor mats freely;

the complainant sent an email to FEHD on 19 January 2015.
FEHD responded that a substantive reply would be given within
30 days. However, no such reply was made; and

on 31 December 2015, the complainant sent an email to an
FEHD officer (Officer A) and received an autoreply that read
“Officer A is out of office. For urgent matters, please contact
Officer A’s supervisor (Officer B)”. He then sent an email to
Officer B and received a similar autoreply that read “Officer B is
out of office. For urgent matters, please contact Officer A”.
He was of the view that such an arrangement hindered
communication with FEHD staff.

87



The Ombudsman’s observations
Allegations (a), (b) and (c)

309. FEHD took follow-up actions to deal with all the complaints
about the noise problem, including seeking advice from ArchSD,
arranging works to be conducted, placing carpets or floor mats, reminding
market stall operators and loading platform users to avoid causing noise
as far as possible, putting up advisory notices, conducting inspections, as
well as referring the cases to EPD and the Police.

310.  The Office understood that the complainant was distressed due to
the noise problem. However, the noise level in both the complainant’s
flat and the flat below, as confirmed by EPD in January 2015 and January
2016 respectively, did not exceed the standard limit.

311.  The Office was of the view that FEHD had indeed taken proper
steps and measures to handle the noise problem.

Allegation (d)

312.  FEHD kept the PMO informed of its follow-up actions on the
noise problem and corresponding results all along. The information was
then relayed to the complainant. Since December 2015, FEHD had
replied to the complainant and the PMO separately concerning the
follow-up actions on the noise problem.

313.  As regards the emails the complainant sent to FEHD on
19 January and 31 December 2015, it was true that FEHD did not contact
the complainant directly. However, it was possible for the complainant
to learn about FEHD’s follow-up actions and their results from the PMO.
The error did not cause much inconvenience to the complainant.

Allegation (e)

314.  The complaint made by the complainant on 31 December 2015
had in fact been followed up by another FEHD officer, who already
issued an interim reply to the complainant. The complainant could have
contacted FEHD staff according to the information provided in the
interim reply. Officer A and B’s error in making communication
arrangements only caused limited inconvenience to the complainant.
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315.  The Ombudsman considered this complaint against FEHD
partially substantiated, and urged FEHD to remind the staff concerned to
make improvement with regard to allegation (e) on poor communication
arrangement.

Government’s response

316. FEHD accepted The Ombudsman’s recommendation and has
informed the staff concerned of the findings and recommendation of the
Office’s report. The staff has been reminded to improve the contact
arrangements when setting an email auto reply and to contact
complainants in a timely manner in accordance with the departmental
guidelines.
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Food and Environmental Hygiene Department

Case No. 2016/0051 — (1) Failing to give substantive reply in a timely
manner when handling a complaint about an unlicensed food
business; and (2) failing to take effective enforcement actions

Background

317.  The owners’ corporation of a building (the complainant) had
lodged a complaint with the Food and Environmental Hygiene
Department (FEHD) about the sale of lunch boxes without a licence at a
shop (Shop A) in the building. The complainant complained to the Office
of The Ombudsman that FEHD neither gave a substantive reply to the
complainant nor took any effective enforcement action against Shop A.
As a result, the problem persisted.

318.  According to FEHD’s operational guidelines, all complaints
should be handled promptly. Within 10 calendar days after receipt of a
complaint, the case officer should provide a substantive reply or, if that is
not possible, give an interim reply to the complainant. Within 30 calendar
days after the interim reply, the case officer should give a substantive
reply. Where the case is complex and requires more time to process, the
case officer should inform the complainant of progress, review the case
regularly (at least once a month) and issue further interim replies if
necessary. Meanwhile, supervising officers should monitor the progress
of handling the complaint.

319. FEHD’s local District Environmental Hygiene Office (DEHO)
first received the complainant’s complaint in August 2015. About two
weeks later, DEHO managed to contact the complainant and promised to
take follow-up action. DEHO then conducted inspections but failed to
gather sufficient evidence to prove the operation of unlicensed food
business at Shop A. The complainant complained to FEHD again in
October 2015, pointing out that the food business in question operated
between 11 am and 3 pm. Eventually in mid-February 2016, during an
inspection, DEHO staff found Shop A’s shop attendants collecting
money from customers and so prosecuted the shop immediately for
operating unlicensed food business.
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The Ombudsman’s observations

320. The Office noted that after receiving the complainant’s first
complaint, DEHO had, in the first two weeks, merely given a verbal
interim reply without issuing any written reply. DEHO only wrote to
inform the complainant of progress 40 days after receiving the first
complaint. When the complainant complained again, DEHO took more
than three months to issue a written reply, though this time a written
interim reply was issued within 10 calendar days. While DEHO had
informed the complainant of progress by telephone, it had failed to
adhere to the Department’s guidelines.

321.  Moreover, the initial inspection by DEHO was not conducted
within the business hours of Shop A. Hence despite multiple inspections,
DEHO staff could not gather any evidence to prove the operation of
unlicensed food business at Shop A. It was only after the Office
intervened in January 2016 that DEHO conducted inspections within the
business hours indicated by the complainant.

322.  The Ombudsman considered this complaint partially
substantiated and urged FEHD to -

(a) take reference from this complaint case and remind DEHOs to
pay more heed to the information on timing provided by
complainants when investigating similar cases; and

(b) remind from time to time all staff to follow the departmental
operational guidelines in issuing written interim replies to
complainants in a timely manner and informing complainants
about the outcome of follow-up actions.

Government’s response

323. FEHD accepted The Ombudsman’s recommendations and has
taken the following follow-up actions.

324.  Regarding the handling of complaints, as provided in the relevant

operational guidelines set out in FEHD’s Administrative Circular No.

3/2015 “Handling of Complaints”, investigation of complaints should be

based on the information (including time of occurrence) provided by

complainants, and interim reply/further interim reply/substantive reply

should be issued to the complainant in a timely manner. The District
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Secretaries of FEHD DEHOs arrange re-circulation of the administrative
circular every six months to remind staff to follow the operational
guidelines in handling complaints.

325. Moreover, in response to The Ombudsman’s recommendations,
the FEHD Headquarters advised DEHOs via email on 22 July 2016 that
the management should regularly remind their staff to act in accordance
with the departmental operational guidelines to pay heed to the
information on timing provided by complainants when conducting on-site
investigations, and to inform complainants about the latest position of the
cases in a timely manner.
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Food and Environmental Hygiene Department

Case No. 2016/0430 — Ineffective control of obstructions caused by
stalls in a market

Background

326.  According to the complainant, over the years some stalls at a
market (the Market) constantly put their goods beyond the yellow lines at
their stalls, obstructing the passageways and affecting the access of
wheelchair users and ambulancemen carrying stretcher (the obstruction
problem). The complainant lodged a complaint with the Office of The
Ombudsman (the Office), alleging that the Food and Environmental
Hygiene Department (FEHD) and its contractor responsible for the
management of the market concerned (the Contractor) had failed to
exercise effective monitoring and ignored the obstruction problem.

The Ombudsman’s observations

327.  FEHD and the Contractor had taken some actions to address the
obstruction problem. However, stall operators continued to put their
goods beyond the yellow lines at their stalls, occupying the common
areas and obstructing the passageways.

328.  The Office conducted inspections at the Market in February 2016,
and found that —

(a) the Market had a high patronage flow with a number of stalls
placing their goods beyond the yellow lines, which made the
passageways very crowded; and

(b) stall tenants who were operating near two access points to a
particular street and near a road junction next to the access point
to a particular housing estate put their goods at the entrance
lobby and the passageway beyond their stalls, occupying a large
portion of the common area and extending their business spaces
by about 100%. The obstruction was significant.
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329. In May 2016, the complainant provided the Office with photos
dated April and May 2016, which showed that the obstruction problem
continued after the Office’s inspection.

330. FEHD set up a market squad dedicated to combating passage
obstruction in May 2016, so as to step up actions against the obstruction
problem in markets. Between June and July 2016, the market squad
increased blitz enforcement operations at the Market in a targeted manner
and instigated a total of 30 prosecutions against stall operators causing
obstruction therein. FEHD would strictly enforced the policy of
termination of tenancies towards recalcitrant stall operators. The
obstruction problem was alleviated after a series of operations by FEHD.

331.  The Office observed the following —

(@) when the obstruction problem was found during daily inspection
at the Market, the Contractor’s staff might issue a verbal warning
to the stall operator in question and request immediate
rectification of the problem, but they were not in a position to
take prosecution action;

(b) FEHD officers, on the other hand, could take prosecution action
against stall operators who were found obstructing passageways
during blitz prosecution actions;

(c) from the information provided by FEHD, the Office found that
FEHD officers or the Contractor’s staff issued verbal advice and
warning to the stall operators in question every day, requesting
them to rectify the obstruction problem. It was evident that
these operators caused the obstruction problem very frequently;

(d) between July 2015 and January 2016, FEHD conducted a total of
10 blitz prosecution actions, i.e. an average of 1.4 actions per
month, but instigated only 70 prosecutions against the
widespread obstruction problem which happened every day; and

(e) it was not until May 2016 that FEHD set up the market squad to
step up blitz enforcement operations at the Market. Subsequently,
30 prosecutions were instigated against stall operators
obstructing passageways within two months.
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332.  The number of prosecutions instigated against offending stall
operators by FEHD was generally low in the past, letting of operators
who ignored the “yellow line restriction”. The persistent occupation of
common areas by these operators not only caused the obstruction problem,
but also created unfair competition to law-abiding stall operators. If all
stall operators were to follow the offending stall operators, the
obstruction problem would become all the more severe. Fortunately, after
intervention by the Office, FEHD set up the market squad in May 2016 to
step up blitz enforcement operations.

333.  The Ombudsman considered the complaint partially
substantiated, and urged FEHD to —

(a) continue to step up enforcement action (including increasing the
number of blitz prosecution actions); and

(b) strictly enforce the policy of termination of tenancies towards
recalcitrant stall operators to deter future non-compliance.

Government’s response

334. FEHD accepted The Ombudsman’s recommendations. Apart
from regularly reminding stall operators to observe the relevant
legislation and tenancy terms, FEHD has also stepped up enforcement
action (including increasing the number of blitz prosecution actions) and
strictly enforced the policy of termination of tenancies towards
recalcitrant stall operators. These measures would be taken on an
ongoing basis. Moreover, besides FEHD’s district staff, the market
squad would also be deployed to continue combating the obstruction
problem at the Market.
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Food and Environmental Hygiene Department

Case No. 2016/1199 — Unreasonably refusing to provide information
on the seating capacities of two restaurants

Background

335.  The complainant filed a complaint concerning the overcrowding
conditions of a restaurant (Restaurant A) with the Food and
Environmental Hygiene Department (FEHD) in late December 2015. In
late January 2016, the complainant called an FEHD officer to inquire
about the licensed seating capacity of Restaurant A. In reply, the officer
said that as advised by the Department of Justice, such information
needed not be disclosed. On 7 April, in reply to a complaint filed by the
same complainant against a different restaurant (Restaurant B) in
February, another FEHD officer said that the department did not keep
seating capacity information of restaurants.

336.  The complainant understood that in processing an application for
a restaurant licence, FEHD needed to determine whether the number of
water-closet compartments and the capacity of the exhaust system in the
restaurant were sufficient; both items of information are relevant to the
seating capacity of a restaurant. Therefore, he believed that FEHD kept
seating capacity information of restaurants, and thus complained to the
Office of The Ombudsman (the Office) that FEHD unreasonably refused
to provide him with the information he requested.

The Ombudsman’s observations

337.  FEHD did not lay down requirements on the maximum number
of customers a restaurant can accommodate when granting a restaurant
licence. Moreover, the Buildings Department did not request FEHD to
limit the number of customers to be accommodated in Restaurants A and
B identified by the complainant.

338.  The number of water-closet compartments confines the number

of customers a restaurant can accommodate, lest the facilities be

insufficient for use. However, this only limits the number of customers

to a loose range, and it would be inappropriate to regard such range as

representation of the seating capacity of a restaurant. As for the exhaust
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system, the number of customers it can accommodate varies as the
capacity of the system can be adjusted.

339.  The Office opined that FEHD was not making an unreasonable
claim when it informed the complainant that seating capacity information
of restaurants was not available.

340.  The Ombudsman considered the complaint unsubstantiated, and
recommended that FEHD provide detailed explanations as far as possible
when answering similar public enquiries in future to avoid queries.
Government’s response

341. FEHD accepted The Ombudsman’s recommendation and had

reminded the officers concerned to give detailed explanations as far as
possible when answering similar public enquiries in future.
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Food and Environmental Hygiene Department

Case No. 2016/1487A(1) — (1) Staff omission on the water seepage
during the confirmatory test; (2) failing to follow procedures in
conducting the test; (3) failing to ensure the tenant of the flat above
had carried out proper maintenance; (4) failing to bring the
requested documents to the complainant; (5) unreasonably
requesting the complainant to obtain his complaint record under the
requirement of the Code on Access to Information; (6) poor staff
attitude; and (7) improperly disclosing the details of his complaint
case

Background

342.  The complainant claimed that the Joint Offices for Investigation
of Water Seepage Complaints (JO) set up by the Food and Environmental
Hygiene Department (FEHD) and the Buildings Department had made a
number of mistakes in handling water seepage problem in the flat of the
complainant’s relative (Flat A). JO informed the complainant in writing
on 21 March 2016 that the consultant appointed by JO conducted a
follow-up investigation at Flat A on 13 January 2016, in which the source
of seepage could not be identified because the colour dye used in the
colour water test conducted on 23 December 2015 was not found. JO
would take no further follow-up action on his case.

343.  The complainant lodged a complaint with the Office of The
Ombudsman (the Office), alleging 12 inadequacies on the part of JO —

(@) the complainant provided a photo taken on 13 January 2016 that
showed the appearance of colour dye and alleged that the JO
officer concerned disregarded the presence of colour dye;

Procedures of the water seepage investigation
(b) JO gave no explanation as to why its staff had failed to follow
the instructions set out in the JO training materials about the

amount and dilution method of colour dye when they conducted
the water colour test at the drainage pipe in the bathroom;
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(©)

(d)

JO officers measured the moisture content of the guest
bathroom’s ceiling at Flat A on 18 December 2014 and 6
February 2015. Different areas were measured on the two days
and a dryer area was measured on the second occasion, the
complainant deemed the selective measurement inappropriate;

the complainant suspected that JO took no action to ensure the
execution of effective repair after issuing a ‘“Nuisance Notice”
(NN) to the flat above Flat A (Flat B);

Complaints against JO staff

(€)

(f)

(@)

on 29 October 2015, the complainant, relying on the Code on
Access to Information (the Code), requested JO to provide the
colour photos taken at Flat A during the water seepage
investigation. The complainant contacted JO to ask about the
progress on 11, 17, 20 and 24 November 2015 since he received
no reply to his request. On 24 November 2015 in the afternoon,
JO sent an email to the complainant, attached was a reply letter
dated 9 November 2015. The complainant doubted the
integrity of the JO officer involved in backdating the letter;

on 11 December 2014, the complainant contacted JO through
1823 to complain about water seepage found on Flat A’s ceiling
and window frames and request, for the purpose of answering
the complainant’s enquiries, the JO officer conducting on-site
investigation in Flat A to bring along the case file on his earlier
complaint. On 18 December 2014, a JO officer (Officer A)
went to Flat A to conduct investigation but did not bring the case
file as requested by the complainant. Officer A was thus unable
to answer the complainant’s enquires;

as Officer A did not bring the case file to Flat A, the complainant
called to enquire of Officer A and Officer A’s supervisor (Officer
B) respectively. The complainant claimed that Officer B
displayed a poor attitude, including unreasonably replying that it
was unnecessary to check the date of the complainant’s case,
giving an unreasonable explanation about JO’s failure to resend
the letter, refusing to verbally reply to the complainant’s
enquiries, restricting the complainant to obtaining information
by application in writing and failing to show up and meet with
the complainant in person immediately. In addition, Officer B
also gave unclear instructions to a subordinate;
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(h)

(i)

()

(k)

()

344,
at Flat A on 13 January 2016. No colour dye used in the confirmatory
test was found at the seepage spots (i.e. the ceiling and external wall of
the guest bathroom). JO was not aware that colour dye appeared on the
window frames of Flat A’s guest bathroom on that day.

the complainant went to JO and met with Officer A and another
staff member (Officer C), and complained that Officer A did not
bring the case file as promised to Flat A on 18 December 2014.
Officer A replied that it was the decision of Officer B. The
complainant requested Officer A to provide relevant 1823
referral records.  Officer A told the complainant to fill in an
application form as the complainant was required to request for
the records from JO under the Code. The complainant
considered Officer A’s reply unreasonable;

Officer C demonstrated poor attitude during the interview,
including unreasonably telling the complainant to stop his hand
tremors, falsely claiming not to know passing-by staff who
looked at the complainant, behaving in an arrogant manner,
taunting the complainant, etc.;

in its reply to the complainant dated 6 April 2016, JO mentioned
that an officer (Officer D) had read the “witness statement” of
Officer C. However, it was in fact an “incident report”, not a
“witness statement”. The complainant was dissatisfied that
Officer D made an incorrect remark;

JO staff had disclosed information of the complainant’s case
(including audio recording made by JO staff) to staff of the
FEHD not responsible for handling this case; and

on 1 December 2015, the complainant went to JO’s office
located at an FEHD district office to collect requested case
information. When waiting, he heard threatening remarks from
the office’s changing room and was of the view that those
remarks were addressed to him.

The Ombudsman’s observations

Allegation (a) - JO Officers disregarded the colour dye

According to JO, its staff and consultant reviewed the test result
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345.  The Office took the view that while the complainant provided a
photo showing colour dye on the bathroom’s window frames, that area
was not the original seepage spot. It was not surprising that JO staff did
not notice the colour dye on that day if the complainant had not pointed it
out. The Ombudsman considered allegation (a) unsubstantiated.

Allegation (b) - no explanation given as to why JO staff failed to conduct
the test in accordance with the training materials

346.  The Office pointed out upon completion of the investigation of a
previous complaint lodged by the complainant (OMB 2014/2094) that JO
admitted its staff had failed to conduct the colour water test in accordance
with training materials. The Office opined that JO had provided an
explanation to the complainant by admitting responsibility.

347.  The Office learned from JO that due to inadvertence, the staff
concerned failed to follow the amount and dilution method of colour dye
as set out in the training materials when conducting the colour water test.
As the mistake was unintentional, a further detailed explanation was
unnecessary. Allegation (b) was unsubstantiated.

Allegation (c) - an area with lower moisture content level was measured

348.  JO stated that its officer chose to measure the moisture content at
the affected area of the ceiling. Although the areas measured on
6 February 2015 and 18 December 2014 were different, both test results
showed that the water seepage problem persisted, hence the investigation
result having not been affected. The Ombudsman accepted JO’s
explanation and considered allegation (c) unsubstantiated.

Allegation (d) - no action taken to ensure that the upper flat’s owner
would carry out effective repair

349.  On 23 April 2014, an NN demanding repair of the drainage pipe
of the guest bathroom’s bath tub was issued by JO to Flat B’s owner.
On 13 June 2014, JO noticed that the drainage pipe concerned had been
replaced. On 5 August 2014, the JO officer went to Flat A to measure
the moisture content, and found that the area affected by water seepage
was dry with no further nuisance.
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350.  Given that the drainage pipe had been replaced and that the
seepage area was dry, the JO officer was satisfied that effective repair had
been carried out by Flat B’s owner. The Office considered this
conclusion reasonable. Should the seepage problem resurface, JO
would take follow-up action accordingly.

351.  On 7 October 2015, JO issued another NN requiring Flat B to
repair the enclosing walls of the guest bathroom’s bath tub. On
19 October, JO confirmed that the sides of the bath tub concerned had
been covered with new waterproofing material. On 17 November, JO
officer measured the moisture content in Flat A, and found that the
moisture level was still over 35% at the affected area. JO then
conducted a confirmatory test in Flat B on 23 December. The test result
was reviewed on 13 January 2016 and no colour dye was found in Flat A.
As all possible non-destructive tests had been conducted and the source
of water seepage was still unidentified, JO had no choice but to suspend
the investigation.

352.  As illustrated above, JO did not accept repairs at Flat B to be
effective simply because the sides of the bath tub had been covered with
new waterproofing material. Instead, JO reviewed the test result on
13 January 2016 and found no colour dye in Flat A. The Office
considered the test result of “no colour dye found” sufficient proof of
effective repair.

353.  The Ombudsman considered allegation (d) unsubstantiated.
Allegation (e) - falsification malpractice of JO officer

354. JO received the complainant’s request for information on
29 October 2015. On 9 November, the JO officer who handled the
request informed the complainant in writing that the information was
ready for collection. On 24 November, the complainant emailed the
same officer to enquire about the outstanding reply. The officer thus
forwarded a copy of the written reply to the complainant through email.

355.  There was no evidence that the officer concerned did not issue
the written reply on 9 November 2015, nor was there evidence that the
copy of the written reply resent on 24 November 2015 by that officer was
a false one. The Ombudsman considered allegation (e) unsubstantiated.
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Allegation (f) - failing to bring the case file requested by the complainant

356.  JO pointed out that there was no mention in 1823’s referral of the
complainant’s request that the case file be brought along during the visit.
JO further explained that to avoid information leak or loss of documents,
staff would not normally bring along case files when working out of the
office. The Ombudsman accepted the above explanation and considered
allegation (f) unsubstantiated.

Allegation (g) - attitude problem of Officer B

357.  Regarding the reply of Officer B that it was unnecessary to check
the date of the complainant’s case, the Office understands that Officer B’s
reply was in response to the complainant’s complaint that Officer A
visited Flat A without bringing the case file. Officer B considered it
unnecessary for Officer A to bring the case file along for verification
purpose when out of the office in order to avoid information leak or loss
of documents.

358.  Officer B explained the failure to resend the letter in that JO
believed it to be more appropriate for the error in the subject of the letter
dated 19 February 2014 to be pointed out and corrected in JO’s letter to
the complainant’s relative dated 4 August 2014 than to revise and resend
the letter dated 19 February 2014. The Office considered Officer B’s
explanation not unreasonable.

359.  As regards Officer B’s refusal to give verbal reply to the
complainant’s enquiries, the reason was that JO had to examine the
complainant’s requests to ensure the accuracy of information provided to
the complainant. JO believed that it was more appropriate for the
complainant to request for the information under the Code. The Office
agreed that JO could better understand each request by the complainant if
the requests were made in writing. It was not unreasonable for JO to
request the complainant to make a written request in this case.

360.  JO explained that Officer B was not able to show up immediately
and meet with the complainant because the visit was unexpected. That
said, JO still arranged for two officers to meet with the complainant.

361.  The Ombudsman was of the view that while what was said by
Officer B could have been presented in a more tactful way, Officer B’s
attitude was not that bad generally. Allegation (g) was unsubstantiated.
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Allegation (h) - unreasonable request for the complainant to apply for
complaint records under the Code

362. JO pointed out that it did not mean to refuse providing the
complainant with relevant complaint records referred by 1823 when it did
not respond immediately to the complainant’s request. It was only that
the responsible officer believed it to be more appropriate for the
complainant to request for the information under the Code.

363.  According to the Code and its Guidelines on Interpretation and
Application, the approach of government departments to release of
information should be positive. In other words, when handling
information requests, relevant departments should work on the basis that
information requested will be released, and should act according to the
Code even if a person does not follow the Code in making the
information request. The Office was of the view that it was not necessary
for JO to require the complainant to follow the procedures set out in the
Code to obtain the complaint records concerned. Allegation (h) was
considered substantiated.

Allegation (i) - attitude problem of Officer C

364.  JO explained that staff from other sections would pass by the
place where Officer C met with the complainant. Officer C did not
know all the staff, and that was why on that day he said he did not know
some individual who passed by. On the other hand, JO was of the view
that the audio recording provided by the complainant did not indicate
attitude problem on the part of Officer C during the interview, though
there was room for improvement in his communication skills. JO had
reminded Officer C in this regard. The Ombudsman agreed with the
comments by JO and considered allegation (i) partially substantiated.

Allegation (j) - incorrect remark by Officer D

365.  JO explained that Officer D’s saying “witness statement” instead
of “incident report” was only an unintentional mistake. What he really
referred to was the statement made by Officer C in respect of a particular
incident. The Ombudsman agreed that the above mistake was minor and
considered allegation (j) unsubstantiated.
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Allegation (k) - improper disclosure of case information

366.  JO pointed out that according to the written report submitted by
the staff concerned, no audio recording had ever been made and no details
of the case had been disclosed to any staff not responsible for handling
this case. As the complainant did not provide any evidence to the Office
to support this allegation, The Ombudsman was unable to reach a
conclusion. Allegation (k) was considered inconclusive.

Allegation (1) - threatening remarks in the changing room

367.  JO stated that the changing room mentioned by the complainant
was shared by a hawker control team of FEHD in the district and the staff
working on that floor. JO had passed the information provided by the
complainant to the District Environmental Hygiene Office concerned for
investigation, but the officer-in-charge could not identify the person who
made the remarks. The Office was of the view that the audio recording
concerned was insufficient to prove that any of JO staff had attempted to
verbally threaten the complainant.  Allegation (I) was considered
unsubstantiated.

Conclusion and recommendation

368. The Ombudsman considered this complaint partially
substantiated and urged JO to remind its staff of the requirements set out
in the Code in light of the problem reflected in allegation (h).

Government’s response

360. FEHD accepted The Ombudsman’s recommendation and had
reminded the staff concerned that when handling information requests,
they should work on the basis that information requested should be
released, and should act according to the Code even if the complainant
did not follow the Code in making the information request. Moreover,
although it was concluded that Officer C did not have any attitude
problem during the interview with the complainant, there was still room
for improvement in his verbal communication skills. JO has reminded
Officer C in this regard.
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Food and Environmental Hygiene Department

Case No. 2016/1827 — Ineffective enforcement action against water
dripping from air-conditioners

Background

370.  According to the complainant, over the years whenever he
passed by a building in a district (Building A) at around 6:45 a.m., he
would find water dripping from the air-conditioners of the flats of
Building A facing a certain road, causing nuisance to passers-by (the
water dripping problem). In April 2016, the water dripping problem
recurred. In early May 2016, he lodged a complaint with FEHD, but the
water dripping problem persisted.

371.  The complainant thus lodged a complaint with the Office of The
Ombudsman (the Office), alleging that FEHD had failed to handle the
water dripping problem properly.

The Ombudsman’s observations

372.  The Office accepted the explanation given by FEHD as to why
the water dripping problem could not be solved completely. Upon
receiving a complaint, FEHD could at best conduct investigation, collect
evidence and require the owners or tenants concerned to make
rectification. Even if the owners or tenants complied by fixing their
air-conditioners, this would only address the symptoms of the problem.
There was no guarantee that the air-conditioners concerned would not
cause the water dripping problem again later on.

373.  FEHD conducted multiple inspections in Building A at different
times. However, the Office noted the following —

(@) the complainant lodged a complaint with FEHD about water
dripping problem as early as 3 May 2016, but FEHD did not
conduct the first on-site inspection during the time the dripping
problem reportedly occurred until 23 May 2016. It also took
some time before FEHD conducted further inspections early in
the morning. This indicated that FEHD failed to address the
water dripping problem in a targeted manner; and
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(b) FEHD found or suspected that the water dripping problem took
place in the early morning (i.e. at the time of occurrence reported
by the complainant) and at dusk, but FEHD conducted
inspections during the morning and afternoon hours and found
no dripping problem. This indicated that FEHD did not make
good use of resources by conducting inspections at the
appropriate time for the best result.

374.  Despite the explanation by FEHD, the Office could not
understand why FEHD was not able to allocate manpower flexibly and
conduct inspection at the most appropriate time in accordance with the
operational guidelines in handling complaints about water dripping from
air-conditioners (the guidelines). Instead, FEHD had wasted resources
to carry out inspection at other times and these inspections proved to be
unproductive.

375.  Besides, after issuing the Notices of Appointment, which request
occupants of a flat to contact FEHD and arrange for a visit from FEHD
staff, FEHD did not follow up the cases immediately in accordance with
the guidelines, failing to investigate the water dripping problem by
entering the flats concerned to conduct tests on the air-conditioners.
FEHD repeatedly observed the flats and only took follow-up actions after
the water dripping problem was again found. This practice was
time-consuming and ineffective.

376. The Ombudsman considered this complaint partially
substantiated, and recommended that FEHD —

(a) allocate manpower flexibly, carry out inspections at the times of
water dripping reported by complainants as far as circumstances
permit and remind staff to strictly adhere to the guidelines when
handling complaints about dripping air-conditioners; and

(b) discuss with Buildings Department (BD) on ways to promote the
installation of central drain pipes in buildings in Hong Kong,
with a view to completely resolving the issue of dripping
air-conditioners.
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Government’s response
377.  FEHD accepted The Ombudsman’s recommendations.

378.  In response to recommendation (a), FEHD has reminded its staff
to strictly adhere to the guidelines when handling complaints against
dripping air-conditioners.

379.  As regards recommendation (b), FEHD has contacted BD. In
view of the nature and large number of complaints against dripping
air-conditioners, FEHD formulated joint inter-departmental efforts in
conjunction with BD to tackle the problem. At present, guidelines for
the disposal of condensation from air-conditioning units have been set out
in the Practice Note for Authorised Persons and Registered Structural
Engineers issued by BD. As stated in those guidelines, building
proposals of new buildings and alteration works should include the
requirement of the provision of a built-in system for condensation
disposal in air-conditioner boxes and platforms, failing which the areas
concerned will not be excluded from the plot ratio and site coverage
calculations. For existing buildings, such requirement is included in the
practice note for the attention of authorised persons. The practice note
concerned has been submitted to the Office for reference.
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Food and Environmental Hygiene Department

Case No. 2016/2113 — Improper handling of applications for change
of trade by some market stalls

Background

380.  The complainant was a FEHD market tenant permitted to sell
“non-food related dry goods”. The complainant accused FEHD of
unreasonably approving the application of her neighbouring stalls (the
Stalls) to change their trade from selling “food related dry goods” to
“non-food related dry goods” (applications for change of trade).
Besides, FEHD failed to conduct any consultation before giving approval
to these applications and ignored the views of other stall operators as well
as the business environment. The complainant later applied for judicial
review against FEHD’s unreasonable approval of the applications for
change of trade. On 16 May 2014, the court held FEHD’s decisions
invalid.

381.  In July 2014, the Stalls submitted afresh applications for change
of trade (the 2014 Applications) to FEHD. On 26 August 2014, FEHD
sought views on each of these applications at the meeting of the Market
Management Consultative Committee (MMCC) concerned. Eventually,
FEHD approved the applications again in October 2014. The
complainant complained to the Office of The Ombudsman (the Office),
alleging that FEHD made the following mistakes during the re-vetting of
the applications —

(@) at the MMCC meeting on 26 August 2014, three local District
Councillors were absent with apologies. The meeting was only
between FEHD staff and stall operators or their representatives.
The complainant was of the view that FEHD did not fully
consult the MMCC members (i.e. the District Councillors) when
considering the 2014 Applications; and

(b) FEHD did not display the notice about the approval of the 2014
Applications on the notice boards in the market to allow other
stall operators to raise comments or objections within 14 days.
This was against the established procedures of FEHD.
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The Ombudsman’s observations
Allegation (a)

382.  As the complainant had applied to the High Court for a judicial
review and lodged an appeal with the Court of Appeal against the
judgement concerned, the Office considered that the complainant should
wait for the appeal result. Therefore, the Office decided not to comment
on allegation (a) at the moment.

Allegation (b)

383.  The Office confirmed that the “Operational Manual for Market
Services” did not require FEHD staff to display results of applications for
change of trade by market stalls on the notice boards in the market for
comments by other stall operators.

384.  The complainant provided the Office with audio recording of her
conversation with FEHD staff. In replying to her enquiry, one of the
staff said that after the applications for change of trade were approved, a
notice would be issued to stall operators for them to comment within 14
days. The Office did not exclude the possibility that there might be
misunderstanding on the work procedures of FEHD by individual staff.

385.  The Ombudsman considered the complaint unsubstantiated, but
advised FEHD to remind its staff of the need to fully understand the work
procedures of the department and provide a clear explanation upon
enquiries.

Government’s response
386. FEHD accepted The Ombudsman’s recommendation and
reminded the staff concerned that they need to fully understand the work

procedures of the department and provide a clear explanation upon
enquiries.
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Food and Environmental Hygiene Department

Case No. 2016/2574 — Failing to properly follow through a food
complaint and failing to reply to the complainant

Background

387.  According to the complainant, he bought noodles from a
restaurant in Kwun Tong District on 18 January 2016. When he dipped
a pair of disposable chopsticks provided for takeaway food into the
noodle soup, light red colour appeared on one chopstick instantly. On
27 January 2016, the complainant filed a complaint with FEHD via email.
Two days later, an FEHD officer (Officer A) contacted the complainant.
After learning that the complainant was working in Central & Western
District, the officer suggested that the chopstick be collected for
laboratory analysis by FEHD’s District Environmental Hygiene Office
(DEHO) in the Central & Western District (CW DEHO). However, no
FEHD staff communicated with the complainant afterwards.

388. From February to June 2016, the complainant repeatedly
complained to FEHD and enquired about the progress of his case via
1823, but no reply was received. The complainant accused FEHD of
failing to reply to him and failing to follow through his complaint.

The Ombudsman’s observations

389. FEHD explained that according to its Operational Manual, the
location where the food or item under complaint was being kept
determined which district’s DEHO was responsible for handling the
complaint.

390.  Records indicated that the complainant’s case was received by
1823 on 27 January 2016. It was wrongly referred to the Risk
Communication Section (RCS) of FEHD, which was responsible for
handling general food safety enquiries rather than food complaints.
Despite the mistake, the RCS still offered assistance. On 29 January,
Officer A of the RCS contacted the complainant and learnt that the
chopstick in question was being kept in the complainant’s office in
Central & Western District. Officer A then informed 1823 that the
complaint was misdirected to RCS and asked that the case be referred to
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CW DEHO. Officer A also immediately notified CW DEHO.

391.  An officer of CW DEHO received the case the same day and
learnt that the incident occurred in Kwun Tong District, but was unaware
of Officer A’s message. As a result, the complaint was referred to
DEHO in Kwun Tong District (KT DEHO) by mistake and received by
an officer, who misunderstood that KT DEHO was only required to
follow-up after the case was closed (i.e. to inspect the restaurant
concerned) without further need to respond to the complainant.

392.  During on-site inspection, the KT DEHO officer found the
hygiene conditions of the restaurant satisfactory. Nonetheless, the
responsible person of the restaurant was reminded of the importance of
food hygiene. FEHD did not take further action nor made further contact
with the complainant.

393.  The Office of The Ombudsman considered FEHD inadequate in
handling the complainant’s case in that —

(@ when the complaint was received, CW DEHO overlooked
Officer A’s message and immediately referred the case to KT
DEHO simply because the computer record showed that the
incident happened in Kwun Tong District.  This reflected a lack
of prudence on the part of CW DEHO; and

(b) upon receiving the complaint, KT DEHO assumed that the case
was closed, and did not realise the need to collect evidence (i.e.
the chopstick in question). Despite repeated email enquiries
from the complainant, KT DEHO also failed to take a closer
look into the case or reply to the complainant.

394.  The Ombudsman considered this complaint substantiated, and
urged FEHD to look carefully into the reason(s) for mishandling this case
and take corresponding measures to prevent recurrence of similar
incidents.

Government’s response

395. FEHD accepted The Ombudsman’s recommendation. After

investigation, FEHD found that the case was mishandled mainly because

a clerical officer responsible for receiving complaints from the system

decided to refer the complaint to another district without consulting any
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Health Inspector in advance, which was undesirable. Learning a lesson
from this case, FEHD would require relevant officers to clearly record in
the system the reasons for making case referrals to avoid

misunderstanding in future.
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Food and Environmental Hygiene Department

Case No. 2016/2627 — (1) Ineffective enforcement action against street
obstruction problem caused by on-street promotional activities; and
(2) failing to provide a substantive reply to the complainant

Background

396.  The complainant alleged that at the junction of the entrance of an
alley and a pavement, with limited space and busy pedestrian traffic, a
person (Ms A) sat every day on a folding stool for hours during peak
periods, displaying a promotional placard she hung on her body and
distributing flyers to passers-by, causing serious obstruction. The
complainant had repeatedly complained to FEHD, but FEHD was lax in
enforcement and did not evoke its statutory powers to prosecute Ms A for
street obstruction, allowing the problem to persist.

397.  The Summary Offences Ordinance stipulates that except with
lawful authority or excuse, no person shall set out or leave any matter or
thing which obstructs, inconveniences or endangers any person or vehicle
in a public place (street obstruction provision). Moreover, the Public
Health and Municipal Services Ordinance (PHMSO) contains provisions
which respectively prohibit articles or things to be so placed as to
obstruct scavenging operations (obstruction to scavenging operations
provision); or bills or posters to be displayed or affixed on any
Government land, except with the written permission of the Authority
(unlawful display of bills provision). FEHD is empowered to take
enforcement action against those who violate the above laws.

The Ombudsman’s observations

398.  The Office of The Ombudsman (the Office) accepted FEHD’s
explanation as to why it had not invoked the obstruction to scavenging
operations or the unlawful display of bills provisions to take enforcement
action against Ms A.

399.  Nevertheless, the complainant was actually complaining about

“street obstruction” caused by Ms A. She had been complaining about

that for years, with photographs as supporting evidence. Besides, the

alley entrance was on a very busy street with heavy pedestrian flow. The

Office believed that Ms A’s conduct did amount to causing obstruction to
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pedestrians by setting out the folding stool in a public place. This met the
legal definition of “street obstruction” under the street obstruction
provision and should be actionable according to FEHD’s internal
guidelines on enforcement against such irregularity. FEHD, therefore,
should have at least issued a warning to Ms A, rather than just advised
her not to cause obstruction to pedestrians.

400. The Ombudsman considered the above complaint partially
substantiated, and recommended that FEHD continue to monitor the
situation and take enforcement action pursuant to the street obstruction
provision. If in doubt, FEHD should seek advice from the Department
of Justice.

Government’s response

401. FEHD did not accept The Ombudsman’s recommendation that
FEHD officers should have taken enforcement action against Ms A for
street obstruction by invoking the street obstruction provision.

402.  FEHD’s prime concern in taking enforcement action by invoking
the street obstruction provision is to maintain environmental hygiene.
According to FEHD’s current policies, the street obstruction provision
would only be invoked together with PHMSO or its subsidiary legislation
when street obstruction occurs during illegal activities related to the
regulation of food premises and handling of illegal hawking or other
cases of breaching PHMSO.

403.  As for street obstruction cases that did not involve environmental
hygiene, FEHD considered them street management problems, which
cannot be dealt with by any single department. To effectively tackle the
root of the problem, departments concerned should perform the duties
under their respective purview and closely collaborate to take joint
operations. These cases should be referred to District Officers for the
co-ordination of inter-departmental enforcement operations under the
District Management Committee mechanism, having regard to the actual
situation and needs.

404.  In respect of the complainant’s complaint, FEHD agreed that by

sitting on a stool for hours distributing flyers, Ms A’s conduct would

amount to causing obstruction to pedestrians by “setting out” an article.

However, FEHD officers found in previous investigations that Ms A

distributed flyers to passers-by while moving around and without setting
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out any articles on the pavement, it was thus inappropriate to institute
prosecution against Ms A by invoking the street obstruction provision as
recommended by The Ombudsman. FEHD has stepped up inspection of
the location concerned. Ms A was no longer found carrying out
promotional activities at the location concerned, neither was there any
further complaint from the complainant.

405.  FEHD wrote to The Ombudsman on 2 March 2017 to express its
above position. The Ombudsman replied on 13 March 2017 that FEHD
was deemed to have implemented the recommendation made in the
investigation report. The Ombudsman requested FEHD to continue
monitoring the situation at the location concerned. If any person is
found sitting for hours on the pavement to carry out promotional
activities as Ms A did before, FEHD should take decisive enforcement
action and proactively consider instituting prosecution against that person
by invoking the street obstruction provision.

406.  As observed over the past nine months, no one (including Ms A)
was found carrying out promotional activities at the location concerned,
and no similar complaint was received by FEHD. At present, the
environmental hygiene of the location concerned is satisfactory and no
obstruction at the location is observed.
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Food and Environmental Hygiene Department

Case No. 2016/3063 — Failing to properly follow up the water
dripping problem

Background

407.  The complainant had previously lodged a complaint with the
Office of The Ombudsman (the Office) against the Food and
Environmental Hygiene Department (FEHD) on 18 July 2016 about
water dripping from the air conditioner of the flat above the
complainant’s (Flat A), which caused nuisance to the complainant (the
water dripping problem). Although complaints were made to FEHD in
June and July 2016, the water dripping problem persisted. The
complainant was dissatisfied that FEHD had failed to properly follow up
his complaints about the water dripping problem.

408.  With consent from the complainant and FEHD, the Office
followed up the case as mediator. The complainant accepted the result of
mediation on 21 July 2016. The Office closed the case on 28 July 2016.

409.  Between 9 August 2016 and 26 September 2016, the complainant
lodged another complaint against FEHD to the Office by letter and
telephone, alleging that —

(a) since the above case was closed on 28 July 2016, FEHD had not
followed up the water dripping problem properly in accordance
with the outcome of mediation, including updating him on the
progress and result of the work and taking actions with force of
law against the offender, such as issuing a warning letter or a
Nuisance Notice (NN); and

(b) the complainant found that the condensation drain hole of the
air-conditioner at Flat A was not positioned properly, so the
dripping condensate could affect the flat below. On
21 July 2016, the complainant contacted FEHD so that FEHD
staff would be aware of the issue when conducting investigation
on the water dripping problem. FEHD replied on 25 July 2016
that there was no standard requirement on the position of the
condensation drain hole of air-conditioners. If the water
dripping caused any nuisance to the complainant, he could lodge
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a complaint with FEHD. The complainant believed that FEHD
had failed to provide him with adequate assistance.

The Ombudsman’s observations
Allegation (a)

410.  Since the conclusion of the previous complaint case, FEHD had
all along followed up the water dripping problem and kept the
complainant informed of the progress. However, after replying to the
complainant on 25 July 2016, FEHD did not inform him of the
investigation results until 2 September. FEHD apologised for such an
inadequacy and instructed its staff to improve their practice.

411.  Since no water dripping from the air-conditioner was found
during FEHD’s investigation, the Office considered it understandable that
no NN was issued to the owner of Flat A and no further enforcement
action was taken.

412.  However, during inspection, FEHD staff observed the operation
of the air-conditioner in the flat concerned for only about five minutes
before concluding that no water was dripping. The test time was so
short that it would be difficult to produce any conclusive test result. The
Office understood that FEHD staff generally conducted air-conditioner
tests for at least 30 minutes when dealing with other water dripping
complaints. The Office found the result of the test concerned unreliable.

413. The Office disagreed with FEHD’s explanation that it was
inappropriate to set a standard for the duration of air-conditioner tests.
The time needed for testing an air-conditioner might vary from one case
to another. For cases where water dripping was found shortly after
commencement of the test, it was naturally unnecessary to continue
carrying out the testing for a longer time. However, for cases where water
dripping was not found shortly after commencement of the test, FEHD
should set a minimum standard for the testing time (e.g. 30 minutes), in
order to ensure that a conclusive test result could be obtained and prevent
the test result from being subject to challenge. If a longer test time was
required, staff could extend the testing time according to their judgement.

414,  The Ombudsman considered allegation (a) partially
substantiated.
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Allegation (b)

415.  The Ombudsman was of the view that FEHD had responded to
the complainant’s request for assistance appropriately in its written reply
dated 25 July 2016. The Ombudsman considered allegation (b)
unsubstantiated.

416.  The Ombudsman considered the complainant’s complaint against
FEHD partially substantiated, and urged FEHD to establish a standard for
the duration of air-conditioner tests to be followed by its staff.

Government’s response

417.  Given the wvarying circumstances of individual cases,
investigating officers would exercise judgement by taking into account
the environment and actual situation on site in determining the details of
the investigation and the reasonable duration for running tests.
Air-conditioners of different brands, models and horse-powers perform
differently in their cooling and dehumidifying functions. It is difficult
for FEHD to establish a single standard for the duration of test to
air-conditioners as recommended by The Ombudsman. Moreover,
FEHD has sought professional advice from the Electrical and Mechanical
Services Department on the recommendation concerned and was told that
professional advice could not be given as the issue in question does not
involve electrical and mechanical safety.

418.  According to a report on air-conditioners and dehumidifiers
publishned by the Consumer Council, the cooling capacity of
air-conditioners for dehumidification may vary depending on their
respective designs. As a result, the dehumidifying function of different
air-conditioners may vary with their manufacturers.  The daily
dehumidifying capacity of dehumidifiers in different testing
environments (including the temperature and humidity) may differ by up
to 100%. Therefore, The Ombudsman’s recommendation is actually
more difficult to put into practice than it appears.

419. In the absence of relevant scientific or technical data and
professional advice, FEHD considers it inappropriate to set a standard for
testing air-conditioners to be followed by frontline staff. Setting such
standard without scientific evidence and recognised objective criteria will
definitely result in controversy and dispute.
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420. FEHD will remind its frontline staff to investigate complaint
cases of dripping air-conditioners according to actual circumstances.
For example, a reasonable duration for running the test should be adopted
and the test should be carried out at the times of water dripping from
air-conditioners reported by complainants so that complaints might be
handled expeditiously.

421. Regarding FEHD’s above response, the Office noted that —

(@) inits investigation report, the Office recommended that FEHD set
a minimum time for running the air-conditioner test. It mainly
referred to cases where dripping did not occur shortly after the
test began;

(b) as regards the air-conditioner test time, FEHD currently has no
minimum standard but allows the investigation staff to decide.
That may render the test time too short and more prone to being
queried; and

(c) FEHD is the department responsible for the investigation of
dripping air-conditioners. Its experience gained over years of
practice should allow it to work out its own standard of test time
for dripping air-conditioners. If dripping is found very soon
upon the test, FEHD staff may simply end the test without having
to run through the minimum time. |If the staff concerned
considers that a longer test time is required, they may extend the
test time according to their judgment. It is beyond the Office’s
comprehension why FEHD should worry about the risk of
controversy and dispute if a minimum test time is set.

422.  The Office has urged FEHD to reconsider implementing The
Ombudsman’s recommendation and to reply to the Office. The Office
has requested FEHD again to set a minimum time for running the test to
air-conditioners. In this regard, FEHD is endeavouring to follow up The
Ombudsman’s recommendation by taking a two-pronged approach,
namely seeking relevant scientific data and information from academic
institutions and professional organisations, and making arrangements for
FEHD staff to collect from actual investigation cases relevant data on the
time needed for testing an air-conditioner for analysis purpose.
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Food and Environmental Hygiene Department

Case No. 2016/3073 — (1) Failing to properly follow up the problem of
illegal disposal of pig carcasses; and (2) failing to reply to the
complainant

Background

423.  According to the complainant, he had lodged a number of
complaints via 1823 or directly with the Food and Environmental
Hygiene Department (FEHD) since mid-2016, expressing concern over
unwrapped pig carcasses that were frequently deposited at a certain refuse
collection point (the RCP) and an Animal Carcass Collection Point (the
CP) next to the RCP.  Despite the complaints, the problem persisted.

424.  The complainant alleged that FEHD —

(@) failed to follow up and investigate the problem to curb the
offences and ensure environmental hygiene, and only arranged
routine removal of pig carcasses by the contractor; and

(b) failed to reply to his complaints.

The Ombudsman’s observations
Allegation (a)

425.  Records showed that FEHD had taken actions within its purview
to follow up the complainant’s complaints, including site inspection to
ensure that the contractor collected and handled animal carcasses in the
CP as required by contract and to find out whether there was illegal
disposal of animal carcasses elsewhere in the vicinity. FEHD also
referred the issue of disposal of unwrapped pig carcasses at the CP to the
Agriculture, Fisheries and Conservation Department for follow-up actions
within its purview.

426.  Given that animal carcasses were regularly collected three times

a day at the CP, FEHD did not arrange for the pig carcasses to be

removed by the contractor immediately upon receipt of the complainant’s

complaints, but left it to the contractor’s routine collection service. The
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Office of The Ombudsman (the Office) understood that resources were
limited and found the arrangement reasonable.

427.  The Office considered that FEHD had appropriately followed up
the complainant’s complaints. That said, the Office considered that the
design and management of the RCP and the CP by FEHD were
inadequate as follows —

(@) the substandard and dilapidated facilities, as well as poor
hygiene conditions, of the RCP and CP were urban eyesores;

(b) without hoarding or a gate, the roadside CP would disgust
passers-by and drivers if animal carcasses (especially unwrapped
ones) were deposited inside; and

(c) the notices outside the CP were only made with paper, which
would be easily damaged during inclement weather. According
to FEHD’s record, the notices were damaged by typhoon in early
August and replaced in early September 2016.

428.  As such, The Ombudsman found allegation (a) unsubstantiated,
but there were other inadequacies on the part of FEHD. Fortunately,
FEHD was aware of the problems in the design and management of the
RCP and the CP and took the initiative to remedy the situation.

Allegation (b)

429. FEHD admitted that it did not respond to the complainant’s
complaints filed between June and August 2016. FEHD has reminded
relevant staff to follow departmental guidelines on handling complaints
and reply to complainants in a timely manner. Allegation (b) was
substantiated.

430. The Ombudsman considered this complaint partially
substantiated, and recommended that FEHD —

(@) continue to enhance the design and management of the RCP and
CP.  Meanwhile, constant improvement should be made to the
hygiene conditions inside and outside the RCP and the CP; and

(b) learn from this case and monitor the progress of complaint
handling on a regular basis to ensure complainants receive
timely replies in future.
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Government’s response

431. FEHD accepted The Ombudsman’s recommendations.
Temporary structure had been erected to enclose the CP. Moreover, the
pilot scheme of installing Internet Protocol cameras was implemented at
the spot along with enhanced enforcement actions. The cleanliness of
the CP had improved substantially. On the other hand, FEHD had
instructed staff to follow the departmental guidelines when handling
complaints and provide complainants with timely replies in future.
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Food and Environmental Hygiene Department

Case No. 2016/3361A — (1) Delay in informing the complainant of the
removal of his unauthorised roadside banners; (2) failing to explain
the irregularities found on the complainant’s banners and to provide
supporting photographs; and (3) varying charges for removal of
banners

Background

432.  According to the complainant, he and Mr A had established a
Councillors’ Joint Office (the JO) in a district. The JO displayed from
time to time non-commercial publicity banners at roadside railings in the
district as authorised by LandsD.  Since mid-April 2016, the
complainant noticed that banners of the JO had been removed time and
again for no reason. When new banners were made and displayed on
the railings, they were removed again. The JO repeatedly reported the
case to the Police but the problem persisted.

433.  On 28 July 2016, the Food and Environmental Hygiene
Department (FEHD) wrote to inform the complainant that between
19 April 2016 and 30 June 2016, FEHD and LandsD removed a total of
34 banners of the JO (the Banners), and that FEHD was considering
recovering the expenses of removing the Banners from the complainant;
the complainant could retrieve the Banners from FEHD within 10 days.
From mid-August to mid-September, FEHD issued demand notes to both
the complainant and Mr A for the expenses incurred in the removal of the
Banners totalling some $2,600.

434.  On 24 August 2016, a written reply was issued by a District
Lands Office (DLO) of LandsD in response to the complainant’s written
enquiry of 5 August, stating that the Banners were removed by FEHD and
LandsD in joint operations as they were not displayed according to the
Guidelines of the Management Scheme for Display of Roadside
Non-commercial Publicity Materials (the Management Scheme).

435.  The complainant lodged a complaint with the Office of The
Ombudsman (the Office) against FEHD and LandsD, alleging that —
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(a) the delay by LandsD and FEHD in informing the complainant of
the removal of his unauthorised banners made it impossible for
him to retrieve the Banners and sooner follow up the alleged
irregularities, wasting his resources and time in producing and
putting up new banners and costing him even higher removal
expenses when the new banners were removed again;

(b) LandsD and FEHD neither explained the irregularities found on
the Banners nor provided supporting photographs to the
complainant, preventing him from defending his case; and

(c) FEHD imposed unreasonable and varying charges for removal of
the Banners on the complainant and Mr A. Charges imposed
for two of the removal actions differed by more than $500.

The Ombudsman’s observations

436.  Under the Management Scheme, LandsD has been delegated the
authority under the Public Health and Municipal Services Ordinance (the
Ordinance) by the Director of Food and Environmental Hygiene to
examine and approve the applications by Members of the Legislative
Council (LegCo) and District Council, government departments, and
eligible organisations for the display of non-commercial publicity
materials, including banners, at designated roadside spots.

437.  LandsD will write to elected councillors to grant them use of
publicity materials and advise them to observe the requirements of the
Implementation Guidelines of the Management Scheme (the Guidelines).
As far as LegCo Members of the term 2012-2016 (including the
complainant) are concerned, LandsD and its contractor (the Contractor)
issued relevant letters in late 2012 and May 2016 respectively to remind
all Members to comply with the Guidelines.

438. As for FEHD, its District Environmental Hygiene Office (DEHO)
and the Contractor conduct regular joint operations in the district, during
which the Contractor checked whether the display of publicity materials
Is unauthorised or non-compliant with the Guidelines, while DEHO
removed unauthorised items. After a joint operation, DEHO would keep
in custody the publicity materials removed for at least 14 days and inform
the responsible persons in writing that they may collect the publicity
materials in question within 10 days. DEHO would also check and
confirm the genuine beneficiaries of the publicity materials and then
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claim removal cost against the parties concerned. Concerned parties may
appeal to LandsD if they wished to contest FEHD’s action.

Allegation (a)

439.  The Office agreed with LandsD that the responsibility of issuing
a notification letter to inform the complainant that the Banners have been
removed lied with FEHD. FEHD explained that in the period between
April and August 2016, its DEHO had removed a large number of
publicity materials as a LegCo election was drawing near. It took time for
DEHO staff to identify the beneficiaries of each item. Thus DEHO was
unable to issue a notification letter to the complainant expeditiously; the
Office found the explanation acceptable.

440. In fact, the complainant should already be aware of the
requirements under the Guidelines. He should not blame the Banners
having been removed for breach of the Guidelines time and again on the
fact that FEHD did not send him a notification letter expeditiously. The
Ombudsman considered allegation (a) unsubstantiated.

Allegation (b)

441.  The Office considered it LandsD’s duty to explain the violations
of the Banner to the complainant, and LandsD had provided such
explanation along with photos of the Banners in response to the
complainant’s request. Allegation (b) was unsubstantiated.

Allegation (c)

442.  FEHD had explained the method for calculating the removal cost
of publicity materials, as well as the factors that affect the amount. The
Office considered FEHD’s principle of violators bearing the costs of
relevant government actions reasonable and the existing calculation
method generally consistent with the stipulation of the Ordinance. The
Ombudsman considered allegation (c) unsubstantiated.

443. However, according to FEHD’s existing calculation method, the
removal cost of each piece of unauthorised publicity materials varies with
the number of unauthorised publicity materials found and removed in
each joint operation. The difference may be so great as to easily arouse
queries from the beneficiaries of unauthorised publicity materials who
have to bear the apportioned cost of the joint operation.
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444, In conclusion, The Ombudsman considered this complaint
unsubstantiated, but recommended that FEHD and the Treasury explore
with the Department of Justice whether there are any better ways to
calculate the removal cost, e.g. calculating the average removal cost of
each piece of unauthorised publicity materials based on FEHD’s actual
data over a recent period (say half year or one year) and setting a uniform
rate of charges to be recovered from offenders in the future (say half year
or one year).

Government’s response
445.  FEHD did not accept The Ombudsman’s recommendation.

446. FEHD had conducted a comprehensive review from 2011 to
2012 regarding the method for calculating the removal cost of
unauthorised publicity materials, with a view to exploring a simpler
calculation method for charging each beneficiary of unauthorised
publicity materials a removal cost in a fair manner. Under section 104C
of the Ordinance, FEHD, after removing publicity materials which have
been displayed in public places and verified by LandsD as unauthorised
or non-compliant with the Guidelines, may recover the cost of removal
from the beneficiaries of the unauthorised publicity materials. Under
section 130 of the Ordinance, the cost to be recovered by FEHD may
include the cost of labour, transport or materials supplied by public
officers for the purpose of carrying out such works as well as supervision
charges. FEHD was also required under the charging policy stated in
the Financial Circular No. 6/2016 to recover the full cost of carrying out
such work from each beneficiary of unauthorised publicity materials.

447.  FEHD considered various calculation methods, including the
Office’s proposal to set a uniform rate of removal charges for each piece
of unauthorised publicity materials on the basis of FEHD’s actual data.
Nevertheless, the data on the removal of unauthorised publicity materials
are not stable, for the number of such materials varies invariably with the
situations in society and districts in different periods (one example being
the number of unauthorised publicity materials stemming from the
elections of various scales held by the Government, which is large and
unpredictable). It was therefore impracticable to set a uniform rate of
charges that can meet the requirements of relevant legislation and the
Financial Circular by projecting the number of publicity materials over a
period of time. The Financial Services and the Treasury Bureau also
indicated at that time that a uniform rate of charges would not be
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recommended if the removal costs differed too much from one operation
to another.

448.  The method currently adopted by FEHD for calculating the
removal cost is generally fair and reasonable. Not only is it consistent
with the charging policy stated in the Financial Circular No. 6/2016 and
the requirements of the Ordinance, but also it was acceptable to the vast
majority of the beneficiaries of unauthorised publicity materials. That
said, FEHD will conduct again a comprehensive review of the calculation
method in a timely manner when circumstances so require.

449.  FEHD had informed the Office of the above stance on 5 June
2017. The Office informed FEHD on 27 July 2017 of the Office’s
acceptance of FEHD’s explanation. However, to avoid recurrence of
similar complaints, the Office suggested FEHD to explain to all
participants of the Management Scheme beforehand the rationale behind
the calculations of the removal cost of unauthorised publicity materials
which may vary between occasions.

450.  FEHD accepted the suggestion. To this end, FEHD updated the
relevant webpage where enforcement operations in connection with the
Management Scheme were introduced by setting out the rationale behind
the calculations of removal cost, and the apportionment of the removal
cost among the involved persons. LandsD linked up the above
webpage to her website on 19 October 2017 to give participants of the
Management Scheme prior knowledge that the removal cost incurred in
each operation may vary.

451.  Furthermore, FEHD has included a reminder in the covering
letter of the demand note for the involved persons to browse the
corresponding webpage for details about the calculation of removal cost.

452.  FEHD informed the Office of such arrangement on 27 October

2017. The Office subsequently notified FEHD on 11 December 2017 of
case closure.
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Food and Environmental Hygiene Department

Case No. 2016/3562 — Failing to take effective enforcement action
against the street obstruction problem caused by illegal extension of
business area by a fruit stall

Background

453.  The complainant alleged that although FEHD had indicated that
it would step up regulation of the irregularities of extension of business
area in front of a certain fruit stall (the Shop), the irregularities
aggravated. In the daytime, the Shop occupied over half the width of
the pavement for sale of fruits and placed seafood, bean sprouts, bean
curd, pig blood curd, etc. for sale on the kerb by the road with no fear of
the authority. After the Shop closed at night, it still obstructed half of
the pavement and the kerb by placing goods and miscellaneous articles
outside the Shop front. As a result, that section of the road could not be
cleaned for a prolonged period of time.

454.  The complainant alleged that he repeatedly saw FEHD staff issue
verbal warnings to the Shop and then leave without staying to ensure
compliance. The complainant considered that their actions could hardly
have any deterrent effect. The complainant was dissatisfied that FEHD
had ignored the irregularities at the Shop and failed to take effective
enforcement action.

The Ombudsman’s observations

455,  After receiving the complainant’s complaint, he Office of The
Ombudsman (the Office) conducted site inspection on 12 September
2016. The Shop was still open for business near 11 pm and occupied
half the width of the pavement in front of the Shop for sale of goods.
During another inspection conducted in the evening the following day, it
was found that the Shop and other shops in the vicinity had extended their
business areas to the pavement in front of the shops in the presence of
FEHD staff.

456.  The Office conducted site inspections again at around 3 p.m. and

around 2 p.m. on 12 and 18 January 2017 respectively. It was found that

the Shop had extended its business area, occupying about one-third of the
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pavement, similar to other shops nearby. No obstruction to passers-by
was observed. During the inspection, there were miscellaneous articles
or goods placed at the roadside but no selling activities were observed.

457.  The overall order improved on the street concerned after FEHD
adjusted its enforcement strategies, which demonstrated that its
enforcement work had achieved certain results. FEHD took actions
against the irregularities of the Shop, but its problem of occupying the
pavement and kerb side of the carriageway as well as conducting
hawking activities there still occurred from time to time. FEHD
explained that owing to the constraint of resources and low pedestrian
flow in the vicinity of the shop at late night, no manpower had been
deployed to take enforcement against the irregularities of the Shop at late
night.  The Office considered such explanation understandable.
Nevertheless, FEHD could not be absolved from responsibility for the
persistent irregularities of the Shop.

458.  As for cleaning the pavement, FEHD carried out washing
operations during business hours of the Shop instead of late at night. As
such, the Office considered that the Shop leaving articles outside its
premises at late night did not cause long-term obstruction to street
cleansing operations at that section of the street.

459. The Ombudsman considered this complaint partially
substantiated, and recommended that FEHD —

(@) continue close monitoring of those shops (including the Shop)
located in the vicinity of the street and take effective
enforcement actions in a timely manner; and

(b) enhance street cleansing services whenever necessary.

Government’s response

460. FEHD accepted the Ombudsman’s recommendations and took
follow-up actions. Closely monitoring street obstruction caused by
shops located at the site, FEHD will take stringent enforcement actions
whenever necessary. During the period between January and June 2017,
FEHD launched a total of 75 blitz operations in the street, instituted 43
prosecutions (including 23 cases of street obstruction and 20 cases of
unlicensed hawking) and issued 4 Fixed Penalty Notices (FPNs) for
obstruction of the street. Meanwhile, FEHD officers also issued 254
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FPNs to persons committing cleanliness offences, and instituted 10
prosecutions against owners of articles obstructing FEHD street cleansing
services. Following the persistent enforcement by FEHD, the situation
where the pavement of the street is occupied by shop operators for
business has improved in general and is under control.

461.  Apart from deploying street cleansing services every day and
street washing every night, FEHD has, after taking into account the actual
situation, added an extra time of daily street washing service on the
pavement during daytime non-peak hours, and deployed more refuse
collection vehicles and cleansing staff to the site for waste collection,
with a view to further enhancing the level of cleanliness of the street. In
parallel, FEHD has stepped up its enforcement on the street to combat
irregularities such as obstruction to street cleansing services and illegal
deposit of refuse.
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Food and Environmental Hygiene Department

Case No. 2016/3777 — Failing to properly monitor the works of
contractors responsible for two refuse collection points

Background

462.  According to the complainant, refuse collection points of FEHD
in a district (RCPs A and B) had the following problems —

(a) every morning (mostly between 6 a.m. and 7 a.m.), people were
spotted dumping refuse and picking up glass bottles outside RCP
A (the irregularities), causing environmental hygiene and noise
problems (the nuisance). However, the street cleansing service
contractor engaged by FEHD (the Contractor) did not take action
against the nuisances;

(b) the grab lorry responsible for refuse removal failed to eliminate
the nuisance without delay, as sometimes it arrived at RCP A as
late as after 9 a.m.;

(c) the complainant took photos showing Contractor staff depositing
waste that was inside RCP A outside RCP A (Incident I) and
emptying litter bins that were in RCP A outside RCP A (Incident
I1); and

(d) the complainant also pointed out that accumulation of refuse
outside RCP B adversely affected the environmental hygiene.

463.  The complainant lodged a complaint with the Office of The
Ombudsman (the Office) against FEHD’s poor supervision of its
contractor, which led to the accumulation of refuse outside RCPs A and B,
causing nuisance to residents in the vicinity.

The Ombudsman’s observations
Allegation (a)
464.  FEHD explained that as Contractor staff did not have powers of

enforcement, they were unable to stop people from depositing or picking
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up refuse outside RCP A. However, the Office was of the opinion that
Contractor staff should have stopped the offenders once the irregularities
were discovered, even though they did not possess powers of
enforcement. Video footage provided by the complainant showed
Contractor staff witnessing the irregularities but doing nothing to stop the
offenders on many occasions. FEHD did not remind the Contractor to
take action until months after complaints were received, which shows that
FEHD supervised the Contractor poorly with regard to the management
of RCPs.

Allegation (b)

465. FEHD explained why the grab lorry might sometimes fail to
arrive at RCP A at 7:10 a.m. according to the contractual requirements.
FEHD has requested the Contractor to make arrangements for its grab
lorry to arrive on time as far as practicable, which could be considered a
remedial action taken to address this complaint.

Allegation (c)

466.  Regarding Incident I, FEHD explained that owing to insufficient
space inside the RCP, it was necessary for the Contractor to leave bulky
waste temporarily outside the RCP for later clearance by the grab lorry.
As for Incident IlI, FEHD wrote to the Contractor demanding
improvement in performance according to contractual requirements.

Allegation (d)

467. FEHD conducted a number of surprise arrest operations after
receiving complaints about accumulation of waste outside RCP B. The
Office considered that FEHD had already, in general, followed up the
illegal deposit of refuse outside RCP B as appropriate.

468.  All in all, the problems raised by the complainant stemmed from
the following —

(@) insufficient supervision of the Contractor by FEHD; and
(b) lack of places for the public to legally dispose of refuse after the

closure of RCPs A and B at night, driving people to illegally
deposit refuse outside the RCPs.
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4609.

The Office considered this complaint partially substantiated, and

urged FEHD to —

(@)

(b)

monitor the Contractor’s performance more strictly and take
concrete disciplinary actions against persisting inadequacy; and

consider further adjusting the opening hours for both RCPs A
and B according to actual circumstances, with a view to
facilitating disposal of refuse inside the RCPs and preventing the
nuisances.

Government’s response

470.

FEHD accepted the Office’s recommendations and took the

following follow-up actions:

(@)

(b)

471.

FEHD staff would, in addition to random checks under the
existing mechanism, conduct additional surprise inspection once
a month at late night or early morning hours to enhance
monitoring of the cleanliness of those RCPs which open round
the clock in the district (including RCPs A and B) and the
performance of the contractors concerned.  As regards the
claim that the Contractor ignored the problem of people
depositing or picking up refuse, FEHD reminded the Contractor
and its refuse collection staff to discourage offenders if they find
any irregularities. If necessary, Contractor staff should inform
FEHD immediately for follow-up actions.

Opening hours for both RCPs A and B were extended to 24
hours a day with effect from 1 March 2017.

According to recent inspections and observations by FEHD, the

cleanliness of various RCPs in the district had improved substantially.
Meanwhile, FEHD has not received any further complaints about
accumulation of refuse outside RCPs A and B.
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Food and Environmental Hygiene Department
and Lands Department

Case No. 2016/1638A (Food and Environmental Hygiene Department)
— Failing to take enforcement action against the shop-front extension
and illegal hawking activities of several shops, and against the
operation of an illegal food factory and shop-front extension of a food
premises

Case No. 2016/1638B (Lands Department) — Failing to take
enforcement action against illegal occupation of Government land

Background

472.  According to the complainant, a group of illegal structures (the
Structures) on government land (the Land) had been causing obstruction
to passage for decades. A noodle shop (Restaurant A) had used one of the
Structures and the adjacent lane as its kitchen, occupying government
land and posing a fire risk. Restaurant A had also placed quite a number
of tables and chairs at its shop-front, also occupying government land and
affecting environmental hygiene.

473.  Furthermore, the bakery (Shop B) adjacent to Restaurant A had
installed a fixed platform at its shop-front for holding bakery shelves,
thus occupying the passageway. The complainant complained to the
Food and Environmental Hygiene Department (FEHD) but to no avail.

474.  The complainant lodged a complaint with the Office of The
Ombudsman (the Office) against FEHD and the Lands Department
(LandsD), alleging that over the years —

(@) FEHD had failed to take enforcement action against the
irregularities of the shops concerned; and

(b) LandsD had failed to take enforcement actions against the illegal
occupation of government land mentioned.
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The Ombudsman’s observations
FEHD

475.  The Office opined that although FEHD had followed up the
problems raised by the complainant, there was clearly no deterrent impact
on the non-compliant shop and restaurant due to inadequate law
enforcement action against the offences. The Office was particularly
concerned about the unlicensed food factory (i.e. kitchen); FEHD should
collect evidence and crack down on such offences without delay.

LandsD

476.  In November 2015, the District Lands Office (DLO) of LandsD
concerned received for the first time referral of the complaint about the
Structures from 1823. DLO took the following follow-up actions —

(a) site inspection was conducted and it was found that five small
shops and one food factory were operating in the Structures;

(b) an enquiry was made with the Squatter Control Office (under
LandsD) concerned as to whether the Structures were surveyed
squatter structures. It was subsequently confirmed that the
Structures did not have any squatter survey records;

(c) an enquiry was made with the Buildings Department as to
whether the Structures were structurally safe, and the reply was
that they posed no imminent structural danger;

(d) issues such as hawking without licence and operating unlicensed
food factory were referred to FEHD for follow-up actions; and

(e) in-depth investigation was carried out to find out whether the
Structures were situated on private land or government land.
The results showed that the Land was originally privately owned
before it was resumed by the Government in 1981 for
development. No information was available to LandsD to
indicate why the Government did not remove the unauthorised
building works or develop the Land at that time.

477.  Given that the Structures had been used for operating the shops

and the food factory for years, LandsD and FEHD expected that actions

to take back the Land would be met with vigorous resistance. DLO
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organised a joint operation with other departments in August 2016, taking
control actions under the Land (Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance to
require the land occupiers to remove the Structures and cease occupying
the Land within two months. Should the occupiers fail to remove the
Structures by then, further land control actions would be taken by DLO.

478.  As to why the irregularities concerning the Land had not been
detected over the years, LandsD explained that DLO strategically targeted
black spots that were often the subject of complaints about occupation of
government land, and land that was prone to illegal occupation for
proactive inspection as appropriate. Although the Land was situated in
the busy downtown area, no complaints about it had been received by
DLO until November 2015. As the Land was not a black spot
warranting inspection, DLO had not realised that it was being occupied.

479.  The Office was of the view that after receiving the complaint in
November 2015, DLO did follow up and initiate enforcement actions
against the illegal occupation of government land by the Structures. As
to why the Government failed to manage the Land properly in the course
of resumption in 1981, it was difficult for the Office to find out the
reasons due to a lack of information.

480.  Based on the above, the Office considered the complaint lodged
by the complainant against FEHD partially substantiated, and that against
LandsD unsubstantiated. The Ombudsman recommended that —

(a) LandsD and FEHD should request the local District Office (DO)
to arrange inter-departmental joint operations to tackle the
problem of shop-front extension in the area as soon as possible;

(b) FEHD should step up enforcement against the shops’
irregularities (including unlicensed food factory operation); and

(c) LandsD should remove the Structures as soon as possible and
resume the Land.
Government’s response

481. FEHD and LandsD  accepted The  Ombudsman’s

recommendations and have taken the following follow-up actions.
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Recommendation (a)

482.  The local DLO has requested DO to arrange inter-departmental
joint operations against the problem of shop-front extension in the area.
In reply, DO advised DLO that relevant departments should take actions
to address the problem according to their respective purview, and that
FEHD should deal with the problem of shop-front extension of the
restaurants in the area.

483.  DLO has also requested the departments concerned to subsume
the problem of shop-front extensions of the shops opposite the Structures
under the “District-led Actions Scheme” with a view to mounting
inter-departmental joint operation.  However, after surveying the
dimensions of the shop-front extensions involved and consultation with
departments concerned, it was found that the extent of shop-front
extensions was about or lower than the tolerated dimensions stipulated by
the departments concerned, hence not meeting the criteria of the
“District-led Actions Scheme”. Nevertheless, as street obstruction by
shops in the area is mainly caused by the placing of goods, tables and
chairs, LandsD has been informed that other departments have been
taking enforcement action against the issues concerned.

Recommendation (b)

484.  In mid-October 2016, FEHD issued warning letters against
illegal extension of business area to the licensees of restaurants in the
area. Up until June 2017, FEHD had deployed more manpower to
conduct blitz enforcement actions on 17 and 19 October, 4 and
18 November (in collaboration with DLO) and 2 December 2016, as well
as 12 and 24 January, 27 and 28 February, 1 March and 13 April 2017,
prosecuting shops which had extended business area illegally. From
October 2016 to June 2017, FEHD instituted a total of three prosecutions
for street obstruction and two prosecutions for illegal shop-front
extension against the food premises (including Restaurant A), as well as a
total of 15 prosecutions for causing obstruction in public places against
the non-food premises. In addition, as the number of demerit points
registered against Restaurant A for illegal extension of business area had
reached the limit, its licence was suspended for seven days from 21 to
27 June 2017.

485.  FEHD staff did not find Shop B causing street obstruction during

the raids. However, on 28 October and 9 December 2016, and on

25 February, 9 March and 21 June 2017, FEHD discovered that the shop
138



was used as an unlicensed food factory. As such, prosecution was
Immediately instituted against the responsible person of Shop B. Shop
B later applied to FEHD for a food business licence and obtained a
temporary food factory licence on 23 June 2017.

486. FEHD staff also inspected the lane adjacent to the Land on
various occasions. It was found on 10 December 2016 and
15 March 2017 that an unlicensed food factory was operating there.
Prosecution was taken against the operator concerned.

487.  FEHD would continue to deploy staff to inspect the location and
take prosecution action against anyone operating an unlicensed business.

Recommendation (c)

488. LandsD has already initiated prosecution action against the
unlawful occupation of Government land and served a summons to one of
the occupiers. The defendant pleaded not guilty to the offence in
mid-September 2017, the case was then heard on 29 November and
11 December 2017 at the magistrates’ court.  Subsequently, the
magistrate adjourned the trial to 15 January 2018. LandsD will consider
taking further land control actions or prosecution actions subject to the
outcome of the ongoing case.

139



Government Secretariat — Chief Secretary for Administration’s
Office (Efficiency Unit)

Case No. 2016/4033C - Failing to refer a complaint to relevant
Government departments in a timely manner

Background

489.  The complainant lived in a village house in Sai Kung, where a
storm water drain between her house and the adjacent house had been
blocked. When there was heavy rain, it would cause rain water to flow
backward through the water pipe and flood into the house (the flooding
issue). In May 2016, the complainant lodged a complaint to 1823 under
the Efficiency Unit (EU). 1823 referred the case to the concerned
departments for follow-up action. In September, the Lands Department
(LandsD) replied to the complainant through 1823, saying that it had
referred the flooding issue to the Home Affairs Department (HAD),
which was the department responsible for the matter. On 12 October,
HAD replied the complainant through 1823, saying that it would consider
carrying out repair works depending on funding.

490. The complainant alleged that HAD and LandsD shirked the
responsibility of carrying out repair works and failed to properly handle
the flooding issue.

491.  Since 1823 under EU was responsible for referring the case to
the departments concerned, The Ombudsman included EU as one of the
departments under investigation.

The Ombudsman’s observations

492.  According to EU, the complainant lodged a complaint to 1823
about the flooding issue on 12 May 2016. The case was then referred to
the Drainage Services Department (DSD). On 23 May 2016, DSD
replied to 1823 that the drainage system concerned was not built and
managed by DSD. It suggested that 1823 refer the case to LandsD and
HAD to clarify the maintenance responsibility, and to consider if drainage
improvement works could be implemented in the village. DSD also
mentioned that it had replied to the complainant direct on the same day,
and the complainant had no further comment on its investigation result
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and the proposed follow-up action.

493.  However, as DSD had replied to the complainant direct, 1823
staff overlooked DSD’s request for referring the case to LandsD and
HAD. As a result, 1823 did not further refer the case until the
complainant called 1823 again on 10 September 2016, requesting 1823 to
refer the flooding issue to the departments concerned. 1823 then referred
the case to HAD and LandsD.

494, EU admitted that there was negligence by 1823 staff when
handling the complaint in May. EU deeply apologised for failing to
make the referral timely and causing delay in the follow up of the
flooding issue. 1823 had already reminded its staff to pay more
attention to the content of replies from departments.

495, 1823’s negligence and failure in referring the case in a timely
manner caused a delay of almost 4 months before the matter was
followed up by LandsD and HAD. That was improper administration.

496. The Ombudsman considered the complaint against 1823
substantiated, and urged EU and 1823 to learn from the experience of this
case, evaluate the reasons behind its mistake and make improvement.

Government’s response
497.  EU accepted The Ombudsman’s recommendation.

498.  In order to avoid recurrence of similar incidents, apart from
strengthening staff training, 1823 has enhanced its computer system so
that departments could indicate explicitly in their replies whether
follow-up action by 1823 (including the need to refer the case to other
departments) would be required. The enhanced system also keeps track
of the progress of the cases automatically to ensure that 1823 staff have
taken timely actions on the requests made by departments. EU will
monitor the situation and introduce further measures as necessary to
ensure that referrals to relevant Government departments are made in a
timely manner.
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Government Secretariat — Education Bureau

Case No. 2015/4487 — (1) Failing to conduct a full inspection of the
drainage system of a school and to properly monitor the work of a
contractor; (2) failing to properly answer questions from the
complainant; and (3) failing to reply to the complainant

Background

499.  The Parent-Teacher Association (the PTA) of a secondary school
(the School) lodged a complaint to the Office of The Ombudsman (the
Office) against the Education Bureau (EDB). According to the PTA, the
School has frequently experienced flooding since its establishment in
2001. Despite various repair works being carried out by different
government departments over the years, including those taken up by Term
Consultants (TCs) and the Maintenance Term Contractors (MTCs)
engaged by EDB, the flooding problem remained unresolved.

500. The PTA also complained that they have requested to meet with
higher ranking EDB officers to discuss the flooding issues in September
2015 but did not receive any proper response despite written follow-up
enquiry sent on 22 September and 15 October 2015.

501. The PTA quoted the findings of a comprehensive inspection of
the School’s drainage system prepared by a contractor engaged by the
School itself, and complained that flooding incidents were not solely
caused by drainage pipes blockage as reported by TCs and MTCs, but
also due to dislocated drains. Moreover, some pipes were found to be
made of improper materials.

502.  The PTA reproached the School Premises Maintenance Section
(SPMS) of EDB responsible for supervision over TCs and MTCs with the
following allegations —

(@) merely carrying out emergency repairs for the School on the
grounds that the School had not submitted major repairs requests
for the drainage system, without dutifully and examining
comprehensively the school’s drainage system;
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(b) not monitoring effectively the performance of TCs and MTCs,
and accepting works conducted previously and the newly added
pipes as performing “normal function as designed”;

(c) not responding positively to the PTA’s enquiry about works
related to flooding, but merely instructing TCs to give a reply on
its behalf and forwarding a copy of TCs’ report to the PTA; and

(d) not responding to PTA’s request for EDB officers to join its
meeting in its letters to EDB on 22 September and
15 October 2015 respectively.

The Ombudsman’s observations
Allegations (a) and (b)

503.  The Office noted that SPMS has received from the School three
applications for emergency repairs to address flooding problems in
August 2010, February 2012 and May 2014 respectively. SPMS
processed the applications in accordance with the established procedures
and was aware of the effectiveness of the related works. However, it
was not until August 2014 that SPMS realised the severe inadequacies of
the responsible TC (TC A) in dealing with drainage in the corridors and
middle courtyard.

504. It was noted that the flooding has affected many areas within the
campus and remained unresolved for years. SPMS should have been
aware of the situation when it scrutinised the School’s applications for
emergency repairs and approved the works proposals by TC A. In fact,
SPMS could have addressed the flooding issue earlier by requesting TC A
to thoroughly examine and analyse the school’s drainage system and
urging it to identify a comprehensive solution.

505.  The Office, however, noted that SPMS has handled the three
Applications in accordance with the established mechanism. It was also
glad to note that an interactive “School Maintenance Automated Rapport
Terminal (SMART) System” was being refined to facilitate SPMS’s better
monitoring of the works by TCs and MTCs. With the help of the
SMART System, repeated repair requests of the same nature could be
identified. TCs could thus be alerted and be more cautious in analysing
the problems, with a view to proposing suitable rectification measures.
SPMS has also initiated a comprehensive inspection of the drainage
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system for the School. The Ombudsman considered allegations (a) and
(b) partially substantiated and was pleased to note that SPMS will refine
the SMART system to help analyse works-related issues more effectively.

Allegation (c)

506.  The Office was of the view that EDB continuously liaised with
the School and the PTA on the issue, e.g. meetings were arranged in
August and September 2015 by EDB staff and TC A to update both the
School and PTA on the progress of the follow-up works. As such, The
Ombudsman considered allegation (c) unsubstantiated.

Allegation (d)

507.  The Office noted that the PTA wrote to EDB on 22 September
and 15 October 2015 for a response to its meeting request raised at an
earlier occasion. However, EDB did not respond to this request in its
reply to the PTA on 20 October 2015. While EDB offered to meet with
the School representatives to further discuss the matter in its letter dated
20 December 2016, with said letter copied to the PTA, EDB has provided
no direct response to the PTA on its meeting request. As such, The
Ombudsman considered allegation (d) substantiated.

508. The Ombudsman considered this complaint partially
substantiated and recommends that EDB —

(a) learn from the experience of the case. Should a persistent
works problem be identified in future, EDB should instruct TCs
to conduct further analysis as early as possible with a view to
working out a thorough solution; and

(b) remind staff to respond precisely and directly to enquiries made
by members of the public.

Government’s response
509. EDB accepted The Ombudsman’s recommendations.

510.  On recommendation (a), SPMS introduced a new function to the

SMART System in May 2016 on a trial basis to enable the generation of

reports on submission of repeated emergency repairs requests for same

types of works. The reports would help TCs identify cases which would
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require further and closer examination. With more comprehensive
inspection and analysis, TCs should be able to come up with thorough
proposals to rectify the problems identified.

511.  As for recommendation (b), EDB met with representatives of the
School and the PTA on 14 January 2016, and briefed them on the
proposed follow-up works to effectively address the flooding issues.
EDB and its TC have been engaging both the School and the PTA to
update them on the progress of the rectification works and incorporate
their views and comments where practicable. The rectification works
was completed in end-August 2017. As regards The Ombudsman’s
view that precise and direct replies to public enquiries should be provided,
staff have been reminded to observe accordingly.
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Government Secretariat — Education Bureau

Case No. 2016/1833 — Failing to properly follow up on a notice
returned by Hongkong Post concerning the allocation of Primary
One place for the complainant’s daughter

Background

512.  The complainant had submitted an application for his daughter to
participate in the Primary One Admission (POA) for the 2016/17 school
year. As at mid-April 2016, the complainant still had not received the
letter from the Education Bureau (EDB) inviting him to state his school
preferences (the Notification Letter). On 19 April, he called EDB and
enquired about the Notification Letter. The Bureau replied that the
Notification Letter sent to him was undelivered and had been returned to
the Bureau. Since the grace period for completing school selection
procedures had passed, he no longer could state his school preferences,
and his daughter would be accorded the lowest priority in the Central
Allocation stage, meaning she might end up being allocated a primary
school place in another district.

513.  The complainant was dissatisfied that EDB had failed to
properly follow up on the non-delivery of the Notification Letter, thereby
depriving him of the opportunity to state his school preferences.

The Ombudsman’s observations

514.  The purpose for the issuance of a Notification Letter by post to
parents in mid-January 2016 was to give them an opportunity to state
their school preferences. If a Notification Letter was undelivered, EDB
would check the address on the undelivered letter against the address
provided by the parent on their POA application form. Where the address
on the undelivered letter was found to be incorrect, EDB would resend
the letter according to the address provided on the application form.
However, should the addresses match, EDB would not contact the parent
until the grace period has passed for the reason of time constraint.

515.  The Office of the Ombudsman (the Office) considered that it

would not have been difficult for EDB to follow up on the cases of

undelivered Notification Letters. Take the 177 undelivered Notification
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Letters in 2016 as an example, assuming that the 20 EDB officers
involved were to call each of those parents twice during the two-month
grace period, each officer would only have to make 18 telephone calls,
with each call probably lasting for just a few minutes. It would be
entirely within EDB’s capacity to make such telephone calls. The Office
was of the view that EDB should not have refused to promptly contact
those parents by telephone on the pretext of manpower constraints.

516. The Ombudsman considered the complaint partially
substantiated and recommended that in future, EDB try to contact parents
promptly by suitable means (such as telephone calls) in case of
non-delivery of the Notification Letters, so that parents can state their
school preferences in time.

Government’s response

517.  The EDB accepted The Ombudsman’s recommendation.
Working guidelines have been drawn up to follow up promptly on cases
of non-delivery of the “Notification Letters for Choice of Schools for
Central Allocation” (regardless of whether the undelivered Notification
Letters were correctly addressed according to their corresponding
application forms) to facilitate parents’ school choices. The above
arrangement has been implemented since Primary One Admission 2017
(for admission to Primary One in the 2017/18 school year).
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Government Secretariat — Education Bureau

Case No. 2016/1964(1) — (1) Failing to properly answer the specific
questions when handling the complainant’s two information requests;
(2) delaying its replies without reasonable explanation; and (3)
providing false and misleading information in response to the
information requests

Background

518. The complainant alleged that EDB had mishandled his
information requests of 22 February 2016 (Request I) and 4 May 2016
(Request I1) in the following ways —

(a) failing to properly answer the specific questions raised in the two
requests;

(b) delaying its replies without reasonable explanation; and

(c) providing false and misleading information in response to the
requests

The Ombudsman’s observations
Request |
Allegations (a) and (c)

519. EDB has indicated to the Office of The Ombudsman (the Office)
that, for each of the complainant’s specific questions as well as
subsequent requests for clarification, the Bureau had provided him with
the information as requested and the information provided was the most
accurate and appropriate answer to his request. EDB did not find fault in
its answers to the complainant’s questions, nor any false or misleading
information provided to the complainant.

520.  However, having examined all of the complainant’s requests to
EDB’s replies, the Office noted that EDB had indeed failed to provide
clear and direct answers to some of the complainant’s questions,
justifying his further queries.
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521. In fact, it was not until 18 July, after two more rounds of
follow-up queries that the complainant made on 5 April and 30 May that
EDB finally provided clear answers.

522.  On the whole, the Office considered that EDB had failed to
handle the complainant’s Request I properly. It should have been more
forthcoming in responding to the complainant’s questions by giving clear,
direct and complete answers so as to save his time in making multiple
rounds of queries. Although there is no evidence that EDB had provided
the complainant with false or misleading information, its drip-feed
approach of releasing information was unwarranted and prone to
suspicion of being evasive. This is clearly unsatisfactory.

523. The Ombudsman considered allegation (a) substantiated and
allegation (c) unsubstantiated.

Allegation (b)

524.  EDB has explained to the Office that, for Request I, preparation
of a reply involved inputs from various sections of EDB, as well as
HKEAA, which is an external body. Preparation of the reply required
coordination, collation and verification of information from various
parties. In addition, since the reply involved legal issues, clarification of
legal points from both the Department of Justice and the legal adviser of
HKEAA was necessary. A longer processing time was hence taken to
handle the complainant’s request. Indeed, according to paragraph 1.18.1
of “Code on Access to Information — Guidelines on Interpretation and
Application”, the exceptional circumstances for deferring response to a
request beyond 21 days include, among others, the need to seek legal
advice on a request.

525.  The Office accepted the Bureau’s explanation for taking 50 days
and 49 days respectively to respond to the complainant’s follow-up
queries of 5 April and 30 May. The Office also consider that EDB had
explained to the complainant the reasons for extending the response time.
The Ombudsman found allegation (b) to be unsubstantiated.
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Request |1
Allegation (a)

526.  The Office queried why EDB had not responded to three of the
questions raised in the complainant’s letter of 4 May, the Bureau
contended that the answers had been included in its reply of 24 May. The
Office is of the view that EDB’s responses had all failed to address the
complainant’s queries, and the three questions remain unanswered .

527.  The Ombudsman considers allegation (a) substantiated. EDB
eventually provided answers to the three questions in response to the
Office’s draft investigation report. The Office considered the answers to
be succinct and direct answers, but EDB should have provided these
answers to the complainant at the outset.

Allegation (b)

528.  Despite its failure to answer all of the complainant’s questions,
EDB had managed to respond to Request Il within 21 days, the normal
target response time stipulated in the Code on Access to Information.
Accordingly, The Ombudsman considered that there was no delay in
reply and that allegation (b) is unsubstantiated.

Allegation (c)
529.  There is no evidence that EDB had provided the complainant
with false or misleading information regarding Request 1. Allegation (c)
IS unsubstantiated.
530.  Insum, the complaint against EDB is partially substantiated. The
Ombudsman urged EDB to remind staff to adopt a more forthcoming,
direct and positive attitude towards information requests/enquiries from
members of the public; in particular to respond to enquiries with clear,
direct and complete answers.

Government’s response

531.  EDB accepted The Ombudsman’s recommendation.
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532. In response, EDB has arranged to regularly circulate, on a
half-year basis, an internal circular on the Code on Access to Information.
As part of the circulation, EDB will specifically remind officers to adopt
a forthcoming, direct and positive attitude towards information
requests/enquiries from members of the public, in particular to respond to
enquiries with clear, direct and complete answers.
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Government Secretariat — Education Bureau

Case No. 2016/2951 — Failing to properly investigate a complaint
against a subsidised school and being biased towards the school

Background

533.  The complainant’s daughter was studying in a subsidised school
(the School), when in mid-November 2015, the School pointed out that
the complainant’s daughter and one of her classmates (Student A) had
violated the Academic Honesty Policy of the school during a Chinese
History test (the cheating incident). Because of the cheating incident, a
demerit was given to the complainant’s daughter as a punishment, while a
warning letter was issued to Student A in mid-December.

534.  The complainant was of the view that the School had punished
her daughter unfairly, considering the discrepancy between her
punishment and that of Student, as well as the difference in timing. The
complainant considered the School in violation of the principles
stipulated in the School Administration Guide (SAG) of the Education
Bureau (EDB). In this connection, the complainant lodged a complaint
to EDB. After the investigation, EDB concluded that the School had
handled the incident of cheating in a reasonable manner.

535.  The complainant accused EDB of being biased towards the
School.

The Ombudsman’s observations

536.  After scrutinizing the relevant documents and records, the Office
of The Ombudsman (the Office) was of the view that EDB had conducted
appropriate investigation into the complaint raised by the complainant
against the School. The conclusion drawn from the investigation was
reasonable and there was no evidence showing that EDB was biased
towards the School. The Ombudsman considered the complainant’s
allegation against EDB unsubstantiated.
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537.  However, the Office pointed out that EDB had not clearly
explained in its replies to the complainant why it considered the School
had to reasonably exercise punishments on her daughter and Student A
according to the severity of their misconduct, and how the School had not
violated the principle of exercising timely punishment to Student A as
stipulated in the SAG. Thus its reply was unable to satisfy the
complainant.

538.  Despite the fact that it was EDB’s good intention not to
embarrass the complainant, the Office considered that EDB should
clearly explain to the complainant the rationale for the conclusion of the
investigation instead of just informing the complainant of the conclusion.

539. The Ombudsman found an inadequacy on the part of EDB
although the allegation was unsubstantiated. The Ombudsman urged EDB
to learn from this experience and remind its staff to clearly explain to the
complainants the rationale for the conclusion of the investigation.

Government’s response

540. EDB accepted The Ombudsman’s recommendation and
reminded its staff that in replying to complainants, they should clearly
explain the rationale for the conclusion of the relevant investigations so
as to avoid misunderstanding on the part of the complainants.
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Highways Department, Home Affairs Department
and Lands Department

Case No. 2015/2105A,B&C - Lack of coordination in resolving the
ponding problem at a vehicular access

Background

541.  The complainant alleged that on rainy days, puddles of rain
water would form at a vehicular access (the Access Road) which runs
across the public footpath of a road and leads to the housing estate where
he lives (the ponding problem). He found this a risk to public safety and
so lodged a complaint with 1823. Although the Access Road was
resurfaced subsequent to his complaint, the problem persisted. He
lodged a complaint with the Office of The Ombudsman (the Office),
alleging that the Highways Department (HyD), the Lands Department
(LandsD) and the Home Affairs Department (HAD) lacked coordination
in fixing this problem.

Maintenance Responsibilities for the Access Road

542.  The ponding problem involved three locations of the Access
Road (hereinafter referred to as Locations A, B and C). Location A is a
public footpath maintained by HyD while Locations B and C are on
unleased Government land falling within a Temporary Government Land
Allocation (TGLA) granted to Water Supplies Department (WSD) for
carrying out some works at the time the complaint was lodged. There is
no maintenance party for Locations B and C.

543.  Improvement works were carried out specifically at Location B
by WSD to address the ponding problem during the TGLA period. HyD
also did some improvement works at Location A in response to this
complaint.  However, the ponding problem remained unresolved.
WSD advised that the ponding problem at Location B was caused by a
congenital defect at the Access Road that required extensive upgrading
works to rectify.
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The Ombudsman’s observations

544.  HyD stated that it was only responsible for the maintenance of
Location A but not Locations B and C, which were outside its purview.
It had already carried out improvement works at Location A.  As regards
Locations B and C, HyD had referred the complaint to LandsD for
follow-up actions and it later learned that LandsD had requested HAD to
carry out improvement works.

545.  LandsD indicated that it was not responsible for road
maintenance and it did not have the expertise to solve the ponding
problem at Locations B and C. Based on WSD’s advice, the District
Lands Office concerned had requested the local District Office to
consider carrying out upgrading works under HAD’s Minor Works
Programme.

546. HAD explained that the Access Road was not a public village
access, but an exclusive access to the housing estate concerned and some
village-type houses. It was outside the scope of Rural Public Works
eligible for the use of funds under the Minor Works Programme. If the
improvement works carried out by HyD and WSD could not resolve the
ponding problem, the Government departments concerned should review
holistically and in a coordinated manner the design and the works done
with a view to devising further remedial action.

547. Investigation revealed that none of the three departments under
complaint were willing to take the lead in tackling the ponding problem.
The Office found it highly undesirable that these departments continued
to explain and delineate their own respective purview instead of putting
their heads together to really resolve the problem. This kind of
compartmental mentality should be cautioned against.

548.  Upon the Office’s intervention, the departments concerned were
willing to discuss the issue and they ultimately worked out a proposal:
HyD would act as a works agent for LandsD to carry out on a one-off
basis improvement works on the Access Road including slanting of the
road and building additional gullies; LandsD would provide the funding
for the improvement works; HAD would liaise with HyD, LandsD and
the Owners’ Corporation of the housing estate concerned and convene a
meeting to explain the way forward.
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549. The Ombudsman considered this complaint partially
substantiated and recommended that the three departments should
expeditiously implement the actions agreed at their two joint meetings,
specifically that —

(@) LandsD arrange for the necessary funding for HyD to carry out
the improvement works;

(b) HyD carry out the improvement works; and

(c) HAD provide the necessary liaison work to facilitate the above
and secure the agreement of the Owners’ Corporation of
Pretticoins Garden to take up the future maintenance
responsibilities for the gullies in the Access Road.

Government’s response

550. HyD, HAD and LandsD have accepted the recommendation
from The Ombudsman.

551. HyD carried out the improvement works at the unallocated
government land in March 2016 with the funding provided by LandsD.
HAD liaised with the relevant Owners’ Corporation on the improvement
works and the arrangement of future maintenance work of the gullies, and
obtained their agreement to take up the future maintenance
responsibilities of the gullies at the unallocated government land. In
April 2016, a local District Councillor wrote to HyD, stating that the local
residents recognised that the works completed by HyD in March 2016
had effectively alleviated the ponding problem.
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Highways Department and Social Welfare Department

Case No. 2016/3195 & 2016/3054 — Ineffective in tackling street
sleeper problems

Background

552.  Allegedly, the complainant complained to HyD on 26 June 2016
about street sleepers occupying a pedestrian subway connecting Morrison
Hill Road, Sports Road and Leighton Road (the Subway). On the
following day, 1823, being responsible for handling public enquiries and
complaints received by HyD, replied that his complaint had been referred
to the Home Affairs Department (HAD), the Fire Services Department
and the Food and Environmental Hygiene Department. 1823 later added
that his case had also been referred to HyD and the Social Welfare
Department (SWD).

553. HAD, HyD and a social welfare organisation subvented by SWD
(Organisation A) subsequently replied to the complainant. HAD told
him that a multi-department joint clearance operation had been conducted
in the Subway on 6 May 2016. Organisation A replied that its social
workers had been helping the street-sleepers, some of whom had given up
street-sleeping. HyD stated that it had no power to remove the
street-sleepers or their belongings.

554.  The complainant expressed dissatisfaction with how 1823, HyD
and SWD dealt with his complaint and the street-sleeper problem, and
complained against the departments for —

HyD

(@) having failed to keep the Subway free from unlawful occupation
by street-sleepers;

SWD
(b) having failed to tackle the street-sleeper problem effectively; and

(c) having inappropriately referred his complaint to Organisation A
without informing him prior to the said referral.
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The Ombudsman’s observations
HyD

555.  HyD only has a minor role to play in handling the street-sleepers
problem in this case. It is involved because the problem happens in the
Subway, the maintenance of which is by HyD. In any event, HyD has
acted in accordance with its powers and responsibilities.  The
Ombudsman considered the complaint against HyD unsubstantiated.

SWD

556.  Street-sleeping is both a street management problem and a social
problem requiring the joint efforts of various government departments.
The duty of SWD is to provide a wide range of welfare services through
non-governmental organisations to help needy individuals quit
street-sleeping and reintegrate into the community.

557.  Through Organisation A, which is subvented by SWD, 48
outreach visits to the Subway were conducted between September 2015
and August 2016, and the number of street-sleepers dropped from 5 to 2
by the end of August 2016. The Office considered that SWD had been
properly handling the problem through Organisation A, though better
results had yet to be seen.

558.  As Organisation A is commissioned by SWD to take care of the
welfare needs of street-sleepers and the handling is in line with the
standing practice on follow-up of referrals from 1823, the Office
considered SWD’s referral of the complaint appropriate. The Ombudsman
considered the complaint against SWD unsubstantiated

559.  The Ombudsman considered both complaints against HyD and
SWD unsubstantiated, but urged the departments concerned to continue
to conduct multi-department joint operations and step up cleansing work.

Government’s response

560. HyD and SWD accepted The Ombudsman’s recommendation.
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HyD

561. HyD carries out regular cleansing operations at the concerned
subway and will continue to take part in joint operations organised by
Wanchai District Office.

SWD

562. SWD and non-governmental organisations commissioned to
provide welfare services for street-sleepers will maintain their efforts to
provide counselling as well as referral of financial and accommodation
support to street-sleepers so as to facilitate those in need to reintegrate
Into society.

563.  Under HAD’s coordination, SWD has been collaborating with

other relevant departments and participating in joint departmental
operations to tackle the street-sleeper problem.
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Home Affairs Department

Case No. 2016/1938 — Improper exclusion of certain stakeholders
from consultation on an application for lease modification

Background

564.  The complainant enquired of the Home Affairs Department
(HAD) about the consultation on an application for lease modification for
residential redevelopment of a land lot along a certain road in the Peak
and Mid-levels area. In its reply, HAD noted that nearby residents and
the relevant Area Committee (AC) were consulted, but Members of the
District Council (DC) concerned were not consulted because it would be
unfair to other candidates in the DC election, which would soon be held.
Allegedly, all houses along the road in question were vacant. The
complainant considered HAD’s explanation absurd.

The Ombudsman’s observations

565.  In carrying out local consultation on Government policies and
local matters, Government policy bureaux or departments take the lead in
determining the time, duration, scope and method while the District
Offices (DOs) of HAD play a supporting role by providing advice and
assistance as necessary. Where the requirements for consultation are not
specified, the consultation will be launched in accordance with the
established practices of DOs.

566.  Local consultation usually lasts for two weeks and its scope
covers DCs, local and residents’ organisations and other local residents
affected by the proposal/issue. Where consultation starts during the
suspension of DCs’ operation pursuant to section 28 of the District
Councils Ordinance, DC Members are generally not consulted, but they
may express their views in their personal capacity like any other
members of the public.

567. HAD explained that when Lands Department (LandsD)

requested this local consultation, it did not set any specific requirement.

The local DO conducted a two-week consultation in accordance with

established practices. Apart from residents in vicinity, members of AC,

except those who were DC Members, were consulted. The exclusion of
160



DC Members served to ensure fairness among all candidates in the
approaching DC election.

568.  In the view of the Office of The Ombudsman, it is essential to
solicit opinions and comments from stakeholders or their representatives
in any consultation exercises. Normally, HAD’s usual practice could
have served the purpose, but in this case the DC Members concerned
were not consulted owing to the suspension of DC’s operation during the
election period.

569.  Given that the issue under consultation would likely attract
community concern, the arrangement was clearly unsatisfactory. The
Office considered that the local DO should have devised some special
consultation arrangements to cater for the circumstances and advised the
LandsD accordingly.

570.  The Ombudsman considered this complaint substantiated, and
urged HAD to take reference from this case and to ensure in future that
stakeholders or their representatives are duly covered in local consultation,
for example, by alerting the initiating bureau(x) or department(s) of the
suspension of District Councils and advising them to avoid holding
consultations during the period concerned, or considering other
appropriate ways to engage relevant District Councillors in the discussion
process as necessary.

Government’s response
571.  HAD accepts The Ombudsman’s recommendation.

572. HAD agrees that DC members are important stakeholders for
local consultation. Taking into account The Ombudsman’s
recommendation, District Offices will notify all relevant departments at
least two months before the suspension of the DC due to the DC election,
and remind departments that they should, as far as practicable and with
the assistance of the relevant District Office, arrange for any necessary
local consultation either before or after the suspension period to ensure
relevant DC Member(s) are consulted.
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Hong Kong Monetary Authority

Case No. 2016/2413 — Failure to notify the complainant or seek her
consent prior to a telephone recording

Background

573.  The complainant lodged a complaint with the Office of the
Ombudsman (the Office) that the Hong Kong Monetary Authority
(HKMA) failed to properly follow up her complaint against a bank (Bank
A) in December 2013. The complainant alleged that —

(@ HKMA had initially invited her for an appointment but failed to
provide the date and time, so she was unable to respond or
attend,;

(b) from March 2014 onwards, HKMA failed to refer her further
allegations against Bank A to the bank for its direct responses;

(c) between February and June 2016, she made multiple attempts to
set up a meeting with the investigation team of HKMA but her
repeated requests were unreasonably rejected; and

(d) HKMA recorded a telephone conversation with her without
notifying her or seeking her prior consent on 12 December 2013.

The Ombudsman’s observations
Allegation (a)

574.  From the telephone recording records maintained by the HKMA,
HKMA staff called the complainant on 12 December 2013 to invite her
for an interview on 30 December 2013 The parties discussed possible
meeting times during the telephone conversation.  However, the
complainant then said that a face-to-face interview was unnecessary
because her allegations against Bank A were clearly written in her
complaint form. The Office examined the corresponding telephone
recordings, which confirmed the above content, and concluded that
allegation (a) was unsubstantiated.
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Allegation (b)

575.  The Office considered HKMA to be in the best position to decide
whether Bank A was required to provide further responses to the
complainant’s allegations, having considered information previously
obtained from both parties. Moreover, HKMA had demanded Bank A to
provide written explanation about the matter to the complainant twice.
Allegation (b) was unsubstantiated.

Allegation (c)

576.  After reviewing the correspondence between HKMA and the
complainant, the Office considered the complainant’s request for a
meeting to be merely based on her dissatisfaction towards HKMA’s
investigation results. It was not inappropriate for HKMA to turn down
the complainant’s request for a face-to-face meeting, as the Office agreed
that whether to take further action against Bank A should be HKMA’s
decision to make, after reviewing the evidence collected. Allegation (c)
was unsubstantiated.

Allegation (d)

577.  The Office believed that it was proper etiquette to notify the
other party before recording a conversation. In fact, HKMA’s guidelines
explicitly required its staff to obtain prior consent from the interviewee
before recording a telephone interview. HKMA’s complaint hotline (the
Hotline) also reminded the caller that his/her telephone conversation
might be recorded before his/her call is directed to a staff.

578. HKMA contacted the complainant twice on 12 December 2013
in an attempt to set up a face-to-face meeting or telephone conference on
another date and time. During one call, it was explicitly brought to the
complainant’s attention that the call was being recorded, and she did not
express any opposition. When the complainant called the Hotline later
that day, she heard the pre-recorded message reminding callers that their
call might be recorded. However, while the telephone recordings of the
complainant absolved HKMA of allegation (a), there was no evidence of
the complainant being informed that every phone conversation with
HKMA would be recorded.

579.  The Ombudsman concluded that the complainant against HKMA
partially substantiated, and recommended that HKMA —
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(@)

(b)

explain to staff members the implemented measures to enhance
the disclosure of telephone recording and how they should
respond to related enquiries; and

evaluate the effectiveness of relevant measures from time to
time.

Government’s response

580.

The HKMA has accepted The Ombudsman’s recommendations

and implemented the following enhancements —

(@)

(b)

(©)

it has been clearly stated in the Complaint Form and the
acknowledgment letter issued to complainant that ““all telephone
conversations between you and the HKMA may be recorded,
irrespective of whether you dial in or we call you back so as to
ensure our service quality”;

the message “all telephone conversations between you and the
HKMA may be recorded, irrespective of whether you dial in or
we call you back so as to ensure our service quality ” has been
included in the pre-record messages of the Hotline, the
“Complaints about Banks — Frequently Asked Questions” and
the “Contact Us” sections of the HKMA website; and

an internal briefing was given to relevant staff members to
explain the above-mentioned measures, and the effectiveness of
the implemented enhancements would be reviewed where
necessary.
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Housing Department

Case No. 2015/4242 — Failing to properly handle complaints about
unauthorised operations by some market stalls

Background

581.  The complainant was a tenant in a market (the Market) under the
Housing Department (HD) and she operated a flower stall. HD had
contracted the day-to-day management of the Market to a property
management agent (the PMA), which would routinely patrol the Market
and conduct special inspections to investigate allegations of tenancy
condition violation.

582.  To ensure that goods offered by markets can serve the needs of
residents, the nature of the trade for each market stall is specified in HD’s
tenancy agreement. The agreement also stipulates that tenants should not
use their stalls for storage of goods other than a reasonable stock for
business.

583.  The complainant had lodged numerous complaints with HD,
alleging that several stalls operated by members of a family were
frequently in breach of the tenancy agreements, including selling paper
offerings and joss sticks at a flower stall, and selling flowers at a leather
goods stall and in a storeroom. Meanwhile, the family concerned also
made frequent complaints against the complainant for illegal extension of
business area.

584.  The complainant considered HD to have acted unfairly and
delayed in taking follow-up actions and giving her replies. Moreover, the
PMA had often alerted stall tenants under complaint of oncoming
inspections, calling into suspicion whether the PMA was harbouring
those tenants. On the other hand, HD followed up on complaints against
the complainant immediately, and directed the PMA to inspect her stall
on a daily basis.
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The Ombudsman’s observations

585. The Office of The Ombudsman (the Office) considered it
imperative for market stall tenants to exercise self-discipline, and show
tolerance and respect to other tenants. If tenants always make and
reciprocate complaints to harass each other, HD would have to deploy a
lot of manpower and resources to handle complaints, and it would be
difficult to foster an amicable business environment. HD should give
advice and issue warnings where necessary. If the situation persisted, HD
should consider denying lease renewal upon expiry of their tenancies.

586.  After scrutinising relevant work records, the Office was satisfied
that the PMA had conducted inspections and given replies to the
complainant in a timely manner. There was also no evidence that HD or
the PMA had condoned irregularities in other tenants’ stalls as alleged.

587.  While the PMA had not found any sale of commodities outside
the scope of specified trade by the family concerned, it found that they
had stored or displayed in their stalls goods and advertisement notices
unrelated to the specified trade. The Office opined that HD should not
allow tenants to place unrelated articles at their stalls, since the original
intent of restrictions imposed on inventory should regulate against storing
or displaying unrelated articles, in addition to limiting stock of trade
goods.

588.  The Ombudsman considered this complaint unsubstantiated, but
recommended that HD consider imposing control over the storage or
display of goods and other articles unrelated to the specified trade of
market stalls.

Government’s response
589. HD accepted The Ombudsman’s recommendation. HD has
enhanced the relevant standard terms in the tenancy agreement of market

stalls, and has revised the guidelines in relevant Estate Management
Division Instructions for implementation.
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Housing Department

Case No. 2015/4608 - Mishandling complaints against the
complainant as an operator of a market stall

Background

590.  The complainant was a tenant in a market (the Market) under the
Housing Department (HD) and she operated a fruit shop. HD had
contracted the day-to-day management of the Market to a property
management agent (the PMA), which would routinely patrol the Market
and conduct special inspections to investigate allegations of tenancy
condition violation.

591.  To ensure that goods offered by markets can serve the needs of
residents, HD’s tenancy agreement for market stalls specifies the nature
of the trade. The agreement also stipulates that tenants should not use
their stalls for storage of goods other than a reasonable level of stock for
their business.

592.  The complainant claimed that a certain family (the Family), out
of personal grudge, repeatedly lodged complaints with HD since June
2014 against her, alleging that she conducted business and had meals
outside the specified area of her stall. In response to these complaints,
HD conducted surprise inspections and took photos of her stall. Though
she was not found to have breached any regulations, photos were taken of
her stall several times a day, seriously affecting her business. The
complainant thought that HD deliberately picked on her.

593.  On the other hand, the complainant filed a complaint with HD at
the end of 2014 against the Family for breaching the tenancy conditions.
She alleged that the Family was selling paper offerings and displaying
Buddhist altars at their stalls, and HD would only inspect their stalls after
giving prior notice to the family. The Family was allowed to take away
or cover the unauthorised articles before photos were taken during
inspections. Eventually, HD replied that no irregularities were found at
the Family’s stalls after investigation.
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594.  The complainant therefore filed a complaint with the Office of
The Ombudsman (the Office) against HD for mishandling complaints
about alleged irregularities of market stalls, and alleged that HD
victimised her and harboured the Family.

The Ombudsman’s observations

595.  The Office scrutinised relevant work records and was satisfied
that the PMA, apart from conducting daily routine patrols, had also
carried out follow-up actions upon receipt of complaints. There was no
evidence that the PMA had condoned any alleged offending tenants.
Furthermore, it was the duty of the PMA to take photos while conducting
routine patrols and special inspections, the PMA did not single out the
complainant to treat her unfairly.

596.  Although the Family was not found to be selling goods outside
the scope of specified trade during the PMA’s inspections of their stalls,
goods unrelated to the specified trade, however, were found displayed at
the stalls. The Office opined that HD should not allow tenants to place
unrelated articles at their stalls, since the original intent of restrictions
imposed on inventory should regulate against storing or displaying
unrelated articles, in addition to limiting stock of trade goods.

597.  There was no evidence that HD had picked on the complainant,
or it had failed to follow up on the complainant’s complaint or had
harboured the Family. Therefore, The Ombudsman considered the
complaint unsubstantiated. However, The Ombudsman recommended
that HD consider imposing control over the storage of goods and articles
unrelated to the business of the stalls

Government’s response
598. HD accepted The Ombudsman’s recommendation. HD has
enhanced the relevant standard terms in the tenancy agreement of market

stalls, and has revised the guidelines in the Estate Management Division
Instructions for implementation.

168



Housing Department

Case No. 2016/0079(1) — (1) Failing to provide proper assistance to
the complainant in respect of her claim for compensation and poor
attitude of staff; and (2) reneging on its promise to release
information relating to her claim

Background

599.  The complainant alleged that flush water pipe replacement works
carried out by HD’s outsourced contractor had caused a flood in her flat
in a public rental housing estate (the Estate), drenching her furniture,
electrical appliances, piano, etc., but HD staff failed to render proper
assistance in respect of her claim for compensation, and their attitude was
poor and evasive (allegation (a)). Furthermore, the complainant made a
number of requests to HD for information relating to her claim (such as
incident reports, works records, photographs and so on), HD had agreed
verbally, but later reneged on its verbal agreement to release such
information (allegation (b)).

The Ombudsman’s observations
Allegation (a)

600.  Since HD and the property management agency of the Estate (the
PMA) had kept in touch with the complainant in writing, and met with
her a number of times, the Office of The Ombudsman (the Office) did not
find HD’s attitude evasive. Regarding the allegation of poor attitude,
the account given by HD was different from that of the complainant. In
the absence of corroborative evidence, it was difficult for the Office to
comment on the attitude of HD staff.

601.  However, the Office found deficiencies on the part of HD in
handling the complainant’s claim. Back in August 2009, the Office
published a Direct Investigation Report “Handling of Complaints
Involving Claims” (the Report) on HD. The investigation concluded
that it was inappropriate and inadequate for HD to solely rely on loss
adjusters’ investigation in determining compensation. A number of
recommendations were made in the Report, which included reminding
staff to conduct parallel investigations of complaints, while investigations
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were being conducted by loss adjusters, to get at the root cause(s) of the
problem and to improve as appropriate, as well as providing information
or other forms of assistance to claimants in need. At the time, HD
accepted all of The Ombudsman’s recommendations.

602.  In the present case, HD claimed that a parallel investigation had
been conducted after the water seepage incident. However, upon further
enquiry by the Office, HD admitted that it was only after the Office had
intervened that the District Maintenance Office responsible for the
Investigation was instructed to prepare the relevant report in May 2016.
This casted doubt on whether the investigation was conducted properly
and whether HD had diligently scrutinised the loss adjuster’s conclusion
against its own findings.

603. In addition, while HD should have been aware of certain
disagreements between the contractor and the loss adjuster’s conclusion
of the investigation, HD did not actively intervene convening a case
review meeting between all parties until October 2015, which indicated
that HD had neither identified the root cause(s) of the problem in a timely
manner, nor addressed possible deficiencies in the loss adjuster’s
investigation at the earliest opportunity. HD also adopted a passive
approach in following the loss adjuster’s advice to refuse disclosure of
certain information to the complainant.

604. The Office was of the view that HD, as the owner and
management authority of the communal facilities in the Estate, had the
obligation to ensure that the complainant’s claim would be handled
properly. Although HD had kept in touch with the complainant and
provided most of the information she requested, HD failed to
conscientiously conduct a parallel investigation, and to intervene and
resolve deficiencies in the loss adjuster’s investigation, prolonging the
complainant’s grievance unnecessarily. The Ombudsman considered
allegation (a) partially substantiated.

Allegation (b)

605. The complainant alleged that HD had reneged on its verbal
agreement to release a document, while having fulfilled all other requests
for information from the complainant. According to HD, the office staff
at the time had not made any promise that the related document would be
provided to her; they told the complainant that the document could only
be released with the consent of the meeting participants. In the absence
of corroborative evidence, the Office had no way to verify the actual
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conversation at the time, and thus had difficulties in ascertaining whether
the complainant’s allegation of “reneging on the verbal agreement”
against HD staff was true. The Ombudsman considered allegation (b)
inconclusive.

606. The Ombudsman considered this complaint partially
substantiated, and found other inadequacies on HD’s parts. The
Ombudsman recommended that HD —

(@) step up staff training to ensure that they strictly comply with the
provisions of the Code on Access to Information (the Code) and
the Guidelines on Interpretation and Application;

(b) remind its staff of the need for parallel investigation of
complaints with diligence to identify the root causes of problems
and make rectifications as appropriate, even after the relevant
claims have been referred to loss adjusters for processing; and

(c) review and strengthen the procedures for monitoring claims
handled by the loss adjuster, and avoid over-reliance on the loss
adjuster’s advice.

Government’s response

607. HD accepted The Ombudsman’s recommendations, and has
taken the following follow-up actions.

608.  For recommendation (a), HD has stepped up staff training, and,
at the same time, issued a General Circular to its staff, reminding them
that upon any requests for information (including those without making
specific reference to the Code), they should take appropriate actions in
accordance with the provisions of the Code and the Guidelines on
Interpretation and Application.

609.  For recommendation (b), HD issued an Estate Management
Division Instruction (the EMDI) on 16 November 2016. Officers
handling compensation claims are instructed to conduct their own
independent case investigations. To prevent the recurrence of similar
incidents, they are also advised to maintain records of investigations, in a
bid to identify the cause(s) of the incident and examine appropriate
Improvement measures.
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610.  For recommendation (c), as stipulated in the relevant paragraphs
of the EMDI, apart from monitoring the work progress of loss adjusters,
officers handling the compensation claims should report to the Risk
Management Unit (RMU) and the Public Liability Insurance (PLI)
Claims Review Sub-group via the representative(s) of the respective
regions in case they find the performance or work progress of loss
adjusters falling short of their performance pledges to HD, so that proper
follow-up actions can be taken by RMU or PLI Claims Review
Sub-group. In addition, it is also pointed out in the EMDI that if the
preliminary investigation results indicate that the problem possibly
involves other stakeholders (e.g. maintenance contractors), HD should
proactively clarify the investigation findings with stakeholders concerned
before responding to the complainants.

172



Housing Department

Case No. 2016/0117(1) — Unreasonably refusing to provide
information about the actual rents and rental increases of some
factory units

Background

611.  The complainant was a tenant of a factory estate (the Factory)
managed by the Housing Department (HD). In July 2015, he was
notified by HD that the rent of his unit would be increased. Dissatisfied
with the increase rate, he requested, via a letter by a Legislative
Councillor to HD, that the rent be reduced. However, HD decided to
uphold the decision subsequent to a review. On 23 October, the
complainant wrote to HD requesting an explanation on how the rent was
determined.

612. On 12 November, HD replied that in assessing the prevailing
market rents, it would make reference to the rental information of similar
factory premises at the time of tenancy renewal, taking into account
various factors affecting the rental value of the factory premises, such as
the location and age of the property, traffic conditions in the vicinity,
quality of the building, size and floor level of the unit, floor loading and
ceiling height. In addition, HD also made proper adjustments taking
into consideration Hong Kong’s overall economic situation and the
current trends in the rental market of industrial buildings when
determining the rental value.

613. On 18 November, the complainant wrote another letter to HD
requesting further rental information on the Factory, and asked HD to
explain how the relevant calculation was made. On 3 December, HD
replied that it had already explained how the rent was assessed in an
earlier reply. As for the rental adjustment information of other units
requested by the complainant, HD could not release such data as they
were HD’s “internal information”.

614.  The complainant was dissatisfied with the reason given by HD
for refusing to disclose the information. He therefore filed a complaint
with the Office of The Ombudsman (the Office) against HD for refusing
to provide the rental information of the Factory, in contravention of the
Code on Access to Information (the Code).
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The Ombudsman’s observations
Unreasonably refusing to disclose the rental information

615.  Although “internal information” was the reason HD gave to the
complainant, HD later explained to the Office that their justification was
actually based on para. 2.14(a) of the Code, which provides for
withholding information due to it being “third party information”.

616.  The Office obtained legal advice that because the rates of rent
increases of the factory units were determined by HD, HD was the owner
and holder of such information, the information was not held nor can it be
provided by the tenants (the third party). Even though HD might have
negotiated with individual tenants on the rates of rent increases and
incorporated such information into the tenancy agreement, HD’s right to
own and make use of such information was not compromised, and the
information should not be considered “third party information”. The
Office was of the view that HD improperly invoked paragraph 2.14(a) of
the Code as the reason for refusing to disclose the percentages of rent
increases and the data of the tenants concerned.

617.  Moreover, HD explained withholding certain information on the
grounds that it had already provided sufficient information for the
purpose of settling the complainant’s concern. This contravened the
stipulation in paragraphs 1.9.2 and 1.10.2 of the Guidelines on
Interpretation and Application of the Code (the Guidelines) that “the
purpose of the request, or refusal to reveal the purpose on the part of the
requestor, should not be a reason for withholding the information
requested in part or in full.” HD needed not speculate on the purpose
behind the complainant’s request, and should not unilaterally decide
whether certain information can fulfil such purpose. The Office deemed
HD’s actions contradictory to the spirit of the Code.

618.  The Factory is a public resource and its vacant units are leased
by open tender. The rents set for successful bids are announced on the
spot to ensure fairness and impartiality, as well as to safeguard the
Government’s revenue. Upon the expiry of the tenancies, the rents will
be assessed and adjusted by HD based on the prevailing market rents.
By checking the Factory’s rental terms against the market rents, tenants
and the general public can monitor HD’s assessment. Therefore, it is in
the interest of the public and in line with public expectation to disclose
the rental information.
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619. HD failed to explain why it had to keep the relevant information
confidential. Although it appears to be usual HD practice to refuse
disclosure of information on rents or rates of rent increases to persons
other than the relevant tenants, this practice is improper in the first place
and not a valid reason for withholding information. The Office opined
that in addition to the disclosure of all rental information, HD should
consider including a new term in tenancy agreements upon tenancy
renewal to make it clear to tenants that HD may disclose details of rent
adjustments.

Failing to reply to the complainant in accordance with the requirements
of the Code

620.  According to the Code, if departments have to refuse a non-Code
request, they should give reasons for refusal in accordance with Part 2 of
the Code, quoting the relevant paragraph number of the Code and inform
the requestor of the review and complaint channels.

621.  In this case, HD cited “internal information” as the reason for
refusing the complainant’s request in its reply on 3 December 2015,
without referring and adhering to Part 2 of the Code. Neither did HD
inform the complainant of the review and complaint channels. This was
indeed improper. HD’s understanding of the Code and its Guidelines
was inadequate, and its grounds for refusing to release the information
requested by the complainant were unjustified.

622.  The Ombudsman considered this complaint substantiated, and
recommended that HD —

(@) review the complainant’s request for information in accordance
with the Code, and fully disclose the relevant information to the
complainant unless there is a justified and valid reason as
stipulated in Part 2 of the Code to withhold it;

(b) consider including a new term in the tenancy agreement of the
factory units which would allow HD to disclose details of the
adjusted rents upon tenancy renewal; and

(c) actively implement measures to enhance the staff’s knowledge

of the Code and its Guidelines.
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Government’s response

623. HD accepted The Ombudsman’s recommendations (a) and (c),
and has taken the following actions in response.

624.  For recommendation (a), HD has reviewed the complainant’s
request for information in accordance with the Code and dealt with the
complainant’s request according to the Code’s specific criteria.

625.  For recommendation (c), HD has stepped up relevant training,
including circulating the related circulars/guidelines periodically and
organising seminars, etc., so that HD staff can fully understand and
properly follow the requirements of the Code.

626. HD did not accept The Ombudsman’s recommendation (b). At
present, the public can make requests for information to HD under the
Code. HD will determine whether to accede to or refuse such requests
according to the provisions of the Code. HD will handle any requests
for information based on the facts of individual cases in accordance with
the Code and does not consider that there is a need to include a special
term in the tenancy agreement upon tenancy renewal. The Ombudsman
has noted HD’s above stance.
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Information Services Department

Case No. 2016/1692 - Unreasonably denying an online media
organisation access to cover Government press conferences and
briefings

Background

627.  The complainant is an online media organisation that publishes a
monthly periodical (Periodical A) on the Internet. After repeatedly being
denied access to cover press conferences hosted by Government officials
at different levels, the complainant asked the Information Services
Department (ISD) for an explanation. ISD replied that it was not possible
to admit journalists of all mass news media organisations, including
registered printed and broadcasting media and news agencies, for
on-the-spot reporting. Moreover, given that the online media organisation
in question belongs to the new media, and there was as yet no universally
accepted or clear definition of new media, it was difficult for ISD to
distinguish which new media organisations belong to the category of
“mass news media organisations” that were admitted.

628. In the complainant’s view, Periodical A is a registered
publication that fits the definition of news reporting media. It was,
therefore, unfair that ISD should refuse the complainant’s requests for
on-the-spot news reporting. Besides, online media have become
increasingly popular. It was unreasonable for ISD to deny new media
across the board a proper avenue to cover Government news.

The Ombudsman’s observations

629.  ISD issues press releases and invitations to press conferences
through its Government News and Media Information System (GNMIS).
However, even organisations registered under the Registration of Local
Newspapers Ordinance do not automatically become GNMIS users.
GNMIS users must be “mass news media organisations”, such as
newspapers, radio and television stations and news agencies, engaged
mainly in current news reporting.
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630. The public’s right to freedom of the press should always be
upheld. The Office of The Ombudsman (the Office) considered that any
control and restrictions imposed by ISD on any media have to be
justifiable, and their scope and magnitude should not exceed what are
necessary.

631.  According to ISD, the justifications or legitimate purpose for
Imposing restrictions on media reporting are to avoid overcrowding the
venue, which would disrupt the proceedings, and to satisfy security
requirements and maintain order in the venue. When needs arose, 1ISD
would adopt the press mode of pool coverage, or limit the number of
journalists from “mass news media organisations” permitted on site, even
if they had received invitations via GNMIS.

632.  Nevertheless, the Office noticed that ISD would reject all
requests for on-the-spot reporting by organisations other than “mass news
media organisations”, irrespective of the venue size and level of security
risks. Such restriction was clearly excessive. In the Office’s view, even
though some organisations might have previous records of disrupting
order in venues, ISD should not across the boards reject all requests from
organisations other than “mass news media organisations”.

633.  Furthermore, ISD did not have a clear set of criteria or any
mechanism to determine whether an organisation engages mainly in
current news reporting. ISD only stated that it would take into account
various factors when deciding whether an organisation can become a
GNMIS user. This is far from ideal. The media industry and the public
are not clear on the requirements for registration as a GNMIS user. ISD
staff members themselves would not know what factors should be taken
into account when there are no internal guidelines to follow.

634. At the LegCo meeting on 22 January 2014, the Government
indicated that it would discuss with the media industry the formulation of
a new set of criteria for GNMIS subscription. It also undertook to closely
monitor the advancement of information technology and changes in the
media industry. However, there was no progress afterwards. The Office
considered that ISD should keep up with the times and should not
continue to reject all new media organisations.

635. The Ombudsman considered this complaint substantiated and
recommended that ISD —
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(a) enhance the transparency and currency of its policy, review
quickly its policy of denying all online media organisations that
are not associated with the traditional “mass news media
organisations” the access for on-the-spot news reporting;

(b) review and relax the requirements for registration as GNMIS
users as far as possible and draw up relevant work guidelines for
its staff and media organisations to follow; and

(c) before completion of the above reviews, be more flexible in
dealing with requests from individual media organisations to
carry out news reporting, wherever the venue and security
conditions permit.

Government’s response

636.  ISD has accepted The Ombudsman’s recommendations (a) and
(b). ISD has conducted a comprehensive review on the arrangements for
the admission of media (including online-only media) to press areas and
the criteria for registration as a GNMIS user.

637.  ISD has adopted an open and inclusive approach in conducting
the review, making reference to the practices of LegCo, international
organisations and other economies. Since October 2016, LegCo has
allowed journalists of online-only media equal access as traditional media
to the LegCo Complex. In all the international organisations and
economies that ISD has studied, online media (including online-only
media) are generally granted access to media events or meetings,
although some organisations have imposed additional requirements for
accreditation of online media. 1SD has also exchanged views on the
issue with five major industry organisations.

638. On 19 September 2017, the Chief Executive announced that
following the completion of this review, ISD has put in place a
registration mechanism to give online-only media access to Government
press conferences and media events. In general, online-only media
which are bona fide “mass news media organisations” whose principal
business is the regular reporting of original news for dissemination to the
general public can apply for registration with GNMIS to receive press
releases and media invitations issued by the Government. As at
28 December 2017, 11 online-only media organisations have been
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registered with GNMIS.

639.  Regarding recommendation (b), a new set of guidelines and the
application form for registration with GNMIS are now available in ISD’s
website. Separately, internal guidelines and procedures for processing
GNMIS applications have been introduced. ISD officers have been
briefed on the new arrangements.

640. ISD has not accepted recommendation (c), mainly because
before the establishment of a set of objective criteria and applicable
mechanism, it is difficult in practice to deal with requests from individual
organisation flexibly as this may bring about complaints against unfair
treatment.  In any event, this recommendation has been overtaken by
event since the Government has implemented the aforementioned new
arrangements.

641.  Since ISD has implemented new arrangements to allow qualified
online-only media to cover Government press conferences and media
events, The Ombudsman informed ISD on 6 November 2017 that their
follow-up on this case had been completed.
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Information Services Department

Case No. 2016/2126 - Unreasonably denying online media
organisations access to cover Government press conferences and
briefings

Background

642.  The Information Services Department (ISD) issues press releases
and invitations to press conferences through its Government News and
Media Information System (GNMIS). However, even organisations
registered under the Registration of Local Newspapers Ordinance do not
automatically become GNMIS users. GNMIS users must be “mass news
media organisations”, such as newspapers, radio and television stations
and news agencies, engaged mainly in current news reporting.

643. A media organisation (the complainant) alleged that under
existing Government policy, journalists from online media are
categorically barred from attending Government press events and have no
access to GNMIS. The justifications given by ISD for denying online
media representatives access for coverage of such activities were that —

(@) 1SD normally allowed journalists of registered or licensed mass
news media organisations to have access to Government press
conferences or media events. However, owing to the overall
circumstances including venue constraint, security needs and
on-site order, it may not be possible for all registered media to
enter into the reporting venues; and

(b) since there was as yet no statutory registration or licensing
regime for “online media” and the society has no universal or
clear definition of “online media”, ISD is unable to differentiate
within the wide range of online media in operation.

644. The complainant did not accept ISD’s explanation and
considered the Government’s policy against digital-only news websites
and journalists unfair for the following reasons —

(@) ISD’s practice infringed upon press freedom as protected by the
Basic Law. Even if representatives of online media could
produce press cards issued by the Hong Kong Journalists
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Association, ISD had time and again denied them entry to cover
press conferences and briefings hosted by the Government,
including the Legislative Council (LegCo) New Territories East
geographical constituency by-election and a press briefing by the
Chief Executive;

(b) dissemination of information via the Internet has become
increasingly popular, but ISD has ignored the trend and still
refused, without justifications, to let online media have access to
Government events;

(c) contrary to the Government’s claim that it is difficult to define
digital-only media and journalists, the Hong Kong Journalists
Association, the Hong Kong Press Photographers Association,
the LegCo and various multinational institutions such as the
European Commission have clear criteria for accrediting
digital-only media and journalists; and

(d) despite repeated appeals by the complainant, affected news
organisations and legislators, ISD has not made an effort to
address the problem, nor has it tried to work out a solution with
the Industry.

The Ombudsman’s observations

645. It is the view of the Office of The Ombudsman (the Office) that
the operation of ISD’s GNMIS should be in line with the Government’s
policy on news dissemination. Any regulation and restriction imposed
by ISD on the media should serve a legitimate purpose, with scope and
magnitude not exceeding what is necessary to achieve the purpose.

646.  According to ISD, the justifications or legitimate purpose for
imposing restrictions on media reporting are to avoid overcrowding the
venue, which would disrupt the proceedings, and to satisfy security
requirements and maintain order in the venue. When needs arose, 1ISD
would adopt the press mode of pool coverage, or limit the number of
journalists from “mass news media organisations” permitted on site, even
if they had received invitations via GNMIS.

647.  Nevertheless, the Office noticed that ISD would reject all

requests for on-the-spot reporting by organisations other than “mass news

media organisations”, irrespective of the venue size and level of security
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risks. Such restriction was clearly excessive. In the Office’s view, even
though some organisations might have previous records of disrupting
order in venues, ISD should not across the boards reject all requests from
organisations other than “mass news media organisations”.

648.  Furthermore, ISD did not have a clear set of criteria or any
mechanism to determine whether an organisation engages mainly in
current news reporting. ISD only stated that it would take into account
various factors when deciding whether an organisation can become a
GNMIS user. This is far from ideal. The media industry and the public
are not clear on the requirements for registration as a GNMIS user. ISD
staff members themselves would not know what factors should be taken
into account when there are no internal guidelines to follow.

649. At the LegCo meeting on 22 January 2014, the Government
indicated that it would discuss with the media industry the formulation of
a new set of criteria for GNMIS subscription. It also undertook to closely
monitor the advancement of information technology and changes in the
media industry. However, there was no progress afterwards. The Office
considered that ISD should keep up with the times and should not
continue to reject all new media organisations.

650.  The Ombudsman considered this complaint substantiated and
recommended that ISD —

(a) enhance the transparency and currency of its policy, review
quickly its policy of denying all online media organisations that
are not associated with the traditional “mass news media
organisations” the access for on-the-spot news reporting;

(b) review and relax the requirements for registration as GNMIS
users as far as possible and draw up relevant work guidelines for
its staff and media organisations to follow; and

(c) before completion of the above reviews, be more flexible in
dealing with requests from individual media organisations to
carry out news reporting, wherever the venue and security
conditions permit.
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Government’s response

651.  ISD has accepted The Ombudsman’s recommendations (a) and
(b). ISD has conducted a comprehensive review on the arrangements for
the admission of media (including online-only media) to press areas and
the criteria for registration as a GNMIS user.

652.  ISD has adopted an open and inclusive approach in conducting
the review, making reference to the practices of LegCo, international
organisations and other economies. Since October 2016, LegCo has
allowed journalists of online-only media equal access as traditional media
to the LegCo Complex. In all the international organisations and
economies that ISD has studied, online media (including online-only
media) are generally granted access to media events or meetings,
although some organisations have imposed additional requirements for
accreditation of online media. ISD has also exchanged views on the
issue with five major industry organisations.

653. On 19 September 2017, the Chief Executive announced that
following the completion of this review, ISD has put in place a
registration mechanism to give online-only media access to Government
press conferences and media events. In general, online-only media
which are bona fide “mass news media organisations” whose principal
business is the regular reporting of original news for dissemination to the
general public can apply for registration with GNMIS to receive press
releases and media invitations issued by the Government. As at
28 December 2017, 11 online-only media organisations have been
registered with GNMIS.

654.  Regarding recommendation (b), a new set of guidelines and the
application form for registration with GNMIS are now available in ISD’s
website. Separately, internal guidelines and procedures for processing
GNMIS applications have been introduced. ISD officers have been
briefed on the new arrangements.

654. ISD has not accepted recommendation (c), mainly because
before the establishment of a set of objective criteria and applicable
mechanism, it is difficult in prac